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Background 1.1 Since 1993 the focus of this chapter of our Report has been on 
accountability, its successes and shortcomings. This mirrors the mission 
we have adopted for our Office which states: “We promote accountability 
by providing objective information to the people of New Brunswick 
through the Legislative Assembly.”

1.2 What is accountability? Last year our Report answered that by 
using the definition provided by the Department of Health and Community 
Services in its July 1995 document entitled “Hospital Corporation 
Accountability,” namely: “Accountability is defined as the obligation to 
answer for authority and responsibility that has been conferred.”

Accountability framework set 
out in 1993

1.3 In our opinion, this obligation to be answerable requires a 
systematic framework. In our 1993 Report, we proposed one such 
accountability framework. We are repeating those comments below.

1.4 Prior to deciding what programs or services will be offered each 
year, there must exist in each department or Crown agency clear 
management direction. The organization must recognize and have the 
ability to measure on a regular basis the relevance and appropriateness of 
each program or service, and whether it is achieving the intended results.

1.5 The Members of the Legislative Assembly will want to know 
whether each program or service has been accepted by those it serves; 
whether there have been positive or negative secondary impacts; and 
whether the department or Crown agency can be responsive to change (for 
example changes in funding or technology).

1.6 If all government departments and Crown agencies were to 
develop such an accountability framework for all programs and services, 
then the Members of the Legislative Assembly could more easily deal with 
the difficult choices that have to be made.

1.7 It is essential, if all departments and Crown agencies are to be 
accountable, that they monitor their performance and report it to the 
Legislative Assembly through annual financial and departmental reports 
delivered on a timely basis.

Our 1994 Report further 
defined accountability 
reporting

1.8 In our 1994 Report we divided accountability information into two 
types, namely: financial stewardship and performance reporting. Members 
of the Legislative Assembly need both types to make informed decisions.
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4 Report of the Auditor General - 1996

1.9 On the issue of financial stewardship, we reported a significant 
improvement as the government recorded the full pension liability in their 
financial statements for the first time. However, this accomplishment was 
marred by the delay in the public release of the financial statements. The 
financial statements were issued on 22 December 1994, three months later 
than in the previous year.

1.10 Turning to performance reporting, we recognized in 1994 that 
performance reporting was not well developed by government. We 
examined the annual reports of departments and agencies to “promote 
accountability” by measuring compliance with the government’s annual 
report policy.

1.11 We saw government organizations begin to move toward 
compliance. For example, a number of organizations presented their goals 
and objectives. However, performance indicators, program relevance and 
client acceptance were not discussed in any of the annual reports of 
departments and agencies.

1.12 We commented on the need for one report on economic activity 
rather than several as now exist and asked whether there could even be an 
amalgamation of entities whose sole focus is economic development.

Our 1995 Report - expanded 
focus on accountability

1.13 The government improved its financial reporting in 1995 by 
issuing consolidated financial statements. These were the only audited 
statements that were issued in 1995. Once again this major 
accomplishment was devalued because of a significant delay in releasing 
the financial statements.

1.14 In 1995 we discussed several other specific issues bearing on 
accountability. These included an initiative to improve hospital 
corporation accountability, a new procurement process initiated by the 
government and the accounting treatment of New Brunswick Highway 
Corporation.

1.15 In this chapter of our Report we follow up on those issues raised 
in 1995. We also discuss some accountability concerns identified in the 
past year.

Earlier release of 
provincial financial 
statements

1.16 This year our audit report on the 1996 financial statements was 
dated 20 September which allowed for their release on 8 October, over 
two months earlier than last year. In addition, the Board of Management 
recently directed the Comptroller to publish audited financial statements 
by 31 August, beginning next year. This decision brings us within two 
months of our goal for a 30 June release.

1.17 We acknowledge the effort and co-operation that we received 
from the Comptroller’s Office and the Department of Finance to 
accomplish this 1996 improvement. Audit plans for our staff had to be 
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altered significantly to accommodate this earlier release date and I am 
pleased with their performance in getting the job done.

Initiative to improve 
hospital corporation 
accountability

1.18 The speech from the Throne of 7 February 1995 stated: “During 
this session the Minister of Health and Community Services will table a 
document outlining the vision and further direction for the health system 
over the next five years. As part of this plan, a process will be established 
to examine certain aspects of hospital corporation accountability.”

1.19 To establish that process “…to examine certain aspects of hospital 
corporation accountability”, the Legislative Assembly directed their 
Standing Committee on Law Amendments to hold public hearings. To 
assist in this process, the Committee used a departmental discussion paper 
entitled “Hospital Corporation Accountability.” This discussion paper 
essentially gave background to the issue, stating the government’s role for 
funding, for programs or services that can be offered by each hospital and 
for the quality and efficiency standards with which they are delivered. The 
changes that were made to the health system in 1992, the new board 
structures for the regional corporations, uniform by-laws for these boards 
and the role and authority which boards have today were also briefly 
described.

1.20 A goal of public hearings was to develop an improved reporting 
mechanism whereby the Legislative Assembly through its Standing 
Committees on Public Accounts or Crown Corporations would be able to 
review the performance of each of the regional hospital corporations.

1.21 The Standing Committee on Law Amendments advertised that 
public hearings would take place on 12 and 13 June 1996, both to receive 
written briefs and to hear presentations. The hearings took place and we 
understand that the Committee will table its report in the Legislative 
Assembly during the session beginning 26 November 1996.

1.22 This is an important part of government’s accountability process. 
Hospitals spend approximately $600 million each year, about 50% of the 
Department of Health and Community Services’ spending and 14% of 
total provincial spending. The Minister and the officials of the Department 
are not able to respond to detailed questions concerning hospital spending 
in either the Legislative Assembly or the Standing Committee hearings. 
Regional hospital corporations do not appear before the Standing 
Committees of the Legislative Assembly to explain their spending nor do 
they table a report in compliance with government’s annual report policy.

1.23 We receive copies of the audited financial statements for each of 
the regional hospital corporations each year. This is a requirement of the 
Auditor General Act. We review the various auditors’ working paper files 
on a rotational basis, as discussed in chapter 13. However, this should not 
be seen as a substitute for an appropriate level of accountability by the 
regional hospital corporations to the Legislative Assembly.
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Undisclosed liabilities of 
regional hospital 
corporations

1.24 The government provides funding to hospital corporations within 
which each of the regional boards must operate. The annual audited 
financial statements that are provided to us each year reflect increasing net 
liabilities over the past three years. Chapter 2 contains information on the 
net liabilities of $32.7 million as at 31 March 1996. This has increased 
from $20.6 million in 1994 and $24.3 million in 1995.

1.25 Despite the importance of this information, it is not reported 
directly to the Legislative Assembly.

1.26 We recommend that the financial condition of the regional 
hospital corporations be reported to the Legislative Assembly each 
year.

Lotteries Commission of 
New Brunswick

1.27 Chapter 12 continues our discussion of reporting video lottery 
operations through the financial statements of Atlantic Lottery 
Corporation Inc. (ALC). Video lottery in itself exceeds the aggregate of 
all forms of ticket lotteries in ALC and accordingly deserves better 
reporting. We believe the Lotteries Commission of New Brunswick and 
ALC could work together to develop an improved reporting format. At 
least two other lotteries in Canada provide detailed financial information 
on their video lottery operations.

1.28 We have provided a comparison of costs to operate the video 
lottery program by contrasting the private sector model of New Brunswick 
with the ALC costs to manage the program in Nova Scotia. This 
comparison identifies potentially significant cost savings to New 
Brunswick but we recognize that the Province has a contract with the 
private sector operators until 2002.

1.29 We also looked at the Lotteries Act and its regulations. The 
government appoints three commissioners under provision of the Lotteries 
Act to be responsible for its enforcement. We looked for the process by 
which the commissioners assure themselves of compliance with the 
regulations governing video lotteries. Atlantic Lottery Corporation has 
been given the responsibility to manage the video lottery program. We 
therefore believe that the Lotteries Commission should request that ALC 
provide a letter of representation and supporting documentation to give 
assurance that all relevant regulations have been complied with. This 
should be done each year.

1.30 Having ALC provide this information seems logical and 
reasonable, however it raises a question of conflict. Two of the three 
commissioners of the Lotteries Commission are also directors of ALC. It 
does not seem proper that they, as commissioners, can regulate the 
activities that, as directors of ALC, they also manage.
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Accountability can be 
obscured through creative 
accounting

1.31 We are concerned about any restructuring of government activities 
which results in significant expenditures of government not being 
recorded in the financial statements of the Province. Last year we reported 
the government created a new Crown agency called the New Brunswick 
Highway Corporation and that the Corporation “purchased” $30 million 
of land from the Province. The government initially treated the 
Corporation as a business enterprise, effectively removing $30 million in 
expenditures from the financial statements of the Province.

1.32 As noted in our 1995 Report, we objected to this treatment as the 
government did not have a business plan which could demonstrate the 
Corporation was a viable business enterprise. The government reversed 
the transaction in November 1995. This year, it further clarified the issue 
by disclosing the Corporation as an entity which is fully consolidated in 
the financial statements of the Province.

1.33 We intend to continue to review various restructuring activities of 
government which could effectively remove expenditures from the 
financial statements. For example, in chapter 2, our Report speaks of two 
new public private partnerships for constructing facilities. We want to 
ensure that when the facilities are complete, the financial statements of the 
Province properly reflect the substance of the arrangements.

Human Resources 
Development - Andersen 
Consulting

1.34 We reported last year that….”all of the undertakings with 
Andersen Consulting should have been set out in a contract prior to the 
firm commencing this work.”

1.35 A contract was signed by the Department of Human Resources 
Development and Andersen Consulting on 20 December 1995. The 
contract contained nine separate schedules (A to I). These schedules were 
not all completed at the time of signing.

1.36 Chapter 7 provides details of our initial review of this contract and 
the current status of the project.

Cash requirements for the 
Province

1.37 Last year we reported that the Province had to borrow $362.2 
million even though the net debt had only increased by $64 million (the 
1994-95 deficit). In presenting this information in our Report we used a 
narrative to explain the content of the Statement of Changes in Financial 
Position (now entitled Statement of Cash Flow in the 1996 statements).

1.38 This year the financial statements include a note (No. 16) entitled 
“Change in Provincial Borrowing”. This note is an improvement to the 
note disclosure and will draw the readers’ attention to the issue we 
commented on last year.

1.39 The note shows a decrease in total borrowing of $101 million after 
recording a favourable gain in foreign exchange of $145.7 million.
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Mental Health Commission 
1994-95 deficit

1.40 Last year we reported that the Mental Health Commission was not 
properly accounted for in the financial statements of the Province. This 
resulted in an understatement of the Province’s 1995 deficit by $4.3 
million (the Commission’s loss for 1994-95), and the net debt by $8.3 
million (the cumulative losses of the Commission to 31 March 1995).

1.41 Chapter 2 shows full details of what took place and reports that 
the 1994-95 deficit of $4.3 million will never be recorded as a provincial 
expenditure as it was adjusted through net debt.

Disclosure of total funded 
debt of the Province

1.42 In 1995 the total funded debt of the Province was not clearly 
disclosed in the provincial financial statements. In 1996, however, the 
Statement of Financial Position clearly shows the total funded debt of the 
Province. The borrowing for NB Power Corporation is then shown as a 
deduction from the total to arrive at the funded debt for provincial 
purposes. Note 10 to the statements provides a detailed segregation for 
each of the debenture issues for both the Province (for provincial 
purposes) and NB Power Corporation. This change in presentation has 
satisfied the concerns we expressed in 1995.

Acknowledgements 1.43 We appreciate the cooperation we received from the management 
and staff of the departments and agencies we audited.

1.44 I acknowledge, with thanks, the effort and professionalism of my 
staff. It was their teamwork and dedication that enabled me to issue this 
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Background 2.1 The Auditor General Act requires us to examine the financial 
statements of the Province of New Brunswick and express an opinion as to 
whether they fairly present information in accordance with the stated 
accounting policies of the Province.

2.2 The Province’s audited financial statements are included in 
Volume 1 of the Public Accounts. Volume 2 provides supplementary 
unaudited financial information. The financial statements of Crown 
agencies and trust funds are contained in Volume 3.

2.3 We have three primary goals in this chapter of the Report:

• To help the reader form an opinion on how the financial resources 
of the Province have been managed.
We do this by reporting a series of indicators of the Province’s financial 
condition, providing year to year comparisons where possible. 

• To help the reader interpret the Province’s financial statements.
We explain key changes in the financial statements since the previous 
year. We also present additional information from an objective view-
point which provides a clearer picture of matters reported in the finan-
cial statements. 

• To focus on important issues related to the financial statements.
There may be situations where we agree with the presentation followed 
but we feel there are other relevant facts which the reader should con-
sider. In other cases, we may disagree with how an event is reflected in 
the financial statements. We will explain our point of view.

2.4 From time to time the Province makes major changes in 
accounting policies. For example there was a major change in 1994-95 
with the introduction of consolidated financial statements for the first 
time. These changes make year to year comparisons of financial results 
difficult. Because it is not always possible to restate previous years’ data, 
comparisons to that data could be misleading and as a result should be 
done very carefully. We will attempt to make it clear when we have used 
data from previous years that was not restated for consistency with 
subsequent changes in accounting or disclosure.
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Scope 2.5 In fulfilling our responsibility to carry out the audit of the 
financial statements of the Province of New Brunswick, we conduct audits 
in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Based on the 
results of our audits, we issue an opinion on the financial statements of the 
Province. This chapter of the Report presents an overview of the main 
issues arising from the 1996 audit of the financial statements. Matters that 
have arisen during the financial statement audits that relate specifically to 
departmental operations, government programs, Crown agencies and 
trusts are discussed elsewhere in this Report.

Results in brief 2.6 The Province issued its audited financial statements earlier 
than last year.

2.7 The Province made a commitment to issue future financial 
statements by 31 August.

2.8 We have issued an unqualified audit opinion on the financial 
statements of the Province for the year ended 31 March 1996.

2.9 Disclosure of the debt incurred by the Province for NB Power 
Corporation has been improved.

2.10 The government met its commitment to balance its ordinary 
account revenue and expenditures over a three year period.

2.11 Major new leases are being signed by the Province which 
could have a significant impact on the annual surplus or deficit.

2.12 Pension liabilities and pension expenses continue to fall.

2.13 The Members’ Superannuation Plan shows a liability of $27.7 
million after its first valuation in eighteen years.

2.14 A slight rise in the level of borrowing is offset by increases in 
sinking fund investments.

2.15 Expressed in terms of the amounts attributable to each New 
Brunswicker, the net debt has declined to $7,244 from $7,335, 
borrowing cost has declined to $781 from $849 and there is a surplus 
of $67 compared to a 1995 deficit of $90 per person.

2.16 Net debt as a percentage of gross domestic product declined in 
1995-96.
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Highlights of the 1995-96 
financial statements

Disclosure of NB Power 
Corporation debt has been 
improved 

2.17 Borrowing for the NB Power Corporation (the corporation) has 
been reflected differently in the Province’s financial statements in each of 
the past four years. In 1992-93 the amount was shown as both an 
investment and a liability. In the 1993-94 financial statements, the 
corporation’s borrowing was shown as a deduction from the total 
borrowings of the Province. Last year, the first year of consolidated 
reporting, the borrowing for the corporation was not shown on the 
statement of financial position at all. 

2.18 The 1995-96 financial statements show the total funded debt of 
the Province ($9,421.2 million). The borrowing for the corporation 
($3,113.4 million) is then shown as a deduction from the total to arrive at 
the funded debt for provincial purposes ($6,307.8 million). This is a clear 
disclosure of not only the total borrowing activity carried on by the 
Province, but also the borrowing for the corporation.

2.19 This change to the disclosure of the debt satisfies the concerns we 
expressed in last year’s Report.

Adjustments to opening 
balance of net debt

2.20 Under certain circumstances it is acceptable to restate the 
balances reported in the financial statements of a previous year. Either a 
change in accounting policy or the correction of an error in a previous 
year could result in a retroactive restatement of the results of previous 
years. As described in Note 2 to the financial statements, the opening 
balance of the 1995-96 net debt was increased by $46.1 million over the 
amount previously reported at 31 March 1995. Changes in accounting 
policies resulting in the reclassification of two Crown agencies and the 
recording of the recently estimated actuarial liability under the Members’ 
Superannuation Plan accounted for the increase.

Comments on the legislation 
for balancing revenue and 
expenditure 

2.21 The 1995-96 year was the end of a three-year period in which the 
government committed to balance its ordinary revenue and expenditure 
accounts. Note 5 to the financial statements presents the final results of the 
three year initiative. The final figures show a cumulative surplus of $228.2 
million.

2.22 Consolidated financial statements were prepared for the first time 
in 1994-95. At that time the Province’s financial statements began to 
include, as ordinary account revenue, the net revenue from all government 
enterprises. Prior to this time only revenue from certain enterprises (e.g. 
New Brunswick Liquor Corporation and Lotteries Commission of New 
Brunswick) was included in the Province’s revenue. The major result of 
this change was to bring in revenue from New Brunswick Power 
Corporation and the Workplace Health, Safety and Compensation 
Commission of New Brunswick.

2.23 Last year we commented that the change in accounting for 
government enterprises had a significant impact on the calculation of the 
ordinary account surplus for the purposes of the balanced budget 
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legislation. The reported results of the ordinary account were a surplus of 
$136.1 million. Without the benefit of the revenue generated by the 
government enterprises, the surplus would have been $70.5 million for 
1994-95.

2.24 The following exhibit reports the impact of the revenue from 
government enterprises on the ordinary account results for both the 
1994-95 year and the 1995-96 year.

Exhibit 2.1

Cumulative ordinary account 
surplus 1994 to 1996
(millions of dollars)

2.25 Over the two-year period, ordinary account surplus was increased 
by $115.7 million as a result of the accounting change ($50.1 million from 
1995-96 and $65.6 from 1994-95). Since the reported cumulative surplus 
exceeded this amount, we conclude that the change in accounting for 
government enterprises did not determine whether the requirements of the 
legislation were met. 

2.26 A new balanced budget period begins in 1996-97. The 
amendments to the balanced budget legislation describe the next fiscal 
period as beginning 1 April 1996 and ending four years later on 31 March 
2000. The wording of the new legislation focuses on all revenue and 
expenditure rather than just ordinary account revenue and expenditure. 
The annual and the cumulative results are required to be disclosed in the 
Public Accounts.

Major new leases are being 
signed by the Province

2.27 During the 1995-96 year, the Province signed an agreement which 
will see a private company construct and own a public school facility. 
Subsequent to the year end, the Province signed a lease agreement with 
another company which will construct and own a correctional facility. In 
both cases the properties will be leased back to the Province for a twenty-
five year period and are renewable at the Province’s option for a further 
ten year period. There is an option for the Province to purchase the 
properties at the end of the twenty-five year period.

Adjusted surplus (deficit) used in the calculation
1993-94
1994-95
1995-96

(137.7)
136.1
229.8

Cumulative surplus reported in Note 5 228.2

Less:  Revenue from New Brunswick Power Corporation
and Workplace Health, Safety and Compensation
Commission

1994-95
1995-96

(65.6)
(50.1)

Cumulative surplus without government enterprises 112.5
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2.28 The size of the two projects is significant. The total interest and 
principal payments over the twenty-five years is $67.7 million. A further 
$8.3 million will be paid should both projects be extended to the full term 
of thirty-five years. Lease payments begin on the school lease in the 1996-
97 year while the correctional facility payments start in 1997-98.

2.29 Funding the costs of these capital facilities is very different from 
that seen in the past. Traditionally such assets were constructed, financed 
and owned by the Province and the amounts recorded in the financial 
statements were the costs incurred in the year. 

2.30 There are accounting implications to these new arrangements. If 
these leases are to be recorded as capital leases, accounting rules require 
the value of the property to be expensed at the commencement of the lease 
term. If on the other hand the lease was considered to be an operating 
lease, the cost of using the facilities for the term would be recognized over 
the twenty-five or thirty-five year period.

2.31 The latter treatment would result in a far lower expenditure in the 
initial year. It would also result in either a lower deficit or higher surplus 
than would have been reported if the transaction were recorded as a capital 
lease. The costs would be recorded over the term of the lease.

2.32 Since the Province charges its capital costs to expense in the year 
they are incurred, obtaining capital assets through operating leases would 
be a significant change in the way costs are recorded in the Province’s 
financial statements.

2.33 We will examine the accounting treatment and financial statement 
presentation for the leases during the current year.

Explaining the impact of 
surpluses or deficits on 
borrowing activities

2.34 There is an important distinction between the surplus or deficit 
experienced in a year and the change in the level of borrowing which takes 
place during the same period. To highlight this distinction a new note was 
added to the Province’s financial statements. Note 16 is titled, “change in 
provincial borrowing”. This note reconciles the surplus of the past year to 
the decrease in borrowing, showing the major components of the 
differences between the two figures.

2.35 Last year we discussed this issue in the accountability section of 
our Report under the heading “despite a balanced budget, borrowing may 
still be required.” We pointed out the importance of recognizing that even 
though the net debt may decrease in any given year, the total interest 
bearing debt may still have to increase to finance the cash requirements of 
government.

2.36 Our interest in clarifying this relationship between surplus or 
deficit and borrowing has been satisfied through the introduction of this 
note.
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Modifications to the 
statement of changes in 
financial position

2.37 The statement of changes in financial position has been renamed 
the statement of cash flow. The reason for the new name is to give the 
statement a title which better describes the purpose of the statement and 
the information it provides.

2.38 The general purpose and content of the statement remain the same 
with the exception of the introduction of information on the purchase and 
disposal of capital assets. In the past the capital items were included with 
the operating activities and were not shown separately as investing 
transactions. The results from 1994-95 have been restated and are on the 
same reporting basis as the current year.

Timing of the release of the 
financial statements

2.39 In last year’s Report we raised three issues with respect to the 
release of the Province’s financial statements.

• We repeated our comment that a realistic goal would be to release the 
audited financial statements within three months of the year end.

• We expressed our concern that there was no commitment by the 
Province to complete its financial statements in a timely manner. Late 
financial information becomes less useful and less relevant to 
legislators and the public.

• We pointed out the negative impact of referring to different versions 
of the draft information during the delay. This is something that could 
lead to confusion and misinterpretation on the part of the users of the 
financial information.

2.40 There have been changes during the past year which impact on 
each of these three comments.

Earlier release of the 
financial statements

2.41 The Province’s audited financial statements for the year ended   31 
March 1996 were released on 8 October 1996. This compares to a date of 
21 December 1995 for the 1994-95 financial statements. This is an 
improvement over last year and is an improvement on the 1993-94 year as 
well.

2.42 The release dates of the audited financial statements and the 
means by which they became available to the public over the past 
five years are as follows.

Exhibit 2.2

Release dates of audited financial 
statements

1992 24 September (Royal Gazette)

1993 30 September (Royal Gazette)

1994 22 December (Public Accounts)

1995 21 December (Tabled with the Clerk of the Legislative 
Assembly)

1996  8 October (Tabled with the Clerk of the Legislative 
Assembly)
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2.43 We held several discussions with the Comptroller and the Deputy 
Minister of Finance concerning the issue date for the financial statements. 
Early indications to our Office were that the Minister of Finance was 
committed to make all information available to us by 31 October 1996 to 
allow completion of the audit. However in July we were informed of the 
possibility of not only an earlier preparation of the financial statements 
but also a potential earlier release date. 

2.44 The audit of the Province of New Brunswick financial statements 
is a major component of the annual work schedule for the staff of our 
Office. This schedule involves many audits in addition to the financial 
statement audit of the Province and is not easily altered in such a major 
way without significant effort on the part of our staff. In some cases such a 
change comes at the expense of other audit work which we are expected to 
complete on a timely basis.

2.45 There was little time to prepare for the alterations to the original 
deadlines. Nevertheless, the financial statements were completed and 
issued much earlier than last year, as a result of good cooperation between 
staff of our Office and the Comptroller’s Office.

Commitment to early release 
in future years

2.46 We have talked with the Department of Finance and the 
Comptroller concerning the release date of the financial statements in the 
future. We were informed that there was serious interest in releasing the 
financial statements even earlier in future years. 

2.47 Subsequent to these meetings the Board of Management approved 
a commitment to issue audited financial statements by the end of August 
each year. Complying with this would result in an improvement of more 
than one month over 1996.

2.48 Our Office plans to work with the Office of the Comptroller to 
explore ways to improve the efficiency of the year end process through 
which the financial statements are prepared and audited. With cooperation 
between the two offices we expect that both the final draft of the financial 
statements and the audited copy can be completed in time to meet the 
August deadline.

Comments on the 
composition of the 
provincial reporting entity

2.49 The term provincial reporting entity is used to describe the total 
number of organizations that are accountable for the administration of 
their financial affairs and resources either to a minister of the government 
or directly to the legislature and are owned or controlled by the 
government. Note 1 to the financial statements lists the organizations 
included in the reporting entity.

Changes in the reporting 
entity 

2.50 Algonquin Properties Limited is no longer classified as a 
government enterprise. This change takes place in 1995-96 and results 
from a redefinition of the term government enterprise by the Public Sector 
Accounting and Auditing Board. It is now accounted for on the 
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consolidated basis. The opening balance of net debt has been adjusted to 
reflect the retroactive application of this change.

2.51 The New Brunswick Investment Management Corporation has 
been added to the list of organizations included through consolidation. 
This organization was formed during the year and as disclosed in 
Note 4 (e) it operated as a special operating agency up to 11 March 1996, 
at which time it was incorporated.

2.52 The Kingsbrae Horticultural Garden and The New Brunswick 
Biotechnology and Technological Innovation Centre of Excellence Inc. 
were both added to the list of organizations included through 
consolidation. These organizations are recorded as special purpose funds 
and their financial information is summarized in Note 7 to the financial 
statements under the Department of Agriculture.

Mental Health Commission 2.53 Last year we reported that the accounts of the Mental Health 
Commission had been recorded incorrectly in the financial statements. We 
explained that based on the criteria set by the Province for the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements, the Mental Health Commission 
should have been consolidated. The 1994-95 expenditures reported for the 
Province would have been higher by $4.3 million and the net debt would 
have been $8.3 million higher had the Commission’s accounts been 
recorded correctly.

2.54 In the 1995-96 financial statements the Mental Health 
Commission has been consolidated. Its losses from previous years were 
added to the opening balance of net debt. Because of the misstatement in 
recording the activities of the Commission last year, the $4.3 million loss 
incurred in 1994-95 will never be recorded as an expenditure of the 
Province.

New Brunswick Highway 
Corporation

2.55 There has been no change in the status of the New Brunswick 
Highway Corporation since our last Report. The corporation is listed in 
Note 1 to the financial statements as an organization consolidated in the 
provincial reporting entity. Its existence however has no impact on the 
financial position and results of operations reported in the consolidated 
financial statements of the Province.

2.56 Property was transferred to, and is owned by, the corporation. 
Financial statements have not been prepared for the corporation at 
31 March 1996.

New Brunswick School 
Boards

2.57 Note 1 to the financial statements explains that New Brunswick 
School Boards are reflected in the financial statements using the 
transaction method. School Board operations are represented in the 
statement of revenue and expenditure by the grants paid to them by the 
Department of Education. The reporting format has not changed from the 
previous year.
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2.58 The nature of the relationship between the schools and the 
Department of Education has recently changed significantly. Reporting on 
the financial operations of the schools will change as well. Beginning with 
the Province’s 1996-97 financial statements, the accounts of the schools 
will be combined with the accounts of the provincial reporting entity 
using the consolidation method. The impact will be to replace the grant 
expense, previously recorded by the Province, with the actual school 
expenditures. All school expenditures and revenues will now be included 
in the Province’s financial statements under this new format.

2.59 Although the effective date of the changes to the school boards 
was 1 March 1996, the administrative and financial structure of the 
dissolved school boards was retained and continued until 30 June 1996 as 
specified in the legislation. For this reason the timing of the change in 
reporting the school board accounts does not take effect until the 1996-97 
year.

Hospital corporations 2.60 No change has taken place to the definition or classification of the 
hospital corporations within the Provincial reporting entity. They continue 
to be listed in Note 1 and, as described in the note, are recorded only to the 
extent that there are transactions between the Province and the 
corporations.

2.61 Because of the way in which the hospital corporations are 
reflected in the financial statements, any deficits or surpluses (and the 
related borrowings or surplus funds) are not shown in the Province’s 
financial statements.

2.62 There are a number of differences in the way in which the hospital 
corporation financial statements are prepared from that of the Province. 
For example, unlike the Province’s financial statements where capital 
costs are charged to expense as incurred, the hospital corporations record 
such purchases as assets and amortize the cost to expenditure each year. 
Another difference is in the area of vacation entitlements. The hospital 
corporations have recorded vacation entitlements in an amount of $20.5 
million at 31 March 1996. The Province does not include vacation 
entitlements as liabilities in its financial statements.

2.63 A review of the corporations’ financial statements shows total 
current liabilities exceed current assets by $22.8 million. In addition there 
is total long term borrowing of $7.1 million and capital lease 
commitments of $2.8 million. These net liabilities, amounting to $32.7 
million, are not recorded or reflected in the Province’s financial 
statements or notes. There are long term investments of $23.7 million 
contained in three of the corporations’ financial statements. We 
understand they have restrictions on their use.
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1995-96 approved spending 2.64 An appropriation is defined as an amount that is approved by vote 
of the Legislature. The appropriation for the 1995-96 year has several 
components. These components combine to show the total allowed level 
of spending for departments and agencies for the year. The components 
include:

• the main estimates;
• supplementary estimates; and
• special warrants.

Ordinary account spending 2.65 Ordinary account spending is voted on a departmental basis, with 
the exception of proposed expenditures of General Government and the 
Legislative Assembly which are voted by program. Appropriations for 
loans and advances are also voted on a program-by-program basis.

2.66 For the past four years departments have had the flexibility to 
move their approved funding among ordinary account programs without 
seeking a supplementary appropriation. This means that individual 
ordinary account programs may now be overspent so long as the total 
departmental spending on ordinary account falls within the budget. 
However, in some cases transfers between programs must receive prior 
approval of the Board of Management (BOM). According to 
administrative policy, cumulative transfers of $1,000,000 or 15% of the 
budget of the program, whichever is the lesser, require such prior 
approval.

2.67 Last year we reported that BOM approval had not been provided 
prior to transfers between programs which exceeded the allowable 
cumulative limits set by this administrative policy. The transfers involved 
seven departments and totalled approximately $4.4 million. Following the 
issuance of last year’s Report, the Department of Finance explained that 
the policy, as written, was not being followed at the time because plans 
were in place to change the approval requirements.

2.68 We have since been advised by the Budget and Financial 
Management Division of the Department of Finance that the policy 
regarding transfers between programs has been revised to incorporate the 
approval of such transfers into the departmental quarterly reporting 
process. Formal BOM approval will not be required under the new policy. 
The only exception will be fourth quarter transfers where the decision on 
the need for BOM approval is left to the BOM Chairman.

Capital account spending 2.69 In the past, appropriations for capital account spending were 
voted on a program-by-program basis. Beginning in the 1995-96 fiscal 
year, capital account spending is voted on a departmental basis. This 
allows departments similar flexibility for moving funds between programs 
as is available for ordinary account spending.
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2.70 Fund transfers between programs must receive BOM approval. 
This approval is achieved for the first three quarters of the year through 
the quarterly reporting process. Transfers of funds in the fourth quarter 
having a value of 5% or more of the approved third quarter projection may 
not be made without formal BOM approval.

2.71 All transfers of capital funds in the fourth quarter were found to 
fall within the limits not requiring formal BOM approval.

Total spending 2.72 The following exhibit shows the components of the year's 
expenditure appropriations on a comparative basis.

Exhibit 2.3

Expenditure appropriations
(millions of dollars)

2.73 Last year we reported that year end amounts totalling $32.2 
million had not been approved either by way of a special warrant or 
supplementary estimates. These 1994-95 expenditures have since been 
approved through supplementary estimates dated 25 April 1996. 

Net budgeting 2.74 The Financial Administration Act gives the Board of Management 
the authority to allow net budgeting. Net budgeting allows more flexibility 
in managing programs where services are provided on a cost-recovery 
basis. Departments are permitted to budget for the net amount of 
expenditure or revenue for those revenue-generating programs that have 
received Board of Management approval. Net budgets are approved as part 
of the annual budget process and are monitored on a quarterly basis. At 
the 31 March 1996 year end there were seven approved net budgeted 
government programs. These were administered by the Executive Council 
Office and the Departments of Advanced Education and Labour, 
Economic Development and Tourism, Natural Resources and Energy and 
Solicitor General.

Carry over of unspent 
appropriations

2.75 The Financial Administration Act gives authority to the Board of 
Management to approve the carry-over of unspent appropriations from 
one fiscal year to the next without further authorization by the Legislature. 
Departments are eligible to apply for approval to spend their unused fiscal 
year budget in the following fiscal year.

1996 1995 1994 1993 

Main estimates 4,365.6   4,284.1   4,297.1  4,487.4  
Supplementary  estimates 45.6       43.9        63.5      31.1       
Special warrants 81.3       0.2          0.3        23.5       

Total expenditures appropriated 4,492.5  4,328.2   4,360.9 4,542.0 
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2.76 During the year the Department of Transportation received 
approval to carry forward $4.2 million of the 1995-96 approved capital 
budget.

Special operating agencies 2.77 A Special Operating Agency (SOA) was first included in the 
provincial reporting entity in 1993-94. The number of SOAs increased to 
four during 1995-96, although this was reduced to three when the 
investment management SOA became the Investment Management 
Corporation just prior to year end. Note 4 (e) to the Province’s financial 
statements identifies each agency’s main purpose as well as the revenue 
and expenditure amounts for the year.

2.78 The SOA represents a new structure within which public policy 
objectives are achieved. The structure removes and/or alters some of the 
traditional legislative and administrative policy restrictions surrounding 
government program administration.

2.79 During the year we conducted a review of the Vehicle 
Management Agency. Details of the review are provided in chapter 8 of 
this Report.

Concessionary loans 2.80 The Public Sector Accounting and Auditing Board (PSAAB) of 
the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants issues recommendations 
designed to improve and harmonize accounting, auditing and financial 
reporting in the public sector. 

2.81 Last year we reported that PSAAB had issued recommendations 
focusing on loans which are considered to be “concessionary”. 
Concessionary loans are ones which have low interest rates, extended 
repayment terms or forgiveness clauses.

2.82 There is a cost incurred by governments when a loan is not 
required to be fully repaid including interest charged at market rates. The 
cost must be recognized and accounted for in the proper accounting period 
and the loans must be correctly valued.

2.83 We reported last year that the Province does not account for 
concessionary loans in compliance with PSAAB recommendations. The 
Comptroller was reviewing the matter at the time before bringing forward 
recommendations to the Board of Management.

2.84 We recently met with the Comptroller and discussed this issue 
once again. He informed us there were issues related to the concessionary 
loans which were still unresolved including the calculation of the total 
amount of the concessionary loans outstanding. He said finalizing the 
Province’s policy at this time would be premature. He assured us that the 
issue would be addressed in the upcoming year.
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2.85 Note 1 (b) has been expanded in the 1995-96 financial statements 
to include more detail on the present policy for concessionary loans.

Unresolved issues affecting 
accounting policies

2.86 There are a number of issues with respect to the accounting 
policies for liabilities which the Province has yet to resolve. The notes to 
financial statements explain that no accrual has been made for retirement 
allowances and employee vacations. The notes also refer to the liability 
for future benefit payments to workers who are currently injured and 
explain that only a portion of the liability has been recorded in the 
financial statements. The responsibility for payments to injured workers is 
administered by the Workplace Health, Safety and Compensation 
Commission of New Brunswick.

2.87 One liability which is not referred to in the notes to financial 
statements will take on greater significance in the 1996-97 year. The 
accrual for school teachers’ pay earned but unpaid at 31 March should be 
recorded as a liability at the 1996-97 year end.

Retirement allowances and 
vacation entitlements

2.88 Retirement allowances represent the most significant of the issues 
still outstanding, based on preliminary calculations. Although the 
allowances are not directly payable at 31 March, there is a benefit earned 
by employees and a liability incurred by the employer each year for the 
future allowances to be paid upon retirement. The logic for recording 
these allowances is therefore very similar to that for the liability for 
employees’ pensions. Pension liabilities are recorded in the Province’s 
financial statements on an annual basis.

2.89 Government employees earn vacation entitlements for each month 
of employment. At 31 March each year there are vacation entitlements 
which have been earned but which have not been used by the employees. 
Such entitlements have a value but as explained in Note 1 no accrual of the 
expenditure has been recorded. This treatment is unlike that used by the 
hospital corporations. As noted earlier in this chapter, the corporations 
recorded entitlements of $20.5 million at 31 March 1996. 

Liability to injured workers 2.90 The matter of the liability for payment to injured workers was 
raised with the Comptroller this year. No action has been taken to record 
the difference between the estimated future payments to injured 
employees and the amount expensed to date.

Accrual of teachers’ salaries 2.91 Teachers have an agreement where they are paid every month of 
the year despite the fact the school year covers only ten months. This is 
made possible by dividing the salary earned in the ten months into 
amounts which can be paid to the teachers over a twelve month period.

2.92 At 31 March, the Province’s year end, the salaries earned by the 
teachers will exceed the amount of salary paid by a significant amount. As 
explained in Note 1 to the financial statements, the consolidation method 
of accounting will be used for New Brunswick schools beginning in the 
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1996-97 financial statements. This amount should be recorded as a 
liability in the financial statements next year.

Comments from the 
Comptroller

2.93 We have discussed the foregoing matters with the Comptroller. He 
indicated to us that his staff have started to gather the data needed to 
calculate the liability for vacation pay and retirement allowances for 
employees in Part I of the civil service. He indicated that since this was a 
new calculation, the data would have to be analysed carefully to ensure 
completeness and accuracy. Information on Parts II and III will be 
gathered in the near future. This will include the liability for the summer 
pay of teachers.

2.94 Once all data has been gathered and verified, a recommendation 
for the appropriate treatment will be presented to the Board of 
Management.

2.95 With respect to the liability for injured workers, the Comptroller 
responded as follows:

In 1995-96, the Province reported its liability as a self-insured 
employer in the notes to the financial statements. Previously, 
no disclosure had been made of this liability. We are confident 
that this represents an accurate estimate of the liability. The 
increase in the recognized portion of the liability for the year 
was $0.5 million.

2.96 We will continue to meet with the Comptroller to discuss these 
issues and to ensure the Province’s financial statements include reasonable 
estimates of all liabilities. It should be noted that the impact of the 
foregoing liabilities on the expenditures of an individual year should not 
be large. However there would be a significant impact on the net debt 
when first recognizing the amounts relating to all preceding years.

Pension plan liabilities

Background

Actuarial valuations

2.97 The Province's pension obligation results from a promise to 
provide pensions to employees in return for services. The employees’ 
entitlement to pensions is earned over the term of their employment. 
When the assets of a pension plan do not equal the pension obligation, the 
difference is called the pension liability or pension surplus and it is 
calculated through an actuarial valuation.

2.98 The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants defines an 
actuarial valuation as follows:

... an assessment of the financial status of a pension plan. It 
consists of the valuation of assets held by the fund and the 
calculation of the actuarial present value of benefits to be paid 
under the plan. The valuation results in a calculation of the 
required future contributions and the determination of any 
gains or losses since the last valuation.
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2.99 The valuation provides the information needed to determine the 
pension liability and related pension expenditures.

2.100 Actuaries utilize several sources of information in arriving at the 
estimated surplus or liability at the valuation date. Included are historical 
government payroll records, government assumptions affecting the future 
revenue and expenditure of the funds and information available to the 
actuaries, for example life expectancy estimates of contributors.

2.101 Each time a valuation is conducted, a new estimate of the plan's 
liability or surplus is prepared. There are a number of key assumptions 
which can result in major changes to the liability or surplus. Note 11 to the 
financial statements lists four of the assumptions: rate of return on fund 
assets, annual wage and salary increases, inflation and rate of pension 
payment escalation. There are other assumptions that are considered such 
as mortality rates, retirement ages, percent of members married and rates 
of employment terminations.

Understanding the liability 2.102 Readers of the financial statements are faced with some rather 
complex concepts in the area of accounting for pensions. One which is 
worthy of discussion is the difference between the actuarial pension 
liability and the pension liability for accounting purposes.

2.103 In the financial statements the focus is primarily on the liability 
for accounting purposes. However in terms of deciding on the funding 
plans for the liability, one would focus on the actuarial liability since it 
represents the shortfall in the value of pension fund assets below accrued 
pension benefits at a point in time.

2.104 Both liability figures are based on results of actuarial valuations 
and they are very much interrelated. It is important, however, to use them 
in the proper context. As auditors we refer most often to the liability for 
accounting purposes. What makes this value different from the actuarial 
liability is that there is a delay before the liability for accounting purposes 
recognizes any increase or decrease in the estimated amount of the 
liability.

2.105 For example, if a new actuarial valuation is completed and it 
indicates that the liability is only one half of what was originally 
estimated, the liability for actuarial purposes falls immediately to the 
revised level. For accounting purposes, however, such a treatment is not 
correct. By their nature, pension liabilities, as estimates, are prone to 
upward and downward adjustments. Because of this tendency, adjustments 
are not recognized all at once. Rather, they are recorded over a reasonable 
period of time. If this was not the case then it would be possible to have a 
huge increase or decrease in expenditure in the year of the new estimate of 
the liability. This could confuse and mislead users of the financial 
statements.
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2.106 The end result of applying the accepted accounting practice for 
pension liabilities is to smooth the recognition of the adjustments. This 
considers the fact that the amounts are estimates, not certainties.

Changes in the year 2.107 The pension liability for accounting purposes has fallen from 
$1,467.7 million at the beginning of the 1995-96 year to $1,386.4 million 
at year end.

2.108 The 1996 financial statements disclose the pension liability for 
accounting purposes in a slightly different manner from previous years. 
Instead of showing one liability figure in the statement of financial 
position, it has been broken down into two components. One component 
represents the adjustments to be recognized in the future and the other 
component is the excess of the accrued pension benefits over the value of 
the assets held in the funds at year end (also known as the actuarial 
pension liability).

2.109 Actuarial valuations of pension liabilities were completed for two 
plans during the past year. The members’ plan received its first valuation 
since 1978 and its estimated accrued benefits (and its pension liability) 
increased from the $4.3 million reported last year to $27.7 million. 
Valuation of the early retirement plan saw its estimated accrued benefits 
rise from the $15 million disclosed at 31 March 1995 to $38.8 million at  
31 March 1996.

Declining pension liabilities 2.110 Increases and decreases to the pension liability for accounting 
purposes are the result of the combined impact of the pension expense and 
the employers’ contributions each year. In 1995-96 the pension expense 
was $40.9 million. Employer contributions were $145.2 million resulting 
in a reduction of $104.3 million in the pension liability for accounting 
purposes. The situation in the previous year was similar. Pension expense 
was $39.1 million and employer contributions were $150 million causing 
a $110.9 million decline in the liability.

2.111 The following exhibit shows the declining pension liability for 
accounting purposes recorded in the financial statements for each of the 
past five years. It also shows the components of the liability at each year 
end. The figures used are those previously published for the respective 
years. They have not been restated for subsequent changes due to new 
valuations or changes in accounting policies.



Chapter 2 Comments on Financial Statements of the Province

Report of the Auditor General - 1996 27

Exhibit 2.4

Components of pension liability
(millions of dollars)

2.112 There has been a steady decline in the pension liability for 
accounting purposes from $1,650.4 million in 1992 to $1,386.4 million in 
1996. The decline is a product of both growing fund assets and 
adjustments to the estimated accrued benefits. 

2.113 A continuation of the excess contributions by the Province to the 
Public Service and Teachers’ Pension Plans have accelerated the increase 
in the value of assets.

2.114 The adjustments made to actuarial assumptions adopted in 
previous actuarial valuations have reduced pension expense recorded 
today and into the future. Adjustments to the estimated accrued benefits 
are being amortized over periods ranging up to twenty-one years. Despite 
the fact the adjustments are amortized each year, the level of the 
unamortized balance (the amount to be amortized in future years) has 
increased each of the past four years. It has risen from a zero balance in 
1992 to $963.7 million at the end of the 1995-96 year. The following 
exhibit shows how the balance has grown.

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

Estimated accrued benefits 4,679.7 4,374.3 4,339.0 4,137.3 3,900.4

Less:  Value of assets (4,257.0) (3,701.5) (3,403.1) (2,844.8) (2,250.0)

Actuarial pension liability 422.7 672.8 935.9 1,292.5 1,650.4

Plus:  U n amortized adjustments 963.7 794.9 650.2 353.2 -    

Pension liability for accounting 
purposes 1,386.4 1,467.7 1,586.1 1,645.7 1,650.4



Comments on Financial Statements of the Province Chapter 2

28 Report of the Auditor General - 1996

Exhibit 2.5

Unamortized pension adjustments
(millions of dollars)

2.115 Annual amortization has gone from $24.6 million in 1993 to $74.8 
million in 1996. The cause of this increase can be seen clearly in the 
adjustments for each year. Each of the last four years has seen adjustments 
increase by an amount in excess of $200 million. 

2.116 The majority of the adjustments result from experience gains. 
Experience gains or losses result when the planned performance and the 
actual results achieved differ. As demonstrated by the experience gains 
shown above, the recent results have been much more favourable than 
anticipated in the actuarial assumptions. The other major component in 
the adjustments is the impact of changes in actuarial assumptions from 
those used in previous periods.

Pension expense is declining 2.117 Changes to the actuarial pension liability are ultimately reflected 
in the pension expense through the amortization of the adjustments. The 
following exhibit shows the pension expense for the past four years. The 
amounts for 1993 and 1994 have been restated on a basis consistent with 
that used in 1995 and 1996.

Exhibit 2.6

Pension expense
(millions of dollars)

1996 1995 1994 1993 Total 

Opening balance 794.9        650.2       353.2       -        -        
Adjustments for the year
    Plan amendments (30.5)        (13.9)        -        -        (44.4)        
    Experience gains 274.1        -        258.3       377.8       910.2       
    Actuarial assumptions -        215.6       85.7         -        301.3       
Less: Amortization for the year (74.8)        (57.0)        (47.0)        (24.6)        (203.4)      

Changes in the y ear 168.8 144.7       297.0       353.2       963.7       

Closing balance 963.7 794.9 650.2 353.2 -       

1996 1995 1994 1993 

Employ er's share of pension 
  benefits earned 82.2 57.8 66.8 85.3
Plus: Pension interest cost 41.0 45.6 73.8 100.0
Less: Amortization of adjustments (74.8) (57.0) (47.0) (24.6)

Less: Crown agency  special payments (7.5) (7.3) (7.1) (6.7)

Pension expense 40.9 39.1 86.5 154.0
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2.118 This exhibit shows the components of the pension expense 
recorded in the Province’s financial statements. It is composed of the 
employer’s cost for the year using the actuarial assumptions, the interest 
on unfunded amounts, an adjustment to record amortization (of 
experience gains or losses, changes to actuarial assumptions and plan 
amendments) and a reduction for special payments by certain Crown 
agencies.

2.119 Significant amortization adjustments were recorded in the past 
three years. Dramatic decreases in pension expense resulted in 1994 and 
1995 but this trend was not evident in 1996.

2.120 In 1996 there was a large increase in the employer’s share of 
pensions earned. The foregoing exhibit shows this component rose to 
$82.2 million from $57.8 million in 1995.

2.121 Recording the results of a recent actuarial valuation of the early 
retirement plan caused the increase in the pension expense. As shown in 
Note 11 (e) to the financial statements, pension expense recorded for the 
plan in 1996 was $25.9 million. The corresponding amount for the 1995 
year was only $1.6 million.

Timing of future actuarial 
valuations

2.122 The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants recommends 
that “actuarial valuations of pension obligations for accounting purposes 
should be done at least once every three years.” Last year the Department 
of Finance indicated no formal plan was in place to regulate frequency of 
the valuations.

2.123 However, this year we have been informed that the pension 
valuation committee is addressing the issue. They plan to recommend a 
policy in the near future.

Large increase in the liability 
for the members’ plan

2.124 An actuarial valuation was completed for the Members’ 
Superannuation Plan during the 1995-96 year. As a result of this 
valuation, the pension liability recorded for this plan has risen by $23.4 
million to a level of $27.7 million.

2.125 For several years we have expressed our concern that an actuarial 
evaluation of the pension liability for the Members’ Superannuation Plan 
had not been conducted since 1978. Last year we stated in our annual 
Report:

Without this valuation, there is inadequate assurance the 
liabilities have been reasonably estimated. Accountability is 
not served by using out of date and potentially misleading 
financial information.

2.126 The importance of the valuation is illustrated by the magnitude of 
the increase in the pension liability.
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2.127 Although the increase in the pension liability was $23.4 million, 
only $2.2 million was recorded in the Province’s 1995-96 expenditures. 
The majority of the increase was shown as an adjustment to the opening 
balance of net debt. This is consistent with the approach used when the 
liabilities for the other pension plans were first recorded in the 1993-94 
financial statements. The bulk of the adjustment will never be reported as 
an expense in the Province’s financial statements as a result of this 
retroactive adjustment.

Revenue and expenditure

Sources of revenue

2.128 The Province’s revenue comes mainly from taxes on consumption, 
income and property and from federal transfer payments. These combine 
to account for 84% of total revenue. Other sources of revenue include 
investment income from government enterprises, licenses and permits, 
sales of goods and services, forestry and mines royalties, interest and 
other sundry sources. Also included in provincial revenue is earnings from 
sinking fund investments.

2.129 The following chart shows the main components and their 
percentage of total revenue.

Exhibit 2.7

Sources of revenue

Types of expenditures 2.130 The Province spends the bulk of its resources on social services; 
namely health, education, income assistance and justice. Spending in this 
area accounts for 61% of all expenditures. As well, a sizable amount is 
spent each year to service the public debt. Other areas of expenditure 
include transportation, economic development, municipal affairs and 
central government.
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2.131 The following chart shows the main components and their 
percentage of total expenditures.

Exhibit 2.8

Types of expenditures

Actual results compared to 
the prior year

2.132 The exhibit below illustrates the year-to-year change in revenue, 
expenditure and surplus or deficit.

Exhibit 2.9

Actual results compared
to the prior year
(millions of dollars)

2.133 Actual revenue and expenditure for 1995 has been restated 
because of the changes in accounting policy outlined in Note 2 to the 
Province’s financial statements. These changes consolidate the Mental 
Health Commission of New Brunswick and Algonquin Properties Limited 
in the Province’s financial statements and restate the amount of pension 
expense for the Members’ Superannuation Plan. In total, the changes 
increase the deficit reported last year from $64.0 million to $68.6 million.

2.134 As part of our year-end audit of the Province’s financial 
statements we have identified and analyzed all large or unusual year-to-
year fluctuations in both revenue and expenditure accounts. We include 
here a brief summary of our findings.

Revenue 2.135 Taxes on consumption and taxes on income increased by $46.2 
million and $47.6 million respectively. In addition, conditional grants 
from Canada increased by $35.1 million while sinking fund earnings went 
up by $28.6 million. The increased conditional grants are comprised of an 

O ther
25%

H ealth
30%

Service of the 
Public Debt

14%

Justice
2%

Education
22%

Income A ssistance
                      7%

Revenue Expenditure 
Surplus   

(D eficit) 

1996 actual 4,426.7      4,375.6      51.1           

1995 actual 4,300.0      4,368.6      (68.6)         

Change from prior year 126.7        7.0            119.7        
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additional $48.0 million for highway improvements less net reductions in 
other areas totalling $12.9 million.

2.136 These increases were partially offset by a combined decline in 
fiscal equalization and stabilization payments and established programs 
financing totalling $36.8 million.

2.137 The following exhibit provides an illustration of the trend 
occurring in three of the main sources of revenue over the most recent four 
year period.

Exhibit 2.10

Trends in main sources of revenue

2.138 Federal government transfers now account for 36.7% of total 
revenue versus 43.5% in 1993. Conversely, combined revenue from taxes 
has climbed from 42.0% to 47.0% of total revenue in the same period.

Expenditure 2.139 The largest increases in spending were on transportation and 
health which rose by $46.8 million and $18.4 million respectively. The 
increased spending on transportation relates to the additional federal 
conditional grant monies referred to above. Declines in the cost of 
servicing the public debt of $49.6 million and spending on social services 
other than health totalling $17.5 million resulted in a total expenditure 
relatively unchanged from last year.
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2.140 The exhibit below shows the trend for social services and service 
of the public debt spending over the most recent four-year period.

Exhibit 2.11

Trends in main types of 
expenditures

2.141 Overall, spending on social services has remained fairly constant, 
averaging about 61.9% of total expenditures over the four year period. 
However, the apportionment of that spending has changed such that 49.0% 
is now spent on health as compared to 45.0% four years ago. While 
service of the public debt has remained at about 13.7% of total 
expenditures on average over the past four years, the most recent year 
marks a reversal of the growth trend previously shown for this expense.

Budgeted results compared 
to actual results

2.142 The exhibit below illustrates the variation in actual revenue, 
expenditure and surplus to budgeted amounts.
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Exhibit 2.12

Budgeted results compared 
to actual results
(millions of dollars)

Revenue 2.143 Although federal conditional grants were higher than expected 
due to highway funding in excess of budget by $52.5 million, federal 
source revenue in total fell short of expected levels by $32.1 million. The 
reason for this is a shortfall of $81.5 million in actual fiscal equalization 
payments. This was offset in part by taxes on consumption, investment 
income and sinking fund earnings which exceeded budgeted levels by 
approximately $18 million each.

Expenditure 2.144 The most significant difference in actual expenditures compared 
to budget was for transportation which was overspent by $66.0 million, 
due for the most part to spending on highway improvements. Central 
government expenses were less than expected by $32.7 million, mostly as 
a result of pension expense being under budget. In addition, spending on 
education and service of the public debt fell below anticipated levels by 
$26.2 million and $23.5 million respectively.

2.145 Overall, revenue and expenditure were over budget by $23.3 
million and $10.0 million respectively. This resulted in a surplus that was 
$13.3 million higher than anticipated.

Special purpose accounts 2.146 Certain accounts of the Province have been designated as special 
purpose accounts. A special purpose account is established when activities 
are funded by revenues that have been designated for specific purposes by 
donor request, legislation or funding agreements. Note 7 to the Province’s 
financial statements provides a breakdown of the special purpose revenue, 
expenditure and equity by account.

2.147 In the seven-year period since the inception of special purpose 
accounts in 1988-89, the number of accounts has more than tripled 
bringing the total at present to twenty-nine. The total annual special 
purpose revenue and expenditure has remained fairly constant, in the   $30 
- $40 million range, over the six-year period from 1990 to 1996.

2.148 The cumulative balance of the special purpose funds at year end is 
$16.8 million. Of the $41.0 million in revenue reported for special 
purpose accounts, $10.8 million (26%) is from lottery revenue, $9.6 
million (24%) is from contract training fees, $5.0 million (12%) is from 
land sales and $4.2 million (10%) is from federal grants.

     Revenue Expenditure      Surplus

Budget 4,403.4       4,365.6        37.8           

A ctual 4,426.7       4,375.6        51.1           

O ver budget 23.3           10.0           13.3          
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2.149 New special purpose accounts have been established this year for 
the Kingsbrae Horticultural Garden, the Biotechnology Fund, 
Redevelopment of the Miramichi Region, Public/Private Partnership 
Projects, Renovation of Old Government House and the National Safety 
Code Agreement.

Deferral of special purpose 
revenue

2.150 Funding received within two of these special purpose accounts has 
not been included in revenue for the year. It has been deferred and will be 
recognized as revenue in future periods when the funds are expended for 
their intended purpose.

2.151 The Province entered into an agreement, effective 31 March 1996, 
with the federal government whereby a payment of $10.3 million was 
received to assist in diversifying and assisting the economy of the 
Miramichi area upon closure of CFB Chatham. The amount received has 
been recorded as deferred revenue in the Province’s financial statements.

2.152 Another agreement between the Province, the Government of 
Canada and the City of Fredericton pertaining to restoration of Old 
Government House resulted in the receipt of a $4.0 million federal 
payment during the year. This too has been recorded as deferred revenue 
in the Province’s financial statements.

Surpluses, deficits, 
borrowing and net debt

2.153 The purpose of this section is to provide readers with useful 
information and analysis on which to draw their own conclusions about 
the status of the Province's surplus or deficit, borrowing and net debt. It is 
not the purpose of this section to provide a conclusion about the financial 
stability or solvency of the Province or any of the other organizations 
which make up the provincial reporting entity.

Definitions 2.154 The following definitions explain terms used in the Province’s 
annual financial statements. These terms together with the corresponding 
balances constitute important financial information. Our annual Reports 
attempt to place some of this data in perspective by providing comparative 
information. Such comparisons are useful in that the reader may better 
understand the Province’s financial history, current status and future 
goals.

2.155 To understand the current financial situation of the Province, it is 
necessary to be familiar with the terminology often used: surplus(deficit), 
cost of servicing the public debt, funded debt, bank advances and 
short term borrowing, sinking fund and net debt.

2.156 The surplus in a fiscal year is the excess of the Province’s total 
revenue over its total expenditure. (A deficit is the excess of total 
expenditure over total revenue.) Total revenue consists mainly of taxes 
and federal transfer payments. Total expenditure includes the cost of 
administering the government and its programs, the acquisition of assets 
which will provide benefits over future periods and the cost of borrowing.
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2.157 The cost of servicing the public debt is a major component of 
annual expenditure. It is mainly comprised of interest on the funded debt 
of the Province. It also includes foreign exchange paid on interest and 
maturities during the year, the amortization of foreign exchange gains and 
losses which have not yet been realized, and the amortization of discounts 
and premiums which were incurred on the issuance of provincial debt.

2.158 Funded debt is the total long-term borrowing by the Province. 
Funded debt for provincial purposes excludes borrowing on behalf of 
NB Power Corporation and usually occurs when the Province’s cash 
inflows are not sufficient to meet its obligations. Long term borrowing 
usually takes the form of provincial bonds, but it may also include debt 
issued to the Canada Pension Plan. The debt issued to the Canada Pension 
Plan accounts for sixteen percent of the Province’s debt. This level is 
consistent with prior years.

2.159 The Province must often incur another form of debt to meet its 
current obligations. Bank advances and short term borrowing are a 
form of financing used when the Province’s immediate cash requirements 
do not coincide with its current cash inflows.

2.160 The Province plans for the future repayment of its funded debt 
through the use of a sinking fund. This fund is a separate accounting 
entity which is maintained by the Minister of Finance. The sinking fund 
receives annual cash instalments from the Province with which it 
purchases investments. The value of the investments, plus future earnings, 
is expected to be sufficient to repay the principal portion of the funded 
debt when it matures or is redeemed.

2.161 Annual surpluses and deficits accumulate in the account called 
net debt. It is important to understand the difference between net debt and 
funded debt. Funded debt refers to the gross amount of long-term 
borrowing undertaken by the Province. Net debt is comparable to an 
accumulated deficit balance which private sector companies would 
disclose in the owners’ equity section of their balance sheet. Net debt is 
the funded debt and other liabilities of the Province minus assets which 
can be used by the Province to fulfil its obligations. Therefore, net debt 
shows the shortfall in resources should all the liabilities of the Province 
come due at the fiscal year end. It represents the amount of future revenue 
required to pay for past transactions.

2.162 This chapter of our Report provides the following financial 
indicators on a comparative basis:
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• Surplus (Deficit) per person and employed person in New Brunswick;
• Cost of borrowing per person and employed person in New 

Brunswick;
• Proportion of Provincial revenue consumed by cost of servicing the 

public debt;
• Comparison of the level of funded debt to the level of sinking fund 

investments;
• Comparison of New Brunswick’s foreign borrowing activity 

compared to that of the other Atlantic provinces; and
• GDP as a proportion of net debt.

Surplus for the year ended 31 
March 1996

2.163 The Province had a surplus for the year ended 31 March 1996 of 
$51.1 million. This was the first such surplus in the last five years. This 
amount includes the surpluses and deficits of the government enterprises 
described in Note 1 of the Province’s financial statements. Exhibit  2.13   
shows the amount of the Province’s surplus or deficit for each of the last 
five years. The prior years’ figures have been restated to conform with the 
current year’s presentation.

Exhibit 2.13

Provincial surplus or deficit for the 
last five years

2.164 The 1995-96 surplus translates to a $67 share for each person 
living in New Brunswick1. This is in contrast to last year’s (restated) 

deficit of $90 per person2.

2.165 Examining the surplus from the perspective of an average 
employed New Brunswicker might provide a better measure of its size. 
Exhibit 2.14 shows the amount of the surplus or deficit per person and per 
the average number of employed persons in each of the last five years. 

1.  Population as at 31 March 1996 per N.B. Statistics Agency.
2.  Population as at 31 March 1995 per N.B. Statistics Agency.
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Exhibit 2.14

Provincial surplus or deficit per 
person for the last five years

Cost of servicing the public 
debt

2.166 Since the Province has not always had sufficient funds from 
revenue to cover all expenditures, including the interest incurred on public 
debt, funds had to be borrowed to ensure the Province’s obligations were 
met. Essentially, interest on prior borrowings becomes part of the current 
debt and compounding occurs. For each year that this occurs, the cost of 
servicing the public debt will tend to rise. 

2.167 Exhibit 2.15 shows the cost of servicing the public debt by year 
for the last ten years. 

Exhibit 2.15

Cost of servicing the public debt for 
the last ten years

2.168 During this period the cost of servicing the public debt has risen 
from a low of $395 million to a high of $645 million in 1994-95. This 
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represents an increase of 63.3% over nine years. For the first time in ten 
years, the cost of servicing the public debt has decreased. It fell to $595 
million in 1995-96, a decrease of 7.7% from 1994-95.

2.169 Exhibit 2.16 shows the portion of provincial revenue consumed by 
the cost of the public debt for the last five years.

Exhibit 2.16

Portion of provincial revenue 
consumed by the cost of the public 
debt for the last five years

2.170 The decrease from 15.0% in 1994-95 to 13.4% in 1995-96 is the 
net result of a decrease in borrowing costs of $50 million combined with 
an increase in revenue of approximately $127 million. The lower 
borrowing costs resulted chiefly from a decrease in foreign exchange 
expense. The higher revenue was mostly due to an increase in 
consumption tax and income tax revenue. If 1995-96 revenue had 
remained at the prior year’s level, the percentage consumed by the cost of 
borrowing would still have decreased to 13.8%.

2.171 This year’s cost of borrowing translates to $781 for each person 
living in New Brunswick1. Expressed another way, the Province’s cost of 
borrowing for 1995-96 averages $1,899 for each employed New 

Brunswicker2. Exhibit 2.17 shows this relationship for the last five years.

1.  Population as at 31 March 1996 per N.B. Statistics Agency.
2.  Employment figures based on annual average for fiscal 1996. Data supplied by N.B.
                   Statistics Agency.
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Exhibit 2.17

Provincial cost of borrowing per 
person for the last five years

2.172 If the Province had not been required to borrow funds in previous 
years, then there would not exist either the significant cost of servicing the 
public debt nor interest revenue from the Province’s sinking fund. If these 
items were excluded (other factors remaining the same), the current year 
would have shown a surplus of approximately $460 million.

2.173 Exhibit 2.18 demonstrates that the Province would have shown 
significant surpluses in four of the past five years had there been no cost of 
servicing the public debt or sinking fund earnings.

Exhibit 2.18

Provincial surplus or deficit for the 
last five years excluding cost of 
servicing the public debt and 
sinking fund earnings
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Funded debt for provincial 
purposes

Surpluses and repayment of 
long and short-term 
borrowing

2.174 There is not always a direct relationship between the level of 
annual surpluses or deficits and the ability of the Province to repay or 
incur debt. Surpluses and deficits are accounting terms used to describe 
the difference between a current year’s revenue and expenditure. Revenue 
is recorded in the financial statements when earned, expenses when the 
obligation arises. However, the related cash receipts or payments may not 
occur in the same fiscal period.

2.175 These actual cash flows, as disclosed in the Province’s Statement 
of Cash Flows, dictate the extent to which the Province is able to repay 
funds during the year. Note 16 to the Province’s financial statements 
focuses on both long and short-term borrowing. It explains that the 
Province was able to reduce borrowing by $101 million in 1995-96 despite 
a surplus of only $51.1 million.

2.176 The components of this $101 million decrease in borrowing are 
bank advances and short term borrowing (which increased by $40.3 
million), long-term borrowing (which increased by $19 million) and 
sinking fund investments (which increased by $160.3 million). Stated 
another way, the decrease in borrowing is due to the growth in sinking 
fund investments which exceeded and offset the growth in the long and 
short-term borrowing of the Province in the year.

Long-term borrowing activity 
in the current year

2.177 In the past year, provincial bonds were sold for periods ranging 
from two to twenty years. Exhibit 2.19 summarizes the activity in the 
funded debt for provincial purposes account during the last five years.

Exhibit 2.19

Funded debt for provincial 
purposes for the last five years

2.178 The increase in total funded debt for provincial purposes during 
the year is offset by the increase in investments of the sinking fund. 
During the year ended 31 March 1996 debt increased by $19 million while 
the compensating increase in the sinking fund investments was $160.3 
million.

2.179 Exhibit 2.20 shows the relationship between funded debt for 
provincial purposes and sinking fund investments for the last five years.

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

Opening balance 6,288.8 5,887.6 5,358.5 4,758.7 4,574.7
Borrowed during the year 698.1 708.0 634.3 949.1 643.7
Debt redeemed (543.9) (412.1) (278.2) (427.6) (473.6)

Adjustment for the 
change in exchange rates (135.2) 105.3 173.0 78.3 13.9

Closing balance 6,307.8 6,288.8 5,887.6 5,358.5 4,758.7
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Exhibit 2.20

Funded debt for provincial 
purposes compared to sinking fund 
investments for the last five years

Exposure to foreign currency 
exchange rate fluctuations

2.180 Debt repayable in foreign currencies is denominated in US 
dollars, Japanese yen and Swiss francs. Between 1 April 1995 and             
31 March 1996 the Canadian dollar increased in value against all of these 
currencies. The net result was a favourable adjustment of $135.2 million. 
This gain will be recorded in the accounts of the Province as a reduction in 
expenditures over the remaining life of the related debt. The adjustment 
for the change in exchange rates has reduced the amount of the provincial 
debt this year. In contrast, the adjustment for change in exchange rates has 
increased the amount of the provincial debt in each of the previous four 
years.

2.181 Exhibit 2.21 summarizes the exposure of the Province to foreign 
exchange rate fluctuations over the past five years.

Exhibit 2.21

Debt payable in foreign currencies 
for the last five years

2.182 Exhibit 2.22 demonstrates the change in the Province’s exposure 
to foreign currencies, and the components of that exposure, for each of the 
last five years.
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Funded debt Sinking fund investments

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

Debt payable in foreign 
currencies 1,904.4 1,953.7 1,555.6 1,307.5 1,135.0

Less: Foreign issues with 
fixed exchange rates 23.3

Less: Investment in foreign 
currencies 242.0 117.7 85.5 56.0 222.1

1,662.4 1,836.0 1,470.1 1,251.5 889.6

Percentage of total debt 26.4% 29.2% 25.0% 23.4% 18.7%
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Exhibit 2.22

Changes in debt payable in foreign 
currencies for the last five years

2.183 Exhibit 2.21 shows that exposure to gains and losses due to 
foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations at 31 March 1996 has 
decreased by $173.6 million from 31 March 1995.

2.184 The Province has several alternatives to reduce the risk associated 
with debt repayable in foreign currencies. Each of the following will act as 
a hedge to fluctuations in foreign currencies:

• purchasing assets denominated in foreign currencies for the Province's 
sinking fund;

• entering into debt swap agreements (which in most cases allows 
repayment of the debt in Canadian dollars); and

• entering into forward contracts (which allow the Province to purchase 
foreign currency at a stipulated price on a specified future date).

2.185 Note 10 of the financial statements of the Province discloses the 
debt that is repayable under swap agreements. This debt is excluded from 
the above exhibits except where the debt was payable in US dollars under 
a swap agreement.

2.186 At 31 March 1996, the Province had one outstanding forward 
contract which fixed exchange rates on an exposure of approximately     
$8 million. 

Total borrowing in a foreign 
currency

2.187 Exhibit 2.23 compares the total foreign currency borrowing of the 
Province to the other Atlantic Provinces at 31 March 1995. (The two 
preceding illustrations focused on net exposure after considering foreign 
currency investments.) This is the latest year for which all information is 
available. The Province’s borrowing as at 31 March 1996 is also provided 
in this exhibit for comparative purposes.
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Exhibit 2.23

Canadian and foreign currency 
borrowing of Atlantic Provinces at 
31 March 1995

Net debt at 31 March 1996 2.188 As noted previously, net debt decreased by $51.1 million during 
the 1995-96 year. The amount of net debt at 31 March 1996 stands at 

$7,244 per person1 living in New Brunswick or approximately $17,617 
for each employed person2 in New Brunswick. The average wage of a 

New Brunswicker was $26,4933 during 1995-96.

2.189 Net debt as a percentage of gross domestic product (GDP) is 
frequently used to measure a government’s ability to sustain its debt. GDP 
is a measure of the current market value of all goods and services 
produced in the Province during a year. The market value used in the 
calculation includes taxes (less subsidies) which make up part of the 
market price. A decreasing ratio of net debt to GDP would indicate that 
the Province’s economy is growing at a greater rate than the debt. This 
implies that the Provincial economy has more resources available with 
which it can maintain its debt. The Province’s current net debt to GDP 
ratio is approximately 34%.

2.190 The following exhibit shows the relationship between the 
Province’s net debt and its GDP for the last five years:

1.  Population as at 31 March 1996 per N.B. Statistics Agency.
2.  Employment figures based on annual average for fiscal 1996. Data supplied by N.B.
                   Statistics Agency.
3.  Average wage figures based on annual average for fiscal 1996. Data supplied by N.B.
                   Statistics Agency.
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Exhibit 2.24

Provincial net debt and GDP for the 
last five years

Note:     1996 GDP estimate and historical GDP information obtained
              from N.B. Statistics Agency

2.191 The net debt to GDP ratio showed a modest decrease in 1995-96. 
Our Office reported a net debt to GDP ratio of 35% in last year’s Report. 
This is the second consecutive year that the ratio has decreased. This 
indicates that growth in the provincial economy occurred at a rate greater 
than the growth of the Province’s net debt.

Eliminating the net debt 2.192 All levels of government in Canada are trying to come to terms 
with the problems raised by years of deficits. The Province of New 
Brunswick is no exception.

2.193 The government would need surpluses of $276 million per year 
for a period of twenty years to eliminate its existing net debt.

2.194 As discussed elsewhere in this Report, the Province has met its 
balanced budget legislation by achieving an overall surplus in the ordinary 
account over three years. However, balancing the ordinary account is only 
part of the solution. On 13 April 1995, Royal Assent was granted to an 
amendment to the balanced budget legislation. This amendment requires 
the Province to ensure that total expenditure, including the capital 
account, does not exceed total revenue during each four year period 
subsequent to 31 March 1996.

Summary 2.195 Exhibit 2.25 summarizes the impact of the Province’s current 
financial results from the perspective of a resident of the Province of New 
Brunswick.
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Exhibit 2.25

Summary of provincial financial 
results

2.196 We will continue in our attempt to provide understandable 
information on the Province's surpluses, deficits, borrowing and net debt 
on a consistent basis in our annual Reports. This will help the reader to 
understand the issues surrounding the management of the Province's 
finances.

        Per person in N.B. Per employed person in N.B.

1996 1995 1996 1995

Borrowing Cost 781         849   1,899      2,077          
Surplus (Deficit) 67           (90)    163         (221)           
Net Debt 7,244      7,335 17,617    17,952        
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Background 3.1 We audit the Crown Corporations, Boards, Commissions and 
other Agencies which are listed below. We expect that by the date this 
Report is released we will have issued audited financial statements of all 
of these agencies for the year under review.

3.2 Agencies included in the Public Accounts:

• Advisory Council on the Status of Women
• Algonquin Properties Limited
• Kings Landing Corporation
• Lotteries Commission of New Brunswick
• Mental Health Commission of New Brunswick
• New Brunswick Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation
• New Brunswick Crop Insurance Commission
• New Brunswick Municipal Finance Corporation
• New Brunswick Research and Productivity Council
• New Brunswick Transportation Authority
• Premier’s Council on the Status of Disabled Persons
• Provincial Holdings Ltd.
• Regional Development Corporation
• Youth Council of New Brunswick

3.3 Other agencies:

• Le Centre communautaire Sainte-Anne
• Legal Aid Fund
• New Brunswick Women’s Institute

3.4 We were also appointed auditors of the New Brunswick Highway 
Corporation under the New Brunswick Highway Corporation Act which 
received Royal Assent on 29 March 1995. The Corporation did not 
prepare financial statements for audit for its fiscal year ended 31 March 
1995. Since there was no activity in the Corporation in the year ended    31 
March 1996, it is unlikely to prepare financial statements for that year.

3.5 The Board of Directors of the New Brunswick Investment 
Management Corporation has appointed us auditors of the Corporation for 
the years ended 31 March 1996 and 1997. The Corporation was 
established on 11 March 1996 to act as trustee for the Province’s major 
pension funds and to provide investment counselling services for the 
Province’s sinking funds. At the time of writing this Report, the 
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Corporation had not prepared 1996 financial statements for the twenty-
day period.

3.6 The Mental Health Commission of New Brunswick was dissolved 
effective 1 April 1996. Its operations will now be included with those of 
the Department of Health and Community Services.

Scope 3.7 Our work in Crown agencies is usually aimed at enabling us to 
give an opinion on their financial statements. During the course of this 
work, we may note errors in accounting records or weaknesses in 
accounting controls. We bring these matters to the attention of the agency, 
together with any recommendations for improvement. In the majority of 
cases, we do not consider the issues raised to be significant to the 
members of the Legislative Assembly, and accordingly do not include 
them in this Report.

Results in brief 3.8 The Mental Health Commission of New Brunswick was 
dissolved effective 1 April 1996.

3.9 We are auditors of the New Brunswick Investment 
Management Corporation. The Corporation has not yet prepared 
financial statements for audit.

3.10 The Department of Economic Development and Tourism 
could better administer certain investments of Provincial Holdings 
Ltd.

3.11 The New Brunswick Transportation Authority has forgiven its 
outstanding loan of $19.7 million to the Port of Saint John.

New Brunswick Crop 
Insurance Commission

3.12 Following our audit for the year ended 31 March 1995 we wrote to 
the Commission identifying a number of weaknesses and errors in 
indemnity calculations. These are detailed in the following paragraphs. 
The Commission indicated it has taken action to address most of our 
concerns. During our 1996 audit we noted that the Office of the 
Comptroller had seconded one of their staff to improve the Commission’s 
financial systems.

Field inspections 3.13 The Canada/New Brunswick Crop Insurance Agreement states 
that the insured must request and receive written permission from the 
Commission to abandon all or any portion of his crop. Commission staff 
are, at the same time, responsible to ensure crop production said to have 
been “dumped” by the farmer actually was. In eight cases we could find 
no evidence which proved that the crops were, in fact, dumped. In one of 
the eight cases this resulted in a $52,281 indemnity overpayment. As 
indemnities paid to farmers are based on crop loss it is important that the 
Commission obtain, and document, adequate evidence that these figures 
are accurate.
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3.14 We recommended the Commission ensure field procedures 
verifying abandoned or dumped crop production are adequate to 
ensure an accurate measurement of crop loss. This evidence should be 
documented in the appropriate file.

Indemnity calculations 3.15 Crop production to count calculations normally include sales 
figures for crops sold prior to the physical count. The term “crop 
production to count” refers to the measurement of the farmer’s harvested 
crop adjusted for low quality crop. The Commission relies on sales figures 
supplied to it by the farmer. In one case tested, the production to count 
calculation did not include all sales reported to the Commission. The 
result was a $5,226 overpayment. This indicates the need for a more 
careful review of information used in the calculations.

3.16 In twenty-four cases, indemnities were adjusted due to grade 
defects. These adjustments were not done on claim release forms. In two 
of these cases, the indemnity adjustment was incorrectly calculated, 
resulting in overpaid indemnities totalling $5,236.

3.17 We recommended all calculations be checked and approved to 
ensure errors do not occur. Where calculations are revised, the 
adjustments should be reflected on the proper form.

Agriculture Canada review 
of operations

3.18 The Management Control and Audit Unit of Agriculture Canada 
issued a report on the Commission’s gross revenue and crop insurance 
programs in March 1995. While it concluded that overall financial and 
management controls were adequate, the report detailed many places 
where improvement was required. Management of the Commission 
agreed, in most cases, with the recommendations.

Kings Landing Corporation 3.19 We reported to the Corporation a number of weaknesses in 
internal controls which came to light during our 1996 audit. These 
included bank reconciliations not being prepared for several months, 
employee time sheets not being approved and employees not signing to 
indicate goods were received in good condition.

3.20 The Corporation responded positively to our recommendations 
and indicated staff had taken action to address all the weaknesses noted.

Provincial Holdings Ltd.

Interest receivable

3.21 In performing our 1996 audit, we noted that the balance of interest 
receivable nearly doubled during the 1995/96 fiscal year. We also noted 
that among the fourteen clients for whom interest was accrued for the year 
ended 31 March 1996, only four actually made payments of interest. Upon 
further discussion we determined there is no established process for 
billing clients or informing them when interest becomes payable on their 
loans. A lot of the interest currently being accrued relates to venture 
capital loans advanced in the late 1980s. Unless a process for billing 
interest is developed, the balance in interest receivable will continue to 
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grow as more venture capital loans pass their seven-year interest-free 
period.

3.22 We recommended a process be implemented to inform clients 
when the interest-free period on their loans has expired. Further, they 
should be billed for accrued interest on a regular basis and steps 
should be taken to follow up on cases where billed interest remains 
unpaid.

Administration of current 
Provincial Holdings Ltd. 
investments

3.23 In response to our letter of 20 October 1993, in reference to the 
Venture Capital Support program, direct equity investments and the Self-
Start Program, the Corporation stated “it is our intention to move…the 
above-mentioned programs to departmental administration as soon as 
possible.” During our 1996 audit we noted that some venture capital and 
equity investments are still being made by the Corporation. Furthermore, 
there is a large pool of older investments which now fall within the bounds 
of the Economic Development Act which are still being administered by 
Provincial Holdings Ltd. We feel that these investments could be better 
administered using departmental resources. This would facilitate, for 
example, the timely billing and collection of interest as previously 
discussed.

3.24 We recommended consideration be given to limiting future 
investments to those investment vehicles that fall outside the 
Economic Development Act. Consideration should also be given to 
transferring those existing investments which may now be legally 
handled by the Department to departmental administration.

Investment in joint venture 3.25 In March 1996, an initial payment of $1,260,000 was made to an 
escrow agent pursuant to a joint venture-capital project with the other 
three Atlantic Provinces and various banking institutions. However, we 
were unable to find an escrow agreement signed by all parties to the 
agreement.

3.26 We recommended a copy of the escrow agreement signed by 
all parties be obtained to safeguard the investment of Provincial 
Holdings Ltd. in this venture.

New Brunswick 
Transportation Authority

3.27 On 12 July 1996 the Board of Management approved the deletion 
of a loan of $19.7 million owed to the Province by the Authority. This 
action recognizes the Authority’s forgiveness of the outstanding loan of 
$19.7 million owed to it by the Port of Saint John in respect of the 
construction of the Rodney Terminal Complex.

3.28 The resolution of this long-outstanding issue means that the 
Authority now has no assets or liabilities, and is inactive.
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Background 4.1 In the 1992-93 Budget Speech, the government announced that 
“amalgamation of the School Boards will save $5.0 million annually 
beginning in 1993-94.” Effective 1 July 1992 forty-two school districts 
were amalgamated to become eighteen districts.

4.2 Our Office had an interest in monitoring this major change 
initiative. We were able to achieve this through our annual review of the 
school board audit files of the Office of the Comptroller. 

4.3 As part of our review of the Comptroller’s audit files we compared 
the actual administrative expenditures of the school boards to the proposed 
$5.0 million in savings. We noted an increase, not a reduction, in the 
actual administrative expenses of the boards as reflected in their audited 
financial statements. Our analysis of the “School District Office” 
component of school board expenses showed that district office expenses 
in total increased from $22.8 million in 1992 to $24.8 million in 1994.

4.4 We discussed this apparent increase in district office expenses, 
and the difficulty the Department had in analyzing the differences, in our 
1995 Report. (See paragraphs 4.104 - 4.108) We noted that the 
government had established and announced a target for administrative cost 
savings arising out of the amalgamation of school boards. We found it 
surprising that the Department was not able to provide us with a clear and 
detailed analysis of where these savings were actually realized.

4.5 Our 1995 Report was issued in February 1996. There was 
significant subsequent media attention despite the very short nature of this 
five paragraph section. Shortly after our Report was issued, the Minister of 
Education made a public statement on the administrative cost savings and 
noted the Department’s willingness to work with us to provide better 
information.

4.6 The administrative costs issue was also discussed at the Auditor 
General’s appearance before the Public Accounts Committee. At that 
meeting, the Auditor General informed the Committee of his intention to 
report further on this matter.

Scope 4.7 Our staff met with Department of Education officials on a number 
of occasions beginning in February of 1996 to discuss follow-up reporting 
on our 1995 Report comments. The Department, with the assistance of 
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school district staff, prepared reconciliations of the proposed savings to 
actual results for four school districts. We reviewed the departmental 
analysis for the four districts and prepared summary exhibits. We 
discussed the results of the analysis for the four districts, the limitations of 
the data, and the constraints which made it difficult to expand the analysis 
to all eighteen districts. We also discussed the departmental approach in 
determining the original budgeted savings figure, a revised savings figure 
dated 9 December 1992, the “savings achieved” figure provided to the 
Board of Management in June, 1995 (which was essentially a 
confirmation of the 9 December 1992 savings figure), and the traditional 
reliance on budget allocations over actual financial statement results as a 
management and reporting tool.

Results in brief 4.8 Prior to 1 March 1996, school district financial results were 
not compared to the Head Office budget allocations. The budget to 
school districts was essentially a global budget that districts were 
relatively free to spend as determined by their boards.

4.9 The Department was calculating its proposed savings in 
administration based on the budget it had allocated to the districts. 
The Department’s calculations and the related budget speech 
announcement did not reflect what districts were actually spending on 
administration. Three of the four districts were overspending their 
administration budgets in 1991-92.

4.10 In December 1992, the Department decreased the announced 
savings of $5 million by approximately $400,000. This December 1992 
figure for proposed savings was later used by the Department in 
reporting “savings achieved” to the Board of Management. The 
December 1992 figure forms the basis for the analysis in this chapter.

4.11 While one cannot conclude on all eighteen districts from the 
four districts analyzed by the Department, it should be noted that in 
these four the total planned savings were $1.3 million while the 
estimated actual administrative cost reductions were $1.2 million by 
1993-94. Two of the districts exceeded the target, most likely due to 
the fact that they were overspending the 1991-92 budget. In other 
words, these districts had a larger “cushion” to begin making cuts 
from. Simply cutting back to the pre-amalgamation budget would 
have saved over $500,000.

4.12 The 1995 Report of the Auditor General, and the exercise of 
preparing the analysis for four districts, has drawn the Department’s 
attention to the need to monitor the spending patterns before and after 
the round of change which began implementation effective 
1 March 996.
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4.13 Given that the Minister of Education is responsible for the 
operations of the schools, the Department of Education now has sole 
responsibility to compare actual results to budget.

Budget not compared to 
actual prior to 1 March 
1996

4.14 In our discussions with the Department and the related work for 
this Report, we have formed the opinion that the Department, in a sense, 
viewed its financial task as done when the government reduced districts’ 
budgets by $5.0 million. The Department’s main financial interest has 
been in the budget allocated to the districts. This is borne out by an April 
1995 letter to us from the Department of Education which, in a discussion 
of the problem identifying the savings, noted “the Department has relied 
mainly on budget allocations to districts as a source of financial 
information and comparisons.”

4.15 Actual financial results, which came in a year and a half or more 
later, were not routinely compared to budget allocations. The Department 
allowed the districts a considerable degree of autonomy in operating and 
financial matters. Funds budgeted by the Department for administration 
did not necessarily have to be spent by the districts in administration. 
There was no systematic analysis by the Department to “learn” from those 
districts whose actual spending pattern differed from budget. 

4.16 This is illustrated by the example of the four districts chosen by 
the Department for analysis. Two of the four districts spent significantly 
more than their budget allocation on administration in 1991-92. One 
district, on the other hand, underspent its budget for administration in 
1991-92 by approximately $400,000. The Department of Education 
indicated that this district was already operating near the revised staffing 
standard prior to its implementation in 1992-93.

4.17 The Department was calculating its proposed savings in 
administration based on the budget it had allocated to the districts. The 
Department’s calculations and the related budget announcement in 
1992-93 did not reflect what districts were actually spending on 
administration.

Department intends to 
monitor latest round of 
changes

4.18 The Department is currently in the process of implementing 
another round of administrative changes. The eighteen districts presented 
their last financial statements as of 30 June 1996. The Department has 
begun operating eight administrative units in various regions of the 
province although all eighteen of the old district offices will remain open 
for various purposes.

4.19 We understand that the Department is in the process of capturing 
before and after pictures of the administrative costs. We commend this 
effort. The fact that the eight administrative units operate directly as part 
of the Department will make it easier for staff to compare planned 
expenditures to actual.



Department of Education - School Board Administration Chapter 4

58 Report of the Auditor General - 1996

4.20 Furthermore, we believe that the problems encountered in 
determining administrative savings may have been lessened if the districts 
had a practice of presenting budget figures in the financial statements. 
Had budget figures been presented, it would have been clear in 1991-92 
that district spending on administration did not tie directly to the 
Department’s budgeting. We point this out as a practical illustration of the 
value of government’s annual report policy requirement to include a 
comparison of actual expenditures to the budget, with variance analysis, in 
each annual report. Our reading of the policy indicates school boards were 
supposed to comply with its requirements.

Recommendation 4.21 We recommend the Department provide budget to actual 
comparisons of the results of the eight administrative units 
constituted under the new administrative structure and include the 
results in the annual report.

Summarized analysis on 
four of the eighteen districts

4.22 As stated in the Scope, the Department analyzed four districts 
with the assistance of district staff. We were pleased by the cooperation of 
the Department and the four school districts in preparing this analysis. 

4.23 It should be noted that the timing of the analysis coincided with 
the Department’s most recent reorganization of school district operations. 
Effective 1 March 1996, all school boards and community boards were 
dissolved and the operations of the school boards were transferred to the 
Minister of Education. Department and district staff faced increased 
workloads because of the transition. 

4.24 Given this workload, the testing of additional districts had to be 
looked at from a cost-benefit basis. That is, would testing of another 
fourteen districts yield significantly different results from those apparent 
in the first four analyses?

4.25 The Department noted as well that some of the corporate memory 
had disappeared since the 1992 district reorganization. That is, given 
departures of district financial personnel in the 1992 reorganization, the 
Department believed some districts were better prepared than others to 
accurately detail the administrative spending patterns as they existed in 
1992. The four districts tested were able to supply the necessary data for 
the analysis. It is possible that some of the fourteen others may have had 
more difficulty in fulfilling the task. In other words, had either our Office 
or the Department wished to do all eighteen districts, we may not have 
been able to complete the analysis.

4.26 We discussed these factors with the Department. Under these 
circumstances, we advised the Department that we would not ask them for 
analysis of additional districts. In addition, we determined it was not cost 
effective for us to audit the accuracy of the information provided by the 
Department.
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4.27 The Department provided us with its analysis for the four districts 
tested (i.e. # 11 Richibucto, #18 Fredericton, # 5 Campbellton and #8 
Saint John). The departmental analysis looked at the administrative costs 
for the districts for 1992 and compared them with the results for 1994. A 
number of reconciling items were offered as explanations or adjustments 
for determining revised figures. 

4.28 The most significant adjustment in each district corrects for staff 
salaries which the Department believes were charged to the wrong account 
in 1991-92 and in 1993-94. The stated cause of the accounting 
misclassification is the lack of uniformity between school districts in 
recording expenditures for the salaries of certain groups of employees        
(i.e. Supervisors and Coordinators). Many of these employees were 
apparently charged as a direct educational expense when they should have 
been charged to the “School District Office”. Recognition of the problem 
coincided with a more detailed code of accounts accompanying a new 
accounting system.

4.29 We believe it is important to distinguish between this accounting 
adjustment (i.e. staff charged to wrong account) and various one time 
adjustments (i.e. non-bargaining pay increases, rental situations). Exhibits 
4.2 and 4.3 show these adjustments in separate columns so the reader can 
see the impact of both types of adjustments on the financial results.

4.30 We have summarized the results in Exhibits 4.1 through 4.4. 

Exhibit 4.1

Proposed savings in districts tested 
Adapted from Department of Education Schedule “School District Reorganization - Comparison of Proposed Savings/Net 
Savings”  (9 December 1992). 

District 5   
Campbellton

District 8 
Saint John

District 11
Richibucto

District 18 
Fredericton

        
Total

Pre-reorganization 1991-92 
budget $1,238,654 $2,387,939 $1,481,806 $2,282,215 $7,390,614

Deduct post reorganization 
1992-93 budget 1,004,350 1,973,825 1,230,769 1,899,705 6,108,649

Proposed savings $  234,304 $  414,114 $  251,037 $  382,510 $1,281,965
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Exhibit 4.2

Estimated administrative expenses in districts tested - before reorganization

1   Salaries of supervisors and coordinators were charged incorrectly to “instruction” instead of “administration.”
2   Salaries of professional support staff were charged incorrectly to “administration” instead of “instruction.”
3   Salaries of consultants were charged incorrectly to “instruction” instead of  “administration.” District #8 is the only distr ict which
     employed “consultants” per the Department.
4   Fredericton High School photocopy costs were charged incorrectly to “administration” instead of “instruction.”

District 5 
Campbellton

District 8 
Saint John

District 11 
Richibucto

District 18 
Fredericton Total

Expenses per 1991-92 
audited statements $1,144,688 $1,882,383 $1,479,125 $1,527,377 $6,033,573

Adjustments proposed by 
Department:  Add salaries of 
supervisors/coordinators1 438,829 407,498 371,870 382,087 1,600,284

Deduct salaries of 
professional support2 (72,000) - (159,972) - (231,972)

Add salaries of consultants3 - 135,350 - - 135,350

Deduct F.H.S. photocopy 
costs4 - - - (34,030) (34,030)

Revised administrative 
expenses $1,511,517 $2,425,231 $1,691,023 $1,875,434 $7,503,205
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Exhibit 4.3

Estimated administrative expenses in districts tested - after reorganization implemented.

1  In 1993-94 some school districts were still charging salaries of supervisors/coordinators to “instruction.”
2  Salary rate increases for various district personnel deducted to return salaries to the 1991-92 base year rate.
3  Rental of the school facilities for a community school board were charged incorrectly to “administration” instead of “instruction.”
4  The December/92 document referred to in Exhibit 4.1 anticipated District 18 would have a rental expense of $103,878 in moving from a 

government-owned facility of approximately 8,400 square feet, at no cost to the District, to a leased facility of 11,487 square feet 
believed necessary to accommodate the staff of the new consolidated district. Actual lease expenses exceeded the estimate. Annual lease 
expenses for the new facility are $241,227. The Department recommended an adjustment of $74,485 to the actual expenses for purposes 
of this analysis as the lease was in effect for only part of the year.

5  Cost of one time “Comprehensive Review of Fredericton High School” is deducted because of its exceptional nature.

District 5 
Campbellton

District 8 
Saint John

District 11 
Richibucto

District 18 
Fredericton Total

Expenses per 1993-94 audited 
statements $  743,612 $1,859,300 $1,515,490 $2,003,702 $6,122,104

Adjustments proposed by 
Department:  Add salaries of 
supervisors/coordinators1 400,824 325,617 27,742 - 754,183

Deduct salary rate increases2 (26,285) (57,264) (29,071) (33,839) (146,459)

Deduct rent costs charged to 
wrong account3 - - (257,403) - (257,403)

Deduct rent costs exceeding 
budget4 - - - (74,485) (74,485)

Deduct costs of F.H.S. review5

- - - (119,547) (119,547)

Revised administrative 
expenses $1,118,151 $2,127,653 $1,256,758 $1,775,831 $6,278,393
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Exhibit 4.4

Estimated actual savings in districts tested

4.31 We would caution against extrapolating these results to all 
eighteen school districts. Nonetheless, our observations from these tables 
are as follows:

• Exhibit 4.4 shows the total of revised actual administrative costs in all 
four districts reviewed were lower in 1993-94 than in 1991-92. Exhibit 
4.1 shows the proposed budget reductions to administration for these 
four districts totalled $1,281,965. The estimate of actual savings in 
administrative costs was $1,224,812 by 1993-94 as per Exhibit 4.4.

• By comparing the "revised administrative expenses" line in Exhibit 
4.2 to the "pre-reorganization 1991-92 budget" line in Exhibit 4.1, one 
can see that in 1991-92 Campbellton (#5) and Richibucto (#11) were 
spending significantly more than their budget allocation on 
administration. Campbellton was overspent by $272,863 and 
Richibucto was overspent by $209,217. District #18 - Fredericton, on 
the other hand, was underspending its budget for administration in 
1991-92 by $406,781 . In the case of Fredericton, it would appear that 
most of the proposed reduction of $382,510 in administrative funding 
would have had to have come from classroom spending. In effect, 
Fredericton was spending at the new budget level prior to its 
implementation.

• The two districts overspending by the largest amounts in 1991-92 also 
achieved the highest estimated actual savings. (See Campbellton and 
Richibucto). This is to be expected since these districts had the largest 
"cushion" in their 1991-92 administrative expenditure. Simply cutting 
back to the pre-amalgamation budget would have saved approximately 
$500,000 in these two districts.

• In relation to the budget cuts imposed by the Department, a 
comparison of the "estimated actual savings" in Exhibit 4.4 to the 

District 5
Campbellton

District 8
Saint John

District 11
Richibucto

District 18
Fredericton Total

1991-92 revised 
administrative expense per 
Exhibit 4.2

$1,511,517 $2,425,231 $1,691,023 $1,875,434 $7,503,205

Less: 1993-94 revised 
administrative expense per 
Exhibit 4.3 1,118,151 2,127,653 1,256,758 1,775,831 6,278,393

Revised actual savings $  393,366 $  297,578 $  434,265 $   99,603 $1,224,812
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"proposed savings" in Exhibit 4.1 shows that two districts exceeded 
the target amount while two others reduced their expenditure by less 
than the proposed budget reductions.

Departmental response
to our observations

4.32 We gave the Department an opportunity to review and comment 
on our observations. The following is an extract from the departmental 
response:

The Department is of the opinion that your report outlines, in 
a fair manner, the difficulties which were encountered while 
attempting to provide to you a clear and detailed analysis of 
where savings were actually realized. This includes the 
inconsistencies in the reporting of administrative costs and 
also the global funding of school district operations which 
allowed for the reallocation of funds for administration prior 
to the abolition of local school boards in February 1996.

With the new education structure, district actual spending 
patterns versus amounts budgeted will be monitored in the 
same way as in other parts of government. The districts will be 
expected to live within administrative budgets and will not have 
the same freedom to take resources away from the classroom. 
The 1995 Report of the Auditor General, and the exercise of 
preparing the analysis for the four districts has highlighted the 
need for this type of accountability so that spending patterns 
that result from changes can be monitored and reported.
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Background 5.1 The Province of New Brunswick operates nearly 500 bank 
accounts. Its annual cash receipts and disbursements exceed $4 billion, an 
average of over $16 million each working day. It is essential that the cash 
management function be well organized and effectively controlled.

5.2 Sound financial stewardship is the foundation for reliable financial 
decisions. This review was designed to help our Office determine whether 
existing systems and procedures can support sound decision making, and 
whether these decisions are being monitored by senior personnel.

5.3 The study of cash management is not new to governments in 
Canada. Many provinces have completed studies of the entire function. 
These studies have been encouraged and in some cases initiated by 
Legislative Audit Offices.

Scope 5.4 A complete audit of the cash management process for the 
Province would be a very comprehensive project. Such a project would 
have to cover a number of areas such as investing, borrowing, cash 
receipts, cash disbursements, banking arrangements and the central cash 
management structure. The project would involve extensive work 
throughout the government.

5.5 Our review was not so wide ranging.

5.6 Following a preliminary examination we decided to focus on three 
components of cash management as part of our current audit. They were 
the central cash management function, the banking arrangements and the 
administration of bank accounts. These components fall under the 
authority of the Treasury and Debt Management division of the 
Department of Finance.

5.7 This review of cash management occurred at a time of change 
within the division. A new Executive Director had just been appointed. He 
indicated that a review of accounting systems and internal controls may be 
undertaken in the coming months to coincide with the hiring of new staff 
in the division.
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Results in brief 5.8 There is little documentation of the roles and responsibilities 
of the Province’s central cash managers. Nor is there adequate 
documentation of the reporting relationships which currently exist 
between the central cash managers and other departments and 
Crown agencies.

5.9 The Department has not carried out an internal review of its 
cash management function in recent memory.

5.10 The Department has not set standards against which it can 
measure the performance of the central cash managers.

5.11 The Department arranges banking services through informal, 
poorly documented negotiations. The Department should consider 
tendering for some or all of its banking services. The Department is 
not ensuring compliance with the provisions of the negotiated 
banking agreements.

5.12 Differences continue to exist between the banks’ records of 
provincial bank accounts and the records maintained by the 
Department.

Central cash management 
function

5.13 The objective of this portion of the audit was to determine 
whether the role, responsibilities and objectives of the central cash 
managers are thoroughly documented and communicated. We also wanted 
to determine whether performance of the existing systems, and more 
specifically, the central cash managers, is being properly monitored.

5.14 The focus of this review was on the short term investing and 
financing activities of the Department of Finance. Our review consisted 
chiefly of inquiry and discussion with staff of the Department. We also 
distributed a questionnaire to other selected Legislative Audit Offices 
which had completed studies of cash management during the last ten 
years.

Poor documentation of roles, 
responsibilities and 
objectives

5.15 A key objective of the division is to “minimize short term 
financing charges” through its cash managers. This objective appears to 
have been adequately documented by the Department in government 
initiatives, internal planning documents and the Department’s Annual 
Report.

5.16 The Department should also have documents which clearly 
describe the regular duties and jurisdiction of the Province’s central cash 
managers. Ideally, these documents would include internal information 
used for employee performance evaluation as well as documents which 
would inform departmental and Crown agency staff about the role of the 
Province’s central cash managers. This could help decrease the 
duplication of work within government and increase the possibility of 
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voluntary collaboration between other parts of government and the 
Treasury and Debt Management division.

5.17 The Director of Treasury Management is charged with providing 
reliable cash forecasts for the Province, managing the provincial short 
term cash position and supervising the ongoing treasury operations of the 
Receiver of Revenue. Our review of documentation from the division 
indicated that the Director’s responsibilities are well defined by internal 
documents used in the administration of the government’s Performance 
Management System. These documents are not available to parties outside 
of the division.

5.18 No formal documentation existed which specifically detailed the 
contacts and sources who provide the information used by cash managers 
on a regular basis to make short term investing and financing decisions.

Recommendation 5.19 The Department should record the cash managers’ practices 
and procedures. There should be clear documentation of the 
reporting relationships which exist between the central cash 
managers and other parts of government. Clear documentation of the 
sources of all information used in making the decisions to either invest 
or obtain financing in the short term should also be included.

Departmental response 5.20 The cash managers’ practices and procedures are documented in 
various forms. Contacts and sources of information are now documented. 
Files have been created on the components that make up cash inflows and 
outflows. As well, job descriptions and performance appraisal 
mechanisms are being established which will result in improved 
documentation of the cash managers’ procedures and practices and the 
relationship that exists with other parts of the government.

5.21 The prime function of the cash manager is to meet the day to day 
funding requirements of the Province. The elements making up the funding 
requirements are forecasted on a macro level and adjusted daily at the 
micro level. The daily cash requirements, expected cash requirements, 
market receptiveness, interest rate levels, etc. all impact on the final 
decision-making process. Sources of information are documented within 
the cash management function. Regular weekly meetings are held to 
discuss issues facing the Division, including cash position, financing 
needs and short term investing.

5.22 A Money Market Analyst position was filled at the Treasury and 
Debt Management division during the latter portion of 1995-96. The 
Money Market Analyst is supervised by the Director. The specific role and 
responsibilities of this new position had not been formally defined at the 
time of our review. This new position implies a potential change in the 
responsibilities previously exclusive to the Director and indicates that any 
previous documentation of that position may require adjustment as well.
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Recommendation 5.23 The Department should formally define the role and 
responsibilities of the Money Market Analyst.

Departmental response 5.24 The Money Market Analyst position which was filled in March of 
1996 utilized position documentation which is outdated by current 
standards. The restructuring of the Treasury and Debt Management 
Division, which was underway at the time of the audit, calls for an 
updated job description to be put in place this year.

Communication with 
departments and agencies 
should be improved

5.25 There are general directives in the Province’s Administration 
Manual related to the timely reporting of cash flows. However, there is no 
specific guidance on the role of individual personnel in departments and 
Crowns agencies. Instead, the Director relies on an informal network of 
contacts which has been established throughout government.

5.26 Informing departments and Crown agencies of the role and 
responsibilities of the central cash managers could help them understand 
the expertise available to them in the Department. It could also help 
inform other parts of government about their role in cash management.

Recommendation 5.27 The Department should more clearly communicate to all 
departments and Crown agencies the role and responsibilities of the 
Province’s central cash managers.

5.28 The Department should evaluate the need for additional 
instruction and direction to departments and Crown agencies 
regarding special reporting and referral of cash flows to the central 
cash managers. Any measures implemented should specifically 
address offices and districts in outlying areas of the Province.

Departmental response 5.29 Currently central cash managers maintain contact with 
department and agency representatives responsible for program delivery 
in order that a consolidated cash flow forecast can be made. Contact is 
maintained throughout the year to track variances from initial 
expectations. The larger revenue/expenditure areas are obviously of most 
immediate interest to central cash managers and here contact is frequent.

5.30 Communications with departments could be broadened via the 
Province’s Administration Manual. The Department in conjunction with 
the Office of the Comptroller will review cash handling procedures 
detailed in the Manual.

Accountability and internal 
control in central cash 
management

5.31 In order to ensure accountability for all short term investing and 
financing decisions, there should be formal documentation of the 
initiation and execution of transactions. Without formal documentation, 
adequate monitoring and satisfactory internal controls, there is an 
increased risk that transactions could occur which would not be subject to 
the current reporting and reconciling processes. There is also increased 
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risk that errors would not be detected or adequately examined on a timely 
basis.

5.32 A reasonable approach would be to have the Executive Director 
initial the cash management reports which he reviews on a weekly basis. 
The weekly reports could be filed to retain evidence of the review.

5.33 The cash management reports do not explicitly indicate which 
central cash manager (the Director or the Money Market Analyst) made 
the investing or financing decisions and undertook the related 
transactions.

Recommendation 5.34 The division should consider the foregoing issues of 
accountability and internal control when undertaking its review of the 
accounting systems related to the cash management function.

Departmental response 5.35 As indicated in the Auditor General’s commentary respecting this 
recommendation, cash position and transaction records are submitted and 
reviewed by the Executive Director. As evidence of this examination a file 
is maintained by the Executive Director. The Division is continuing to 
review procedures in this regard.

Performing an objective 
review of the cash 
management function

5.36 Given the dramatic changes in technology in recent years, our 
Office would expect the Department to periodically review its practices, 
procedures and information systems for efficiency and effectiveness. 
However, our discussions indicated the Department has not carried out an 
internal review in recent memory.

Recommendation 5.37 The Department should formally and objectively review the 
cash management function, its information requirements and its 
related reporting systems.

Departmental response 5.38 Coincident with the reorganization of the Division, a review of 
functions, information and reporting systems will be undertaken to ensure 
continued efficiency and effectiveness in cash management operations.

Monitoring and evaluating 
the performance of the 
central cash managers

5.39 Considerable autonomy is given the central cash managers. They 
make short term investment or financing decisions based on available 
information and professional judgment. In such an environment, the 
Department should have a way of evaluating the central cash managers’ 
activities.

5.40 This does not appear to be the case. The Department has not set 
specific performance standards for the central cash managers. Therefore, 
it is very difficult for the Department to measure performance and monitor 
the achievement of objectives. A strong performance appraisal process 
could partly compensate for this weakness if it required that personal 
goals be consistent with those of the Department. It would also require a 
means of measuring the achievement of those goals. Clear and realistic 
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performance standards for the central cash managers were not in effect at 
the time of our review. Means of measuring the achievement of goals had 
not been determined.

Recommendation 5.41 The Department should ensure adequate performance 
standards are established and implemented for the evaluation of the 
central cash managers. These performance standards should support 
the achievement of the Department’s objectives.

Departmental response 5.42 Performance standards and benchmarks will be developed over 
the course of the year. This initiative is consistent with the overall 
objective of enhanced performance in the public service.

Banking arrangements 5.43 The objective of this portion of the audit was to ensure that 
banking arrangements are managed responsibly, documented clearly and 
monitored regularly.

Lack of written proposals 5.44 The Department of Finance is responsible for negotiating banking 
arrangements with the major banks. These agreements commonly cover 
periods ranging from two to five years. The Province currently deals with 
six major chartered banks. As stated earlier, this involves approximately 
500 separate bank accounts at various branches throughout the Province.

5.45 Banking services are not formally tendered. The arrangements 
that are currently in place with each of the major banks were negotiated 
separately in response to requirements at that time. These negotiations are 
handled by the Director of Treasury Management. The Director analyzes 
the banking proposals and makes recommendations which are then subject 
to final approval by the Executive Director of Financial Policy and Debt 
Management.

5.46 We expected to find copies of each proposal supporting the 
analysis upon which the current banking agreements are based. However, 
we could only find one written proposal and it covered a four-year period 
which expired in 1996. Therefore it was not possible to evaluate the 
proposals or to assess the adequacy of the analysis supporting the 
decisions taken.

5.47 We reviewed the analysis of alternative proposals which was 
prepared to support the decision regarding banking services made in 1994. 
We found the analysis difficult to follow and unclear as to exactly how it 
tied into the recommended action. As well, while we were informed of the 
criteria upon which the decision was based, the analysis did not contain all 
of the important elements.

5.48 The lack of a periodic formal review of the Province’s banking 
arrangements, including costs, on a regular basis is also a concern. A 
formal review and tendering for banking services should be considered. 
Tendering for banking services need not cover the whole range of service 
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requirements. Tendering for certain portions of service requirements is a 
practice which some large organizations follow and one which the 
Province could consider. Our concern is that the current practice of 
dealing with several major banks may not be cost efficient due to service 
and cost differences as well as the possible increased administrative costs 
of maintaining so many accounts.

5.49 We reviewed the Public Purchasing Act and regulations to assess 
whether there are any legislated requirements surrounding the purchase of 
financial services. Our review determined that the regulations under the 
Public Purchasing Act exclude financial services from the provisions of 
the legislation. This does not prevent the tendering of financial services if 
the Department believes such a practice can reduce costs.

Recommendation 5.50 The Province’s negotiated banking arrangements with 
financial institutions should be supported by written proposals 
together with clearly documented analyses in support of the final 
decision. The signed agreements should be kept on file in the 
Department.

5.51 The Department should consider an alternative to the current 
procurement of banking arrangements, such as tendering for banking 
services. All decisions regarding banking arrangements should be 
based on a formal and thorough cost-benefit analysis.

Departmental response 5.52 While banking services and fees were approved within the 
Treasury and Debt Management Division of the Department, most 
proposals were not retained. In the future, the Division will retain on file 
all proposals and working papers for decisions made in regard to banking 
arrangements as well as all signed agreements.

5.53 All arrangements for banking services have been made within the 
terms of the Public Purchasing Act. The department satisfies its banking 
requirements by using competitive methods to acquire specific services. 
This approach recognizes that factors such as branch locations, credit 
considerations, cost constraints, the quality of execution on transactions, 
etc. play a role in the selection process. Under the current practice, the 
Province chooses from the various banks those services which can, most 
cost effectively, be delivered by that bank while ensuring a broad range of 
banking services to the Province and its clients.

5.54 Decisions regarding banking arrangements have been made on 
the basis of an assessment of the merits and costs of the respective 
proposals. In the future this will be more completely documented in the 
files.

Compliance with banking 
agreements

5.55 Although we could not locate written agreements with each of the 
major banks, the Department told us such agreements specify per unit 
costs of various cash management activities as well as rates of interest to 
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be paid on daily cash balances. It is the combination of these and other 
factors that largely determines with which bank the Province conducts its 
business.

5.56 Several years ago, the Province made a change in banking 
arrangements to take advantage of a lower rate for processing cheques, an 
increased line of credit and a higher rate of interest on daily cash balances. 
The analysis supporting the decision to change banks indicated dollar 
savings as well as an increase in credit lines.

5.57 We reviewed bank service charges and interest credits for a period 
following the implementation of the new arrangement. Our review 
indicated the Province was not receiving interest credits in accordance 
with the provisions of the banking agreement. This was due to an error in 
the calculation method of the bank. The total shortfall in interest received 
over the period examined was approximately $14,000. The error was not 
noticed by Treasury and Debt Management staff as at present only a 
cursory check for reasonableness is made. As a direct result of our review, 
the error has been corrected and the Province has received payment of the 
amount owing.

5.58 This type of problem could be avoided through an insistence on 
written agreements and an organized approach to periodic monitoring of 
the banks’ compliance. This approach would not require a large 
investment in time and, as has been shown, could result in cost savings to 
the Province.

Recommendation 5.59 The Province’s negotiated banking arrangements with 
financial institutions should be monitored on a regular basis to ensure 
compliance with the provisions of the agreements.

Departmental response 5.60 The Department monitors banking arrangements by checking 
monthly charges and credits as to their reasonableness using current 
volumes and rates. However in the future, the Department will monitor its 
banking arrangements on a formal and regular basis to ensure 
compliance with the provisions of the agreements.

Administration of bank 
accounts

Prior years’ 
recommendations

5.61 In the 1987-88 year we conducted an audit to examine the bank 
accounts of the Province. We found that although a number of 
departments kept detailed listings of their bank accounts, there was no 
central listing maintained by the Department of Finance.

5.62 Following this audit we made several recommendations to the 
Department:

• the Department should prepare and maintain an ongoing record of all 
bank accounts in use;

• the list of bank accounts should be reconciled to the records of 
departments on a periodic basis;
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• the names of all provincial accounts should begin with “Province of 
New Brunswick;” and

• all accounts should be given an identification code.

5.63 The Department agreed with these recommendations.

5.64 Twice since the initial work was completed, we conducted follow 
up audit work. In 1992 we reported that the Department was making 
progress both in preparing the master listing and in standardizing the 
account names. In 1993 we compared the master list prepared by the 
Department to the lists kept by the other departments. We found 
differences between the two listings. We brought these differences to the 
attention of the Department and made the following recommendations:

• all accounts operating in the name of the Province should be identified 
and controlled;

• the Department should initiate an annual reconciliation with the bank 
accounts held by all departments; and

• procedures should be established to ensure inactive, unused and 
unauthorized accounts are identified and cancelled on a timely basis.

5.65 Again the Department agreed with these recommendations and 
indicated it would take action to deal with the concerns expressed.

Current year audit approach 5.66 The objective of our audit work this year was to evaluate the 
actions taken by the Department to implement our past recommendations.

5.67 We based our work on the assumption that the Province needs 
central administration and control over the bank accounts it utilizes.

5.68 We obtained Province-wide bank account records from two major 
financial institutions. We also obtained lists of the accounts maintained at 
the Fredericton branches of four other banks. We compared these accounts 
to the records maintained by the Department of Finance.

5.69 The focus on this audit was on the completeness of the master 
listing and not the individual departmental records. Accordingly, we did 
not examine the records maintained by other government departments.

Results of our work 5.70 Since our 1988 recommendations, the Department has made an 
effort to reconcile the accounts on the master listing to the accounts on the 
departmental listings. Each year, a copy of the master listing is sent to 
individual departments. They are asked to inform the Department of any 
out-of-date or missing information on the master list.

5.71 All of the bank accounts on the Department’s master listing are 
named “Province of New Brunswick”, “Minister of Finance” or both. The 
names on the banks’ listings were not always referred to in such a 
consistent manner.



Department of Finance  - Cash Management Chapter 5

76 Report of the Auditor General - 1996

5.72 All bank accounts on the master listing are identified with a 
unique coding assigned by the Department. This coding is used in 
communication between the Department and other government 
departments. The banks do not use this coding in their own account 
identification process.

5.73 According to a recent copy of the Department’s master list of the 
Province’s bank accounts, there were 488 bank accounts in the name of 
the Province. These accounts are distributed among the branches of seven 
different banks. In comparing the Department’s master listing to the 
banks’ listings, we found numerous differences.

5.74 A number of possible reasons for these differences were 
anticipated. These include timing differences, unclear account 
identification and differences in the definition of which accounts are to be 
included in the listings. However, we were surprised at the number of 
differences.

5.75 We gave the Department a list of accounts for which the records of 
the bank and the Province did not agree. We asked them to examine the 
differences and report to us on the reasons for the disagreement.

Departmental response 5.76 Upon examination of the reason for discrepancies between the 
listings it was found that improper designation as Province of NB 
accounts and timing differences for the opening and closing of accounts 
accounted for the majority of the variance.

5.77 The Department’s response provided further information. A 
review of this information together with the Department’s supporting 
documentation on all banks can be summarized as follows:

Exhibit 5.1

Accounts appearing only on the bank 
records Reason for difference Number of accounts

did not belong to the Province 34
recently opened or closed accounts (timing difference) 11
accounts used only by the bank 14
incorrect account number on Department records 5
left off Department records in error 8
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Exhibit 5.2

Accounts appearing only on the 
Department records

5.78 There are several conclusions that can be drawn from the results 
of this work.

• There are still some existing bank accounts that the Department of 
Finance did not have in their records. We found eight in our sample.

• Bank account listings supplied to us by the banks did not include all 
Province of New Brunswick accounts operating at those institutions. 
The Department of Finance indicated the accounts were presumably 
omitted from the list because of limitations or constraints in the 
banks’ systems.

• There are a significant number of accounts that the banks believed to 
be Province of New Brunswick accounts that are not. The definition 
established by the Department of Finance says inclusions are limited 
to government departments and do not include Crown agencies. The 
banks included municipal and Crown agency accounts.

Recommendation 5.79 The Department should request that the banks adopt uniform 
core names and classifications for Province of New Brunswick bank 
accounts. This will improve control over the accounts from the banks’ 
perspective and facilitate identification and reporting when dealing 
with the Province.

Departmental response 5.80 This concern is primarily a bank issue and not a departmental 
one. The Province has no direct control over the banks’ internal 
accounting systems. However, the Department has and will continue to 
use uniform core names and classifications for Province of New 
Brunswick bank accounts whenever accounts are updated and through all 
external communications.

5.81 We agree this is a bank responsibility. However, encouraging the 
use of standard account names for the Province’s accounts will facilitate 
communication and control. As evidenced by the results of the 
comparison of accounts, the banks are not certain which accounts are 
those of the Province of New Brunswick and that is likely the result of 
inaccurate naming.

Reason for difference Number of accounts

recently opened or closed accounts (timing differences) 24
incorrect account number on Department records 5
(same accounts as above)
bank listing was assumed to be incomplete 41
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5.82 Finally, we would like to note that our audit results do not cover 
all banking operations in the Province. For audit purposes, we selected a 
sample of the banks for review. Additional differences are likely to exist in 
areas not covered by this review.

Recommendation 5.83 The Department should ensure that reconciliations of the 
government records to the bank records be completed for all banks. 
Differences should be resolved.

Departmental response 5.84 Treasury and Debt Management authorizes the opening of new 
accounts to ensure consistency in banking arrangements and to be aware 
of cash flow implications which may be significant to the Province. 
However, the day to day operation of the accounts (for example, accounts 
opened in remote areas to handle DNR license revenues, Justice fees, etc.) 
is the responsibility of the respective department. Treasury and Debt 
Management does confirm annually the status of accounts with 
departments.

5.85 It is the Department’s opinion that central administration and 
control over bank accounts is most effectively accomplished through the 
departments. However, the Division will discuss the recommendations for 
account reconciliation with the Comptroller’s Office.
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Background 6.1 The Ambulance Services program of the Department of Health 
and Community Services has been, and continues to be, the subject of 
considerable study. Due to the attention given to ambulance services by 
the Legislative Assembly and the Department we decided to carry out an 
operational review of the program. 

6.2 On 5 May 1988 two key planning documents on ambulance 
services were tabled in the Legislative Assembly. One was the 
departmental “Green Paper” entitled Discussion Paper on Ambulance 
Services. The other was the Applied Management Consultants’ (AMC) 
report A Review of Ambulance Services in New Brunswick.

6.3 These two documents were forwarded to the Legislature’s Special 
Committee on Social Policy Development (Legislative Committee). The 
Legislative Committee reviewed these documents, invited written 
submissions and held public hearings on ambulance services. The 
Legislative Committee received thirty-four submissions and had 
twenty-six organizations submit briefs and appear before it. In 1989 the 
Legislative Committee published its findings and recommendations in a 
report entitled Ambulance Services in New Brunswick. These studies, with 
accompanying discussions and debate, led to the Legislative Assembly 
assenting to the New Brunswick Ambulance Services Act (Act) in 1990.

6.4 In 1992 the new Act was proclaimed with the exception of Section 
11. This Section requires that all attendants be certified by the 
Department, establishes responsibility with the Department for training 
standards and limits the actions of attendants to those within the scope of 
their certificate.

6.5 The Act gives the Department responsibility for the development 
throughout the Province of a balanced and effective system of ambulance 
services. This recognizes that effective and efficient ambulance service is 
an essential service to all New Brunswickers. The Department contracts to 
provide this service to the public through a network of hospital 
corporations, non-profit organizations (e.g. St. John Ambulance) and 
privately-run businesses.
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Scope 6.6 One of our responsibilities under the Auditor General Act is to 
ensure money is expended with due regard to economy and efficiency. 
Consistent with this responsibility, one of our audit objectives is to 
determine if the Department is achieving economy and efficiency in the 
delivering of ambulance services. An additional objective is to determine 
departmental progress to date in meeting its new legislated responsibilities 
as well as in addressing recommendations of the various studies. 

6.7 Our work on the Ambulance Services program commenced in 
February 1996. We completed preliminary interviews with departmental 
staff and other parties who provide ambulance services to the public. We 
also completed our review of the various reports and carried out some 
financial analysis.

6.8 In the spring of 1996 St. John Ambulance announced it was 
withdrawing from the delivery of ambulance services. Because of the 
significance of this pending change, and our own financial audit 
deadlines, we delayed further work. We have, however, decided to present 
observations based on our work to date. We have categorized our 
observations under the following headings:

• planning;
• standards;
• funding of ambulance services; and 
• special initiative of an air ambulance.

6.9 We plan to continue our work in the 1996-97 audit year and to 
give an update on progress made in addressing key points in the various 
reports and the Act. We also plan to review the effects of the withdrawal 
of services by St. John Ambulance and the impact of the first year of 
operation of the air ambulance service.

Results in brief 6.10 Minimum standards for ambulance services have been 
established.

6.11 Attaining minimum standards has a detrimental effect on 
availability of volunteers.

6.12 Meeting new standards will significantly increase the cost of 
the service.

6.13 User fees for ambulance services vary widely across the 
province.

6.14 The mix of provincially-funded dollars and other sources of 
funding varies widely for ambulance service across the Province.

6.15 A provincial air ambulance service was established on 1 April 
1996 after an attempt at reaching a Maritime agreement failed.
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Planning 6.16 In its report, the Legislative Committee recommended giving the 
Department overall responsibility for pre-hospital emergency care. The 
Minister, at the time the Act was presented, stated “we will transform the 
ambulance system , which until now has been a transportation system, 
into a health care system with the medical component attached to it.”

6.17 The Act did not give the Department responsibility for all       pre-
hospital care. Pre-hospital care includes, in addition to the ambulance 
service itself, such areas as first response (e.g. emergency care by police 
or firemen) and dispatch (e.g.“911”.) However, the Act did make the 
Department responsible for the development throughout the Province of a 
balanced and effective system of ambulance services. 

6.18 To aid the Minister in meeting this responsibility the Act states 
“the Minister may appoint an Ambulance Services Advisory Committee to 
provide the Minister with advice concerning the provision of ambulance 
services in the Province.” The Advisory Committee is operative and 
continues to provide advice to the Minister.

Local representation in 
planning

6.19 The reports we reviewed all recommended local involvement in 
the planning and delivery of ambulance services. Both the Legislative 
Committee and AMC recommended this be done through the creation of 
regional committees with local representation. The Act requires the 
establishment of a regional Ambulance Service Coordinating Committee 
(coordinating committee) in each district with local representation on 
each. The Department has established regional coordinating committees 
with local representation. 

Preparation of regional plans 6.20 The Legislative Committee recommended each coordinating 
committee be responsible to establish, in consultation with the 
Department, a plan for the development, delivery and operation of service 
in its region. The AMC study recommended even more responsibility for 
the coordinating committees. The Act requires completion, and 
Ministerial approval, of the regional plan. Areas the plan addresses 
include, funding, transportation, personnel, training, communications, 
medical direction and quality management.

6.21 The coordinating committees are preparing service delivery plans. 
To date one region has its plan approved and implemented. Two others 
have their plans approved by the Department. The other four are either 
preparing their plans or reviewing them with the Department.

Standards

Establishment of minimum 
standards

6.22 A variety of types and sizes of organizations provide ambulance 
services to the public on behalf of the Department. To ensure these 
organizations provide a balanced and effective ambulance service, the 
various studies recommended the establishment of standards for all 
ambulance services. To meet this responsibility the Department 
established regulated minimum standards of service which must be met by 
all providers. These standards are the same for all services whether they 
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are paid or volunteer, low or high volume, and emergency or scheduled 
service.

6.23 These standards are a new undertaking for the Province and are 
designed to be reasonable and attainable targets for ambulance services to 
achieve over a phased implementation period which began 1 January 
1993. The standards cover services, vehicles, equipment, personnel and 
supplies and came into effect 1 January 1993 with the following 
exceptions:

• vehicles ordered before 1 January 1993 do not have to meet vehicle 
standards, however repairs have to be in compliance with the 
standards;

• on 1 January 1995 (later delayed until 1 January 1996), and if training 
available, one attendant on each call qualify to be an Emergency 
Medical Technologist 1 (EMT1); and

• on 1 January 1996 (later delayed and no effective date has been set 
yet) both attendants to be EMT1s.

6.24 The Department hoped that by bringing standards into force on a 
phased basis, improvement in delivery of ambulance services by service 
providers could be accomplished in an evolutionary, rather than 
revolutionary, manner.

6.25 The Department also recognized that standards should reflect up 
to date practice and that the Department would need to review them on a 
periodic basis. The Department is currently performing such a review.

Transition to minimum 
service standards

6.26 The setting of standards has created some conflict in the system. 
Some service providers, in particular volunteer service providers, have 
had difficulty in meeting the new standards. The Legislative Committee, 
and the Minister of the day when the Act was presented to the Legislative 
Assembly, both indicated that volunteers would stay an integral part of the 
system.

6.27 In 1995 three volunteer service providers. Lepreau, Deer Island 
and St. Quentin, decided they were unable to continue to provide service. 
In 1996 St. John Ambulance decided they were unable to continue to 
provide any ambulance service. The decisions were made as a result of 
various factors, most notably a decline in volunteerism and the raising of 
standards. The most important changes in standards were the requirement 
for twenty-four hour service and the requirement to have at least one 
EMT1, two in the future, on each call. Thus there has been a rapid, though 
not unexpected, decline in the volunteer agencies providing local 
ambulance service.

6.28 Exhibit 6.1 compares 1994-95 volunteer service costs with 
1996-97 budgeted costs for the three locations which now have paid 
provider service.
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Exhibit 6.1

Costs of ambulance services

*   These are the actual or estimated gross costs of service as provided by the Department
     and include costs funded by provincial grants and user fees.

6.29 Exhibit 6.1 shows costs have increased significantly in these three 
small locations. With the withdrawal of St. John Ambulance up to twenty-
six more volunteer emergency ambulance services may cease operations. 
If the overall delivery cost increase is similar to that identified in Exhibit 
6.1, the rise in costs will be significant.

Training to meet new 
standards

6.30 Key to the meeting of the new training requirements is the 
existence of a pool of qualified personnel. The Department has been active 
in managing the content and delivery of training to attendants. It has 
funded training tuition free for volunteer personnel and for others already 
in the system. It also contracted with St. John Ambulance and the New 
Brunswick Health Care Association to provide training for the EMT1 
course. The Canadian Medical Association approved this course as 
meeting national standards.

Inspections to ensure 
standards upheld

6.31 To ensure providers meet the required standards the Department 
established an inspection program. The Ambulance Services Branch of the 
Department is responsible for this program. As yet, we have not had an 
opportunity to examine the inspection process or any inspection files, but 
we plan to do so. However, departmental personnel did say the Branch is 
carrying out inspections on a regular basis and if standards are not met the 
license of the provider may be revoked.

Funding of ambulance 
services

6.32 Both the Department and the Legislative Committee 
recommended that funding from the Province be centralized in one 
department. AMC recommended funding should remain the joint 
responsibility of municipalities, users and the Department of Health and 
Community Services. The Province decided to centralize funding for 
ambulance services in the Department of Health and Community Services 
although it will still allow agencies to charge user fees. In our opinion the 
assigning of funding and responsibility to one department is beneficial as 
it provides a better opportunity for accountability.

Lepreau
Deer

Island
 St. 

Quentin Total

Population served 2,168 826 2,269 5,263

Number of ambulance 
calls (1994-95) 132 61 213 406

1994-95 operating costs* $38,303 $13,930 $48,000 $100,233

1996-97 budgeted costs* $157,350 $135,972 $121,100 $414,422

Increase in costs $119,047 $122,042 $73,100 $314,189

% increase in costs 311 876 152 313
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6.33 The Act allows the Department to pay grants and to share in the 
cost of ambulance service. However, there are no other legislated 
guidelines on funding specific to the program. At present the mix of 
public dollars, service-user fees and fund raising used to finance each 
service in the Province varies widely. Funding continues to be an area of 
concern for many reasons including the equitability of user fees and 
finding new sources of funding to replace discontinued volunteer 
ambulance services. 

Inconsistencies in user fees 6.34 Studies by the Department show large variances in how much 
residents of the Province are charged for ambulance usage. AMC and the 
Legislative Committee recommended that user fees continue to be 
charged. However, the consultants recommended user fees be set at the 
local level whereas the Legislative Committee recommended province-
wide standard maximum fees should be set for all ambulance services 
including non-emergency invalid transfers. The Act is silent on what 
costs, if any, users should pay for the service.

6.35 At present user fees vary considerably. Some agencies do not 
charge at all. Others charge up to $400 for a motor vehicle accident call. 
Many services charge an additional per kilometer fee. This can vary from 
$.42/km to $2.50 /km. A committee was established to review fees and 
other funding-related subjects but the Department has not made a final 
decision on its recommendations and no changes have occurred.

Special initiative of an air 
ambulance

6.36 AMC recommended that the decision whether or not to put in 
place an air ambulance service be made only after an in-depth review. 
Departmental studies completed prior to 1988 did not consider a dedicated 
service to be cost effective. The Legislative Committee report, however, 
recommended the service be developed parallel to ground ambulance 
service and that it be obtained in the most cost effective manner possible. 

6.37 To this end the Department explored the possibility of a joint air 
ambulance service for the Maritimes. After a number of months of 
discussions no agreement was forthcoming. On 1 April 1996 the 
Department established a provincial air ambulance service.
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Background 7.1 In our 1995 Report we included some discussion on the new 
systems development project undertaken by the Department of Human 
Resources Development (HRD) in association with Andersen Consulting. 
Considerable interest in this issue was expressed by members of the Public 
Accounts Committee and the Legislative Assembly.

7.2 At the time of completion of our 1995 Report HRD and Andersen 
Consulting had just signed a formal contract (dated 20 December 1995). 
We agreed to report further on the contract and to consider the method 
used to purchase computer hardware and software.

Purchase of computer 
hardware and software

7.3 On 14 March 1996, officials of HRD appeared before the Standing 
Committee of Public Accounts (PAC). As a result of this meeting the PAC 
adopted a motion asking the Auditor General to review the purchasing 
arrangement for computer hardware and software needed for the HRD 
project. We are preparing a separate report on this matter for the Public 
Accounts Committee.

Contract review

Scope

7.4 As discussed last year the HRD initiative focuses on restructuring 
their operations and changing the way they provide services to their 
clients. The agreement in place requires Andersen Consulting to finance 
the cost of the work; they will be repaid out of savings realized as a result 
of the changes.

7.5 At the time of writing our 1995 Report, Andersen Consulting had 
been working on the initiative for over 14 months without a signed 
contract. We expressed our concern about this situation, and stated “we 
believe that all of the undertakings with Andersen Consulting should have 
been set out in a contract prior to the firm commencing this work.”

7.6 Our 1995 Report stated “the consultants’ proposal, submitted in 
January 1994, contained many undertakings which should have been 
embodied in a contract.” We carried out a preliminary review of the 
signed contract. The purpose of this review was to compare the terms of 
the contract with the requirements of the Department as set out in their 
original Request for Proposals dated 13 December 1993 and with the 
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undertakings of the consultant contained in their January 1994 proposal. 
Our objective was to ensure a high degree of consistency between what 
was originally asked for, what was promised and what was finally agreed 
upon.

7.7 We will complete a more detailed review of the contract when the 
system is operational. This review will focus on the performance of both 
parties to the contract, and will assess their compliance to date with the 
terms of the contract. The results of this review will be reported in our 
1997 Report. We will also monitor payments to Andersen Consulting 
under the contract and the lease agreement, to ensure these payments 
comply with the terms of the agreement. Part of this process will include 
forming an opinion on the accuracy and appropriateness of the 
calculations of savings arising from the restructuring.

Findings

Contracts and pricing

7.8 The Province’s request for proposals (RFP) stated “a separate 
contract will be negotiated for each phase based on the scope, objectives 
and deliverables of that phase.... Within each contract, there will be 
provision for both bonus and penalty clauses for the achievement of, or 
failure to achieve, the defined objectives of the phase.” The proposal from 
Andersen implicitly recognizes this phased approach, and states 
“Andersen Consulting will bear its cost of participation in the initial 
phase.” The proposal goes on to state “we would welcome a discussion on 
performance factors as a component of the fixed cost pricing structure. 
Inclusion of bonus and penalty options will provide the Department with 
added assurance that the project will be completed cost effectively and to 
its satisfaction, at all times throughout the life of the project.”

7.9 Phase I of the project began on 25 March 1994, the date Andersen 
was notified that it was the successful bidder. Phase I was completed 
around 28 September 1994, the date the Board of Management approved 
the Business Case and authorized Phase II. No contract was negotiated 
prior to the start of Phase I of the project. Andersen Consulting wrote to 
the Department on 18 July 1994 to confirm the arrangements they had 
entered into, including their commitment not to charge the Department for 
time spent and expenses incurred during this phase of the project. The 
Department signed this letter as “acknowledged and accepted” on 
7 September 1994. Subsequently, the Province and Andersen signed a 
Consulting Services Agreement to cover the arrangements made for  
Phase I. This agreement was dated 27 September 1994, with a termination 
date of 31 October 1994.

7.10 The Agreement confirmed that “Andersen shall provide the 
Services under this Agreement at no cost to the Minister.” With regard to 
expenses, the Agreement stated “Except for payments made by Andersen 
to third parties with the consent of the Minister and on behalf of 
employees of the Minister, Andersen shall not be reimbursed by the 
Minister for any expenses incurred by Andersen in the performance of or 
in relation to the Services under this Agreement.”
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7.11 As stated, Phase II of the project was authorized by the Board of 
Management on 28 September 1994. The contract for this phase was not 
finalized and signed until 20 December 1995. The contract does not 
contain any clauses dealing with bonuses or penalties relating to the 
achievement of objectives.

Departmental comments 7.12 HRD was advised by the Office of the Comptroller and the Department 
of Justice that a contract should not provide for “bonuses” to be paid, that 
the product/service should be set and the fees negotiated accordingly. As a 
result of this advice, such a provision was not included in the contract. With 
respect to “penalties”, if the objectives i.e. the realization of the projected 
savings, are not met, then Andersen is not repaid for their investment in the 
design, development and implementation. This is, in fact, the penalty.

Financing 7.13 The RFP stated “It is a requirement that the Company finance the 
development and delivery of the total business solution.” The Andersen 
proposal acknowledged this responsibility.

7.14 The contract also states that Andersen is responsible for financing 
the design and implementation phase of the project. However, there is also 
provision for Andersen to receive what are described as Advance 
Payments prior to the implementation of the system. Although the 
contract indicates that hardware and software acquired by Andersen 
should also be subject to this financing arrangement, the Department has 
agreed to reimburse Andersen directly for these costs.

Departmental comments 7.15 The Department has agreed to reimburse Andersen directly for these 
costs so that the Department can cost share these costs with the Federal 
Government. Further, HRD was advised by the Office of the Comptroller that 
leasing this equipment over time was not deemed to be cost effective.

Personnel 7.16 The RFP stated “It is mandatory that the Company commit the 
proposed Project Director to this requirement for the duration of this 
requirement and that commitment be full-time (100% of the time).” It also 
stated “The Company must provide the services of the proposed 
resources.” In each case there was provision for replacement “for reasons 
beyond the control of the Company.” In the case of the Project Director, 
the Department reserved the right to refuse a proposed replacement if it 
deemed the individual not suitable.

7.17 The Andersen proposal named the proposed Project Director and 
a number of other personnel who would be committed to the project.

7.18 The contract requires that each party designate a Project Manager 
for the project. It also states “Both Parties further acknowledge that the 
Project Managers assigned to the Project must be committed to the Project 
full time for the duration of the Project. In the event that either Party must 
replace a Project manager for reasons beyond their control, then that Party 
must provide a replacement of comparable experience, skill and ability.” 
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There is no provision in the contract for either party to reject the other 
party’s proposed replacement, although there is provision for consultation 
“to the extent practical and reasonable” prior to making changes affecting 
the participation of key personnel. There has been no change to either 
party’s Project director (manager) since the beginning of the Project.

7.19 For personnel other than the Project Manager, the contract states 
“the Parties reserve the right to determine which of its personnel shall be 
assigned to perform Services, and to replace or reassign such personnel 
during the term hereof.” As explained in the previous paragraph, there is 
provision for consultation on changes. In addition, each party states their 
intent to minimize changes, and to attempt to honour requests for specific 
individuals. However, this appears to be a softening of the wording in the 
original RFP.

Technology standards 7.20 The RFP stated “The solution must comply with the New 
Brunswick Government Technology Standards; and the Federal 
Government Treasury Board Information Technology Standards, as 
applicable.” Neither the Andersen proposal nor the final contract make 
explicit reference to these standards. However, the contract does contain 
an Andersen warranty that “the system shall comply with applicable 
federal and provincial laws, regulations and policies at the time of final 
acceptance.” In addition, Schedule A to the contract, Scope of Services, 
lists as one of the design phase objectives “to design a technically 
feasible, affordable architecture approach that supports the application’s 
requirements, and is consistent with the government of New Brunswick’s 
standards.”

Conclusions on contract 
review

7.21 It is understandable that lengthy and complex negotiations such as 
these should result in an agreement which differs from that envisaged in a 
departmental document. Our comparison of the Andersen contract to the 
original Request for Proposals discloses a number of differences in certain 
aspects of the arrangements. As we pointed out last year, it would have 
been preferable if these differences, and the final arrangements with 
Andersen, had been agreed to and confirmed with Andersen in writing 
prior to the commencement of the work.

Current status of the 
project

General

7.22 Discussions with the Department indicate the project is behind 
schedule. The original intent according to the business case presented in 
support of the project was to have the implementation completed by 
September 1996. 

7.23 The work covered by the December 1995 contract has now been 
broken down into two releases. The first release of the system, called NB 
Case, was piloted in the Fredericton Region starting in October 1996. The 
Department anticipated a test period of approximately thirty days and then 
plans to implement the system in the rest of the Province. At the time of 
writing our Report, the Department hoped to have the final release of the 
project as set out in the December 1995 contract in place by March or 



Chapter 7 Department of Human Resources Development/Andersen Consulting

Report of the Auditor General - 1996 93

April 1997. We were advised that lease payments would then be 
determined and start ninety days after acceptance of Release I.

7.24 However, it has come to our attention that HRD has signed a 
supplementary agreement on fees which saw a payment to the consultant 
of $937,550 for services rendered prior to 31 March 1996. 

7.25 This new agreement is entitled Interim Services Agreement, and 
covers costs accumulated to 31 March 1996. The agreement is dated         
29 March 1996 and was completed after the services had been performed. 
We would have thought the cost of these services would have been 
included in the original contract. At least a portion of the services in the 
agreement identified as data mapping services appear to be also covered in 
Appendix “A” of the original contract with the consultant.

Departmental comments 7.26 The operation and support services rendered by Andersen under 
this supplementary agreement provided immediate operational benefits to 
the Department beyond those benefits to be realized as a result of the 
implementation of the new system. These benefits included the 
implementation and support of a wide area network facilitating electronic 
communications and electronic scheduling across the province; the 
establishment and management of a technology support centre within the 
Department to provide effective support to all users across the 
Department from a central location; the installation of personal 
computers on all users’ desks, formatted to a standard configuration; the 
immediate identification of overpayments within the existing systems; etc. 
The money paid to Andersen in respect of these services were paid from 
the Department’s regular operating budget.

Other issues 7.27 Our review of the contract identified some other issues that were 
the subject of debate in last year’s Public Accounts Committee meetings. 
We are providing an update of these issues for the information of the 
Committee.

Documentation requirement 7.28 The 20 December 1995 contract anticipated several schedules 
would be completed within a short period of time. The majority of the 
provisions were to be completed within sixty days of the contract signing.

• Section 3.4 anticipated a “milestone document” would be produced 
within the sixty-day time limit. This document was signed on 
17 September 1996.

• Detail dealing with payments under the lease (Schedule E) were not 
complete at the time of signing the contract. This Schedule will not be 
completed until final costs are available. The Department anticipates 
completion of payment arrangements and the initial lease payment in 
March or April 1997.

• Schedules H and I dealt with documenting Minimum and Final 
Acceptance Criteria. A draft copy of the minimum acceptance criteria 
was provided to us in October 1996. It deals with the requirements for 
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Release I of the implementation. The final acceptance criteria will be 
developed in conjunction with the completion of Release II.

Annual savings 7.29 The documentation provided in our 1995 Report and statements 
by HRD officials at that time anticipated annual savings of $17.5 million. 
On 26 March 1996 in the Legislative Assembly, the Department 
confirmed that this figure was revised to $12.5 million when the 
Department took the decision to reinvest some of the staff reduction 
savings into case management. The impact this will have on payments 
under the arrangement will not be clear until payments under the lease 
begin and actual savings are calculated.

Intellectual property 7.30 The contract under Section 6.1 says that all rights in the 
Deliverables and related intellectual property shall remain vested in the 
consultant. The Department informed us that this decision was taken 
“based upon a legal opinion that, since it is the intent of the parties to 
enter into a separate Marketing Agreement as provided for in section 8.1 
of the contract, it is in the interest of government not to be liable to a 
potential buyer of the Deliverables and intellectual property.” No such 
marketing agreement between HRD and the consultants had been 
completed as of October 1996.

Maintenance and support of 
the system

7.31 The contract envisages a separate maintenance and support 
agreement that is not, and was never expected to be,  part of the original 
quoted costs of the initiative. While no contract is yet in place, HRD 
estimates the annual maintenance and support costs will be at least 
$1,500,000.

Financing costs 7.32 The project was originally planned for completion in September 
1996. As indicated, the Department’s latest estimate is March or April 
1997 for full implementation. The financing arrangement appears to allow 
the consultant to capitalize interest costs from 28 September 1994 on costs 
as they accumulate until the lease payments commence. The impact of 
delays will add to the final cost of the project.
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Background 8.1 Prior  to 1984, each department of government was responsible 
for the provision of its own vehicles and equipment. Individual 
departmental budgets provided the funds to operate and replace 
departmental fleets. 

8.2 In the early 1980s, the government initiated a study to evaluate the 
most efficient and cost effective method of meeting the transportation 
requirements of all departments. It determined that government 
departments could realize substantial savings and benefits if one single 
entity was responsible for providing vehicles and the associated services.

8.3 In 1984, the Board of Management established a government-wide 
fleet management operation within the Department of Transportation 
(DOT). This new Vehicle Management Branch was given the 
responsibility to purchase and dispose of vehicles and to provide repairs 
and fuel for the vehicles. The scope of the operation included all 
departments as well as school buses. However, the Department of Natural 
Resources and Energy opted not to participate in the repair aspect of this 
arrangement.

8.4 The Agency advised us that a reduction in capital funding since 
1991-92 for vehicles has resulted in a significant aging of the fleet, 
increased repair costs and reduced dependability. Given these 
circumstances, the Board of Management, in October 1994, directed DOT 
to study the feasibility of changing the Vehicle Management Branch to a 
Special Operating Agency. After completing the study, the Department 
submitted a Charter and a Business Plan for consideration and approval. 
Cabinet approved the Charter establishing the Vehicle Management 
Branch as a Special Operating Agency in May, 1995.

8.5 Just like its predecessor, the Vehicle Management Branch, this 
new Agency was established within DOT. The Agency manages a fleet of 
approximately 3,500 vehicles. Its responsibilities continue to include the 
purchase, repair, fueling, insurance and disposal of government vehicles.

8.6 The Agency operates a network of thirty-one repair facilities and 
one hundred and five refueling sites located throughout the Province. 
Management advises us that tendering for services, repair parts and fuel 
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provides annual savings to government. Recent tendering practices of the 
Atlantic Provinces resulted in the joint purchasing of school buses.

8.7 The day-to-day operations of the Agency are managed by the 
Chief Operating Officer, who reports to the Deputy Minister of DOT. The 
Chief Operating Officer is responsible to provide timely financial and 
operational information to the Deputy Minister and the government. 
Currently, the Deputy Minister of DOT also serves as the Chief Operating 
Officer. The Charter requires that the annual business plan of the Agency 
be reviewed by an Advisory Committee of members of representative 
client departments. This Advisory Committee should provide a necessary 
link to all departments. We intend to review the usefulness of the 
Committee on our return visit.

8.8 The Agency comprises an operational component and a support 
services component. The operational component oversees the purchase, 
maintenance and disposal of the vehicles. The support services component 
is responsible for the financial, administrative and information system 
support.

Scope 8.9 We visited two District Offices of the Department of 
Transportation (DOT) and discussed the operations of the Agency. Our 
discussions with staff included one Acting District Engineer, the two 
District Accounting Managers and other support personnel. We also 
interviewed staff at the Central Office of the Agency including the 
Manager of Operations, the Manager of Financial Services, the 
Administration Manager and several staff members that report to the 
Administration Manager.

8.10 Our project objectives in carrying out this work were:

• to review and document the broad activities of the Vehicle 
Management Agency;

• to document the systems of the Agency;
• to identify the stated benefits of the Agency becoming a Special 

Operating Agency (SOA);
• to make necessary recommendations; and
• to identify future audit issues for a return visit. 

Results in brief 8.11 Automated Fuel System (AFS) reports available to the Agency 
are not being used to monitor fuel consumption by vehicle.

8.12 Possible duplication exists whereby information in the AFS is 
also being recorded manually.

8.13 There is no evidence that an audit sampling of credit card 
purchases (for fuel) has been conducted.
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8.14 The Fleet Management System (FMS) is being enhanced with 
more user friendly capabilities. The estimated cost for this enhanced 
system together with the necessary software and hardware is 
$1,250,000.

8.15 There are inconsistencies in the filing of usage reports within 
the Executive Vehicle group. This group consists of the vehicles driven 
by Ministers, Deputy Ministers and Executive Assistants.

8.16 The SOA allows the Agency to operate in an enhanced 
business-like environment.

Special Operating Agency 
(SOA)

8.17 As noted in the Background, the Agency is classified as a Special 
Operating Agency (SOA).

8.18 The New Brunswick Department of Finance issued the following 
definition of a Special Operating Agency. This definition was part of a 
document presented to the Policy and Priorities Committee of 
government. The title of the document is “Special Operating Agencies in 
the New Brunswick Public Service.”

One of the basic principles of the Special Operating Agency 
concept is the recognition that specific service organizations 
would operate more effectively if freed from the traditional day-
to-day operational controls of government.

Special Operating Agencies are distinct service operations 
within departments which have been given increased 
management flexibility to do business, in return for increased 
management accountability based upon the achievement of 
defined performance goals.

8.19 The Agency informed us that it expects to achieve the following 
benefits by operating as a SOA:

• Effective 1 April 1996, the Agency introduced an expanded monthly 
charge-back rate (to the departments). It consists of a fixed monthly 
rate (to cover business operating overhead, fleet insurance and capital 
cost recovery) and a variable rate per kilometer or per hour (to cover 
repair and maintenance costs). In addition, clients will be charged the 
actual cost of the fuel consumed each month. This rate structure will 
fund the operation of the Agency including the replacement of 
vehicles.

• The SOA allows the Agency to operate in an enhanced business-like 
environment. For instance, they will be able to do appropriate long 
range planning for vehicle replacement using the funds provided by 
the charge-back rates. They will no longer be totally dependent on the 
capital budget of the Department of Transportation. This capital 
budget is scheduled to be eliminated over a period of time. The SOA 
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will allow more flexibility to make decisions relating to day-to-day 
operations.

• The repairs and maintenance costs of the vehicles should reduce over 
a period of time. This will be a result of the optimum future 
replacement of vehicles before they require major repairs. The 
outcome will be a more dependable fleet of vehicles.

• If the Agency operates at a surplus, the surplus can be carried forward 
for future use.

• Any revenue generated from the disposal of assets, etc. remains with 
the Agency.

• The SOA will use fixed asset accounting and record depreciation as an 
operating expense.

8.20 The first Business Plan issued by the Agency covered a four year 
period commencing with its inception in May 1995. It included an 
appendix that listed a summary of thirty-three initiatives. During our 
review, the Agency issued a second Business Plan for 1996-2000. It 
contained thirty-five initiatives.

8.21 The Agency intends to file a report to the Minister in the early fall, 
1996, summarizing its first year of operation in accordance with 
provisions of the Charter document. It told us it will be listing the first 
year’s initiatives and reporting on their progress. Presumably this progress 
reporting will continue on an annual basis.

8.22 Exhibit 8.1 lists each of the Agency’s initiatives for the 1995-96 
fiscal year. Below each initiative are the Agency’s comments on its 
progress to date.

8.23 We intend to revisit the Agency within the next two years. We will 
review the progress to date on all initiatives and report at that time.

Executive vehicles -  
inconsistency of filing usage 
reports

8.24 It is our opinion that this SOA can only operate effectively if it has 
the support of senior officials in government.

8.25 The Agency maintains a group of sixty-two vehicles (as at           
29 February 1996) driven by Ministers, Deputy Ministers and the 
Executive Assistants. The Agency requires that usage reports be submitted 
each month listing the kilometers driven that month. The Agency requires 
these reports for statistical purposes and to use in tracking the actual 
kilometrage of the vehicle. For the period 1 April 1995 to 29 February 
1996, six vehicles did not have usage reports for any of the eleven months. 
In addition, usage reports for eleven vehicles were not being filed by the 
required monthly deadline.

Recommendation 8.26 The Agency should ensure monthly vehicle usage reports are 
submitted on time for all vehicles, including those assigned to 
executives.
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Departmental response 8.27 Reporting of monthly usages for executive vehicles is not required 
for billing purposes, since executive vehicles are only charged a fixed cost 
per month. However, the Agency will work toward receiving complete 
monthly usage reports for all executive vehicles.

Automated Fuel System 
(AFS) - reports not being 
used

8.28 There are 105 fueling sites operated by the Agency throughout the 
Province. The AFS is a computer software package that accumulates all 
the fueling data. Once a week this data is integrated into the Fleet 
Management System. There are at least six different reports available to 
the Agency to assist them in monitoring fuel.

8.29 In April 1995, our Office wrote to the Agency. We noted that five 
of the six reports were not being used. The one exception appeared to be a 
report “Fuel Exceeds Tank Capacity” that the fuel coordinator monitored 
regularly. In our opinion, a proper review of all these reports would detect 
most fuel related problems. At the time, the Agency explained that a 
person designated for the monitoring role was involved in systems 
development. These reports were still not being reviewed during the fiscal 
year 1995-96.

8.30 We recognize that effective 1 April 1996 the Agency will bill a 
certain portion of the vehicle fleet for the actual amount of fuel consumed. 
This will transfer the onus of the monitoring function to individual 
departments. Nevertheless, the need for this activity remains.

Recommendation 8.31 The Agency should ensure the reports for monitoring fuel are 
used for the purpose intended.

Departmental response 8.32 There are a number of reports designed to monitor fuel 
consumption. Most of these reports have not been perfected to enable 
detection of the inconsistencies they were intended to highlight. The client 
departments also have some responsibility to monitor their own drivers’ 
fuel usage. We agree with the general direction and are working on 
making changes to improve the exception reports generated and to follow-
up on these reports.

Credit card purchases not 
being monitored

8.33 In August 1994, the Administration Manager of the Agency 
issued a memo to all departmental vehicle coordinators concerning credit 
card receipts. The memo stated that major oil companies are now 
processing their purchases electronically. As a result, the Agency will no 
longer receive a copy of the transaction ticket (credit card voucher). To 
compensate for this loss of control, the Office of the Comptroller 
requested the Agency to audit a sample of credit card transactions on a 
monthly basis. There is no evidence that the Agency has done this.

Recommendation 8.34 The Agency should properly monitor credit card transactions.

Departmental response 8.35 We agree with the recommendation. Staffing problems and the 
ongoing enhancements to the Fleet Management System have caused 
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delays in commencing this activity. We plan to meet the commitment to 
audit credit card transactions in the near future.

Other information - 
possible duplication

8.36 The two DOT Districts we visited keep a manual ledger system 
that records all fuel purchased and consumed within the District. This 
information is also available from the AFS.

8.37 Each morning the Districts print off a fuel report called 
“Abnormal Fuel Issues Report.” The District must assess any 
discrepancies, questionable transactions, etc. Then each District must fax 
this report to Central Office for their analysis and possible instructions. 
Unfortunately these reports are not available directly to Central Office 
staff. There is duplication in that there are two review processes.

Recommendation 8.38 The Agency should re-evaluate these two review processes, 
and the necessity to fax these reports from each District, each day.

Departmental response 8.39 The AFS does not currently provide all the information recorded 
on the manual ledgers in a format suitable for performing required 
reconciliations. The Agency is presently working on an enhancement to 
the AFS which will eliminate the requirement for these manual ledgers.

8.40 When the AFS was first installed, central office was required to 
monitor these reports closely and provide advice on corrective action. 
Since district staff are now better trained, the Agency will stop the 
requirement to fax reports daily. We will reassess this practice should 
problems recur in this area.

Fleet Management System 
(FMS)

8.41 The current fleet management system (FMS) was implemented in 
1985. Significant enhancements have been made to the system since that 
time. Currently, the FMS is installed on the data centre’s mainframe 
computer and is connected to all service delivery locations throughout the 
province. All information is collected and stored in a central location. 
Reports are generated at either Marysville Place or off-site locations and 
distributed to the end users. Data downloads, program maintenance and 
updates to the program are controlled from a central location.

Need to update FMS 8.42 In the late 1980s the Vehicle Management Branch (now the 
Agency) recognized that the FMS was not meeting its needs with respect 
to the quantity and quality of the information being kept. The computer 
language in which the program was written was extremely cumbersome 
and difficult to update. The Branch had updated the program to the point 
where certain features that existed in the original version did not function. 
Future enhancements to these areas would be extremely expensive.

8.43 In December, 1994, a proposal was accepted to develop an 
enhanced fleet management system with more user friendly capabilities. 
The mandate given to the development team was to develop a system that 
could run on a “client server” network. Other criteria were that the 
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program be developed in a technology that can be updated with some ease, 
and that has the capability of providing information as required. The 
Agency selected Oracle Case as the development environment.

8.44 The Agency believes that this “client server” network is the best 
method of meeting the very demanding information needs of the Agency. 
The Agency estimated the total cost to develop the asset, work order and 
administration and billing sub-systems at $600,000. It estimated 
additional costs of software and hardware for the network and the 
development tools at $650,000. These costs will accumulate over the three 
years of the project. The Agency estimated the payback on the project will 
be three to four years based upon the current yearly charges for using the 
main frame program.

8.45 We intend to review these costs and the payback estimate in some 
detail in the future. 

8.46 The DOT Districts have an Asset Usage System they use for 
internal costing of departmental tasks or jobs. Alternatively, the Fleet 
Management System monitors vehicle utilization, fuel consumption, 
repair costs (such as parts, labour, and outside repairs) and capital cost. 
The FMS helps establish user rates that reflect the total costs of operating 
and owning a vehicle.

8.47 In our opinion, there is some duplication in maintaining both 
systems. We encourage the Agency to examine its reporting systems for 
possible duplication. We believe one system can be designed to meet the 
needs of all users.

Departmental comments 8.48 The Asset Usage System is the system used to distribute vehicle 
costs to projects in both ordinary and capital accounts. This is a 
significantly different objective than the Fleet Management System which 
is a management tool for the Vehicle Management Agency to recover costs 
through a chargeback system on a departmental basis. 
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Exhibit 8.1

Summary of Initiatives and Progress 
for Fiscal 1995-96

Summary of Initiatives and Progress

During the 1995-96 fiscal year, the Agency will meet with all clients that use the Agency’s services. The Agency will 
determine the requirements of its clients and priorities for replacement to be included in a three-year plan commencing 
in 1996-97.

The Agency met with its clients and explained the future direction of the SOA. It requested a prioritized list of vehicle 
and equipment needs for the next three years.

The Agency will consider the feasibility of providing a customer service desk to address problems that department 
staff may be having with service; will order vehicles within time frames that coincide with the client’s needs and the 
manufacturer’s schedule; develop a handbook that can be placed in all vehicles outlining the responsibilities of both 
the driver and the Agency and explaining the Agency’s services to all clients; will provide improved access to 
information from the Fleet Management system for clients to obtain vehicle usage, repair and operational information 
on their departmental vehicles; and seek ongoing improvements in all aspects of service delivery.

The Agency is changing its mandate to a client service environment. Therefore, it believes it is moving towards final 
completion of each of these initiatives.

The Agency will analyze the feasibility of establishing a summer or seasonal pool of vehicles for all departments to 
use.

There is an interest in this initiative and a need in the opinion of the Agency. The Agency stated that preliminary 
indications reveal substantial savings may result. The Agency wants to create this pool from vehicles that have some 
service life remaining. Therefore, it believes it may be 2-3 years before it can put this initiative in place.

The Agency will review the Executive Vehicle Policy (for vehicles driven by Ministers, Deputy Ministers and 
Executive Assistants) and make recommendations to government by October 1995 on any changes that may be 
required.

The Agency is currently discussing the development of an Executive Vehicle Policy. 

Beginning this fiscal year and on an ongoing basis, the Agency will develop and monitor the provision of quality 
"client service" in all shops. This will require developing a follow up procedure to ensure all work in the Agency shops 
is completed in a timely manner to the satisfaction of the client; it will include a multiple part work order form so one 
part can be left in the vehicle to show the customer the work that was completed; and initiate a follow up sample 
survey with clients on the services they have received with a summary report provided to each shop.

The Agency is working on these initiatives. A client service pilot project is scheduled to begin in the near future.

The Agency will ensure each shop obtains all warranty work from the manufacturer that is available on new vehicles.

The old FMS does not "flag" the warranty work that well. The new FMS will ensure this initiative is met.

Beginning in 1995, the Agency will place more emphasis on preventative maintenance and the scheduling of repairs. 
The enhanced FMS will identify vehicles that require maintenance in advance and allow managers to schedule work in 
shops. This will reduce expensive repairs, make the best use of staff, increase shop utilization and reduce costs.

This initiative hinges on the introduction of the enhanced FMS.
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Summary of Initiatives and Progress - continued

During 1995-96 the Agency will initiate a program to enhance the Fleet Management System (FMS). It is proposed that 
during this fiscal period that the work order, the asset and the billing subsystem of FMS be developed. By April 1, 1996, 
these subsystems will be ready for testing purposes.

One of these subsystems has been tested. The Agency is working towards completion of the enhanced FMS project.

Beginning in April 1995, the Agency will obtain the appropriate software and hardware requirements for the "client server" 
wide area network for this new version of FMS. The Agency will size and purchase the appropriate equipment (PC’s, 
routers and servers) to setup this network during the 1995-96 and 1996-97 fiscal years. The 1996-97 fiscal year will see the 
new FMS installed at all repair facilities as well as at the Agency’s location. All equipment should be in place for the test 
mode by early 1996-97 fiscal year, with implementation during that same year.

This initiative is ongoing. Computer purchases were not complete at the fiscal year end.

During the 1995-96 fiscal year, all main district repair shops will be connected to the system for E-Mail and other 
electronic communication.

The Agency has not addressed this initiative since hardware purchases are not yet complete.

During 1995-96 the Agency will initiate a program to train all required staff in the use of new electronic technology 
systems.

This initiative is ongoing. Future training in FMS and other electronic systems is imperative.

In 1995-96, the Agency will carry out in each district shop operation, an assessment of work loads and the staffing levels 
required at each work area. A work load/work factor analysis will also be completed by the Agency to protect the necessary 
staffing in the shops. It will be the Agency’s practice to carefully assess staffing needs prior to filling vacancies. Over the 
next 3 years a minimum staffing level criteria will be developed for each shop to help management assess staffing 
requirements and to meet the changing mandate of the Agency.

The Agency completed an assessment of the number of assets assigned to each mechanic for the fiscal year ended 31 March 
1996. The Agency will do additional analysis as information is obtained from the enhanced FMS. It will monitor the results 
over a period of time.

The Agency will initiate a program of management development and technical training during 1995-96, in conjunction 
with that of the Department of Transportation.

This initiative is ongoing. One meeting of Supervisors took place during the fiscal period.

During the 1995-96 fiscal year the Agency will spend $8 million from the Capital Budget program.

This initiative was completed.

The Agency will look at the feasibility of leasing vehicles with the option to buy to meet the immediate needs of the client 
Departments.

The Agency held meetings with various leasing agencies during 1995-96 with the intention of obtaining leases during the 
next fiscal year.

In anticipation of a rate structure change in 1996-97 and the move to a client service environment, the Agency will develop 
during 1995-96 a client lease agreement. This agreement will outline the term of the lease, the fixed costs over the term of 
the lease, expected residual and expected results required from both parties entering the lease agreement.

The Agency worked on this initiative. It determined that a written lease agreement would not be required for government 
departments. However, a written lease may be required when dealing with local service districts or other quasi government 
agencies.
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Background 9.1 The Legislative Assembly approves the financial plans of 
government. The duties imposed on our Office require us to audit the 
results of these plans and report our findings to the Legislative Assembly.

9.2 Our audit work encompasses all financial transactions of 
government. As well, we audit the pension plans and other trust funds and 
special purpose funds.

Scope 9.3 To reach an opinion on the financial statements of the Province, 
we carry out audit work on the major programs and activities in 
departments. In addition, we audit major revenue items and a sample of 
expenditures chosen from all departments. We also test controls 
surrounding centralized systems, to supplement work done at the 
departmental level.

9.4 We take a similar approach to our testing of the Province’s pension 
plans. Our objective in doing this work is to reach an opinion on the 
financial statements of each plan. We also audit certain expenditures 
incurred by the Department of Municipalities, Culture and Housing which 
are cost-shared with the federal government. These expenditures relate to 
various housing programs formerly administered through New Brunswick 
Housing Corporation. Our objective in doing this work is to reach an 
opinion on the financial statements submitted to Canada Mortgage and 
Housing Corporation to support the cost-sharing claims.

9.5 Because of the limited objectives of this type of audit work, it may 
not identify matters which might come to light during a more extensive or 
special examination. However, it often reveals deficiencies or lines of 
enquiry which we might choose to pursue in our broader-scope audit work.

9.6 It is our practice to report our findings to senior officials of the 
departments concerned, and to ask for a response. Some of these findings 
may not be included in this Report, because we do not consider them to be 
of sufficient importance to bring to the attention of the Legislative 
Assembly.

9.7 Our examination of the matters included in this chapter of our 
Report was performed in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards, and accordingly included such tests and other procedures as we 
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considered necessary in the circumstances. The matters reported should not 
be used as a basis for drawing conclusions as to compliance or non-
compliance with respect to matters not reported.

Results in brief 9.8 The consortium of companies running the Province’s data 
centre is working to bring the control procedures at the facility to an 
acceptable standard.

9.9 The Department of Finance expects a new computer system 
will eliminate clerical errors in pension calculations.

9.10 Computer access controls surrounding property tax and 
consumer tax revenues are weak.

9.11 The Department of Municipalities, Culture and Housing is 
slow in collecting surpluses built up by non-profit housing groups.

9.12 Controls over motor vehicle inspection stickers and related 
revenues are weak.

9.13 The computer system at the Department of Justice for the 
Health Services Levy is unreliable.

9.14 Our testing gives us confidence that the Province is accurately 
reporting expenditures in its financial statements.

Provincial Data Centre

Overdue service auditor’s 
report

9.15 On 1 May 1995 a consortium of companies took over the 
responsibility for the operation of the Province’s data centre. The data 
centre provides centralized computer processing services for government. 
The transfer of responsibility marked the completion of one of the first 
privatization initiatives of the government. The Province and the consortium 
signed a master services agreement. This lengthy agreement sets out the 
many details involved in formalizing the transfer of responsibility.

9.16 One aspect of the arrangement which was of interest to us was the 
requirement for an audit of the control procedures at the data centre. Our 
concern for an appropriate level of internal control does not diminish with 
the transfer to the consortium.

9.17 The master services agreement requires the consortium to deliver a 
copy of the service auditor’s report on control procedures at the data centre 
by 31 March 1996. We did not receive a copy of this report and investigated 
to determine the cause of the delay.

9.18 We found that the terms of the agreement had not been followed 
with respect to the report on internal control. We contacted representatives 
of the consortium and requested an explanation for the delay in completing 
the work.
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9.19 They responded:

“Upon taking over the facility on May 1st and evaluating the 
physical environment and necessary renovations required, it 
became apparent that leasehold improvements necessary to 
bring the facility to commercial standards was going to extend 
well beyond three to four months and into 1996. As a result it 
was not possible to engage the services of an auditor to begin 
a review of physical and logical controls of the data centre until 
completion of this work which jeopardized the issue date of 
March 31, 1996 given that a minimum of three to four months 
is normally required for this type of audit under the best of 
conditions.”

9.20 They went on to explain that the auditor had been chosen and had 
issued a report to the consortium following completion of the work which 
started in June 1996. The report identified a number of issues and provided 
recommendations. As for the next step in the process, the consortium 
representatives stated:

“We are now at the stage of the audit where the consortium, in 
conjunction with involvement from the government, must make 
decisions on how to proceed with the recommendations and 
implement necessary improvements to obtain an unqualified 
audit opinion.”

9.21 We have not been informed of any new deadlines set by the 
consortium for the issuance of the service auditor’s report as required by the 
master services agreement. We will continue to monitor the status of the 
outstanding report, and the work of the consortium to bring the data centre 
facility to industry standards.

Losses through fraud, 
default or mistake

9.22 Section 13(2) of the Auditor General Act requires us to report to the 
Legislative Assembly any case where there has been a significant deficiency 
or loss through fraud, default or mistake of any person.

9.23 The following significant losses were incurred in departments and 
agencies:

• Department of Finance
Cash shortages at various revenues offices $2,409

Department of Health and Community Services
• Use of Medicare services by ineligible persons 3,013

Department of Human Resources Development
• Cheques cashed by persons not eligible to

receive the funds 53,864
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9.24 On 20 March 1996, the Standing Committee on Public Accounts 
requested that “the Comptroller do an investigation to determine if in fact 
any government rules or policies have been broken by the people working 
out of the Miramichi Hospital Construction Office.”

9.25 The Comptroller’s Office carried out this work and reported to the 
Standing Committee on Public Accounts in June 1996. It concluded that 
in certain instances government acts, regulations and policies were not 
adhered to. The report noted that actions taken during the construction 
project increased the costs of the project by an estimated $107,702. 
Further, the Department of Supply and Services paid severance to one 
employee which exceeded the terms of his contract by $10,200. The 
report also detailed specific instances of non-compliance with 
government legislation and policies.

Department of Finance

Pension and Insured Benefits 
Branch

Errors in calculating pension 
payments

9.26 In our audit of pension plans for the year ended 31 March 1995 
we discovered a number of clerical errors.

9.27 We tested a sample of twenty-eight new pensioners and found 
errors regarding pension payments for three of them. One pensioner in the 
teachers’ plan began receiving a full pension before reaching the required 
number of years service for the “35 and out” pension category. Another 
pensioner received a slightly overstated monthly pension because a break 
in service was not taken into account in the pension calculation. In the 
third case a pensioner received a slightly understated monthly pension 
because the salary information used to calculate the pension amount was 
not up to date.

Errors in calculating refunds 9.28 We tested a sample of thirteen refunds issued to contributors and 
found three errors.

9.29 In one instance an employee received two refunds of a portion of 
his contributions. This employee received the first refund part way 
through the year. When the employee applied for another refund later in 
the year, the amount refunded included the contributions already refunded 
earlier in the year. The Branch payroll officer gathered year-to-date 
contributions but did not check to determine whether any of these 
contributions had been previously refunded. The refund was overstated by 
$841 plus interest. The Branch commenced correction procedures on the 
overpayment.

9.30 There were two refunds payable from the judges’ pension plan in 
the 1995 fiscal year. Both of these refunds were calculated incorrectly. 
The refund amounts calculated by the Branch were understated by $2,870 
and $596 including interest. These errors occurred because of 
discrepancies between the contribution reports provided by central 
payroll and the amounts recorded by the Branch. We noted that the refund
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 requests were initialled to indicate a review of the calculation was done.

9.31 We were told the underpayments would be corrected and that a 
review would be conducted to ensure the record of contributions for all 
remaining contributors to the judges’ pension plan is accurate.

Error in recording a transfer 
to another pension plan

9.32 We tested six transfers to other pension plans under reciprocal 
arrangements and found that one had been taken out of the incorrect 
pension plan. As a result, $182,261 was withdrawn from the Public 
Service Superannuation Plan rather than the Teachers’ Pension Plan. The 
Branch agreed to prepare the necessary correction.

9.33 We wrote to the Department to indicate our concern with the 
number of errors found in our samples of transactions.

9.34 With the increasing demands on the pension administration 
function it is important that steps be taken to isolate and address the 
causes of the inaccuracies. We requested the Department provide us with 
an action plan to address our concern.

9.35 The Department replied:

“We acknowledge these errors and note that they were all 
human errors, rather than systemic errors. We also share your 
concern with the level of errors found in the sample of 
transactions. There are numerous calculations that must be 
made by staff in determining pensions and refunds, and these 
are different for the various pension contracts.

Our action plan to address these concerns is the 
implementation of the Pensions and Insured Benefits 
Administration (P.I.B.A.) system that we have been developing 
for some time. Release 3 of P.I.B.A. took place on April 23, 
1996. This system will automatically complete the myriad of 
calculations necessary to determine pensions and refunds. The 
element of human error will, for all intents and purposes, be 
eliminated. We look forward to the results of your audit for the 
1996-97 fiscal year as we believe that the system will be both 
fast and accurate.”

Treasury and Debt 
Management Division

No reconciliation of custodial 
reports

9.36 At 31 March 1995, Treasury and Debt Management Division staff 
did not reconcile the custodial reports from Royal Trust and National 
Trust to their portfolio evaluation detail reports. We reconciled the reports 
and found several variances. The most significant of these differences 
consisted of two securities with a total market value of $547,000. These 
were included in the Royal Trust report, however they were not included 
in the Division report totals.
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9.37 We recommended regular reconciliations of the Division 
reports to the custodians’ reports to ensure accuracy of the pension 
plan financial accounts.

9.38 The Department indicated it would take immediate steps to address 
this issue. It pointed out that it relied on the Royal Trust report, which 
contained the correct values, when preparing pension plan financial 
statements.

Property and Consumption 
Taxes

Computer access controls 
weak

9.39 As part of our audit work we looked at the computer access controls 
in both Property Tax and Consumer Tax. The basic control requirements in 
this area are that:

• no one should have custody of an asset (i.e. cash) as well as the 
accounting for that asset;

• the number of people that can change financial data (receivables, 
penalties and interest) should be restricted; and

• changes to financial fields should be adequately controlled and 
supported by applicable documentation.

9.40 Our audit findings indicated the following weaknesses:

• the numbers of persons having access to all levels within the tax 
system have increased significantly from 1994;

• user manuals have not kept up with the changes in screens and provide 
little guidance on who should have access to what screens;

• one critical screen that affects the relationship of the property tax 
system to the Province’s financial information system is now 
accessible to nine people (up from 5) including two people assigned to 
Collections, Compliance and Tax Audit, a contracted systems 
development expert and a retired employee. It is questionable as to 
whether anyone needs access to this screen on an ongoing basis;

• a screen that posts payments to accounts is accessible to 26 persons 
including the ones mentioned above; and

• assessor access to screens permitting changes to assessments to be 
made without documentation or review have increased from 16 to 78 
in the last two years.

9.41 In order to strengthen access controls we recommended the 
following:

• a listing of all screens that can alter financial data (i.e. 
assessments, revenue, receivables, interest and penalties) should 
be produced; and

• the persons needing access to these screens on an ongoing basis 
should be determined and access should be limited to these 
persons.
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9.42 In addition, we recommended a policy on who may have 
access to each screen be developed and updated whenever changes in 
job duties occur. Access should be limited to as few employees as 
possible.

9.43 We reported our findings to both the Department of Finance and the 
New Brunswick Geographic Information Corporation (NBGIC). NBGIC is 
responsible for property tax assessments. Both organizations indicated that 
action will be taken to correct the weaknesses we identified. Both also 
indicated that reorganizations of staff and responsibilities have contributed 
to the increased level of access to information during the time of transition.

Miramichi property tax bills 
late

9.44 We noted that Miramichi was allowed to make a change to the tax 
rate after the deadline. As a result, tax bills had to be cancelled and new 
ones printed. Taxpayers were allowed extra time to pay the bill as a result of 
the late billing. According to our calculations this change cost the Province 
in excess of $350,000 in lost interest and extra processing costs. We asked 
the Department to advise us how a situation such as this will be avoided in 
the future.

9.45 The Department responded:

“In regards to the situation that occurred with the late billing 
of property taxes for Miramichi City in the spring of 1995, as 
a result of the amalgamation and establishment of a new city 
council, the tax rates could not be approved in time for the usual 
March billing. A committee has been formed of officials from 
the Revenue Division, NBGIC and the Department of 
Municipalities, Culture and Housing. The mandate of this 
committee is to meet on a regular basis to discuss any upcoming 
changes, joint issues or concerns. This should result in more 
advanced awareness to prepare all parties for possible 
developments in sufficient time to react accordingly.”

Department of 
Municipalities, Culture and 
Housing

9.46 During the year we audited the books and records of the 
Department of Municipalities, Culture and Housing (MCH) for those 
programs cost-shared with Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 
(CMHC). In the course of our audit we made a number of observations that 
we have summarized below.

Surpluses held by non-profit 
housing projects

9.47 Each non-profit housing project funded through MCH must submit 
an annual audited financial statement within four months of the fiscal year 
end. If the non-profit project has had a surplus for the year, it is obligated to 
return the surplus funds to MCH.

9.48 These surpluses are not recorded as revenue until the cash is 
actually received. MCH does not set up these unpaid surpluses as accounts 
receivable. It does, however, keep a record of the outstanding amounts.
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9.49 MCH files showed total outstanding surpluses of $439,000 at 
31 March 1996. This was an increase over the $300,000 outstanding at the 
end of the previous year. In effect, MCH is providing an additional subsidy 
to the non-profit organizations that do not promptly repay their surpluses. In 
one example, we noted the balance sheet of a non-profit organization 
showed an investment portfolio of approximately $18,500, almost exactly 
equivalent to the accumulated surplus due to MCH.

9.50 We recommended that MCH develop improved collection 
procedures for surpluses due from non-profit housing groups.

Non-profit projects - review of 
audited financial statements

9.51 We continue to be concerned about the lack of timeliness of 
submission of non-profit housing project financial statements.

9.52 We noted last year that one hundred and six statements were 
overdue as of late August, 1995. Ninety-eight of these statements related to 
either 31 December 1994 or 31 March 1995 year ends and eight related to 
31 March 1994 year ends. The ninety-eight overdue statements represented 
59% of the total of one hundred and sixty-six statements for fiscal 1995 that 
were due at the time of our review. This year we noted forty-seven were 
overdue as of September 1996. We did not note any undue delays in the 
statement review process once the statements had been received by the 
Department.

9.53 We recommended MCH continue action to improve the 
timeliness of the submission of audited financial statements to the 
Department by non-profit project administrators.

Regions may need guidelines 
on application of sales tax

9.54 We tested 25 items for correct application of sales tax. We found the 
following problems:

• GST was charged on an invoice, although the Province of New 
Brunswick is GST exempt;

• no PST (provincial sales tax) was charged on an invoice when it 
appears it should have been;

• GST was charged on an invoice but no PST was charged on the same 
invoice when it should have been;

• PST was omitted from an invoice but it was not clear whether it 
should have been.

9.55 Since PST is an eligible cost claimable from CMHC, the 
Department should be vigilant to ensure all appropriate charges include 
PST. Conversely, staff should ensure vendors are aware that the Department 
is GST exempt.

9.56 We recommended regions be given appropriate guidance on 
the application of sales tax. Sufficient monitoring should occur to 
ensure the tax is appropriately applied.
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Sharing of information on 
Rent Supplement program 
tenant income

9.57 Thirty out of forty tenant files sampled relied exclusively on a letter 
from the Department of Human Resources Development (HRD) to confirm 
tenant income. There is much to be gained both for the tenant and the 
Department by on line information exchange about tenant income. We 
understand this issue has been discussed in connection with the new systems 
development project at HRD. In the interim, however, we suggested it 
would help if the Department’s regional offices could access HRD client 
income information directly.

Public Housing Program 
ineligible costs

9.58 Our major audit finding in the Public Housing program was the 
claiming of what appeared to be ineligible costs. Our audit engagement 
letter states that eligible operating costs do not include the cost of providing 
health services. Two of our sample items, however, were for services from 
the VON - the Victorian Order of Nurses.

9.59 Further inquiry revealed that VON has been assessing the mental as 
well as the physical health of seniors in these public housing units for many 
years. These expenditures are recorded as a security expense, the rationale 
being that the regions regard these assessments as crucial to the security of 
the unit and other tenants.

9.60 The VON expenses included in shareable costs for 1995 were 
$216,000. The Department advised us that the regions are discussing with 
VON what part of their services are health versus security related in order to 
come up with a proposed ratio. When this ratio is determined, CMHC will 
be informed and the issue resolved. The Department will make any required 
adjustments in the 1996 - 97 cost sharing claims.

Public Housing Program 
administration costs

9.61 Although the Public Housing program does not have a set rate for 
administration costs, it does have a 6% ceiling for total administration costs. 
We noted that this year administration costs exceeded this 6% limit. The 
Department recorded excess administration charges of $145,070 which 
were subsequently paid by CMHC.

9.62 We recommended the Department discuss this issue with 
CMHC officials and obtain written confirmation of eligibility of the 
1995-96 charges.

Department of 
Transportation

Motor Vehicle Division

Weak controls over inspection 
sticker inventory

9.63 Our audit work in the Motor Vehicle Division of the Department 
included a review of internal controls in place over revenues received and 
inventories of such things as inspection stickers.

9.64 Controls over inspection sticker inventory and revenue could be 
improved. We understand there have been instances where stickers have 
been sent to inspection stations by courier and the inspection stations 
claimed that the stickers were never received. The courier had no record of 
the stickers and new stickers had to be reissued to the station.
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9.65 Stickers are also issued to inspectors. The inspectors sell the 
stickers to inspection stations and remit the revenue received to head office. 
Inspectors are permitted to destroy all remaining sticker inventory at the end 
of the year. We found there were no reconciliations being performed 
between the amount of revenue received from the inspectors and the number 
of stickers issued.

9.66 We recommended better control be kept over the issuance and 
destruction of stickers. Lost or stolen items should be reported and 
monitored. Head office should reconcile revenues to stickers issued. 
Inspectors should be required to return unused stickers to head office 
at the end of the year.

9.67 We also noted lack of segregation of duties in the motor vehicle 
inspection area. One person was responsible for receiving and issuing 
stickers, receiving and recording payments, keeping custody of unissued 
stickers and depositing cash received.

9.68 We recommended a second employee be responsible for a 
reconciliation of stickers sold to revenues earned. This person should 
also be responsible for the destruction of the year end inspection 
sticker inventory.

9.69 The Department agreed to implement our recommendations.

Missing signatures on 
documents

9.70 We noted instances where reports to head office had not been signed 
by a responsible person in the revenue or service office, or at the police 
station. We also noted that the regional offices were not signing the proper 
receiving documents when they received inventory.

9.71 We recommended that all documents be signed by a 
responsible official.

9.72 The Department agreed to re-emphasize the need to properly 
complete all documentation.

Department of Health and 
Community Services

Third Party Recoveries

9.73 The Department, through its legislation, can recover medical, 
hospital and social services incurred in treating individuals injured in motor 
vehicle and other non-workplace related accidents. In 1993, the Province 
imposed the Health Services Levy on each vehicle insured in the Province. 
This replaced a system of collection where each case was recovered on an 
individual basis. The recoveries made through the levy are intended to 
approximate the cost of health services provided to individuals involved in 
motor vehicle accidents. The amount charged on each vehicle insured in the 
Province is based on actuarial calculations. At the time of our audit the levy 
recoveries related only to the health costs of the innocent party. All other 
third party recoveries are still recovered on an individual basis. The change 
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to the levy system was implemented in order to reduce the administration 
costs incurred in pursuing collections on a case by case basis.

Need to review actuarial 
assumptions

9.74 The actuarial reports used to determine the base rate for the Levy 
contained several assumptions. While we are not challenging these 
assumptions, we noted that sometimes the assumptions were based on very 
little supporting documentation. We also realize that these assumptions 
were based on the best available information at that time.

9.75 We recommended the Department continue to revisit these 
assumptions and as well consider a reconciliation of costs incurred to 
revenues earned through the Levy in future. Since legislation allows 
for a recovery of the cost of these services it is important to ensure the 
Levy approximates actual cost.

9.76 The Department agreed to take action on this recommendation, 
while stating “it is our opinion that we are using the best information 
currently available and that there is a sound basis for our current figures.”

Department of Justice 
Insurance Branch computer 
system inadequate

9.77 We noted several instances where transactions entered into the 
computer system at the Department of Justice, Insurance Branch, were 
observed to have changed entry dates without explanation. This caused 
remittances to be included in the wrong year. This could also have 
potentially caused several insurance companies to obtain 1994 adjustment 
refunds when no refund was due. Also, amounts refunded to insurers are not 
entered into the system. A credit is entered when a refund is due but there is 
no amount to offset this credit when payment is refunded. Therefore, it 
appears that amounts are still due to these insurers. There was an instance 
where staff in the Department of Health could not get information they 
required from the system and therefore the Department of Justice had to use 
their system consultant. There is a charge from the consultant every time a 
request is made. There appears to be a lack of trust in the system and as a 
result many tasks are done both by the system and manually. This is an 
inefficient use of resources.

9.78 We recommended the system in place be reviewed and 
updated to ensure accurate and readily usable data is produced. This 
should restore confidence in the system and increase efficiency.

9.79 The Department of Justice indicated they would be meeting with 
the Department of Health and Community Services to review Insurance 
Branch procedures.

9.80 We also made recommendations to both the Department of 
Health and Community Services and the Department of Justice to 
improve cash handling and internal controls. The departments agreed 
with these recommendations.
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General expenditure test 
results

9.81 As discussed under “Scope”, we select for testing a sample of 
expenditures from all government departments. This sample is selected 
using statistical sampling techniques. The approach is designed to give us 
confidence that, in total, provincial expenditures reported on the financial 
statements are correct in all material respects. We were able to reach that 
conclusion.

9.82 Our tests are not just designed to reveal monetary errors, of which 
there are few. We also check to ensure the expenditure is properly 
approved, is reasonable in the circumstances and complies with the 
legislation, regulations and policies which give authority to the 
transaction. We find more deficiencies in these areas. When we suspect a 
deficiency is more than just an isolated incident, we may schedule 
additional audit work in that particular area to confirm or deny our 
suspicions. This additional work may take place in a subsequent audit 
year.

9.83 The following are examples of deficiencies noted in our 1996 audit 
of expenditures:

• individuals who are not on approved signing authority lists but who 
are signing documents (2 items);

• individuals signing documents to approve spending in excess of the 
dollar limit of their authority (4 items);

• documents not signed or initialled to indicate accuracy or approval    
(6 items);

• possible violations of the Public Purchasing Act regarding tendering 
(we will follow up on these in the current year) (4 items); and

• insufficient documentation to support an expenditure (5 items).

9.84 In addition to the above, our testing raised a number of broader 
issues which we will pursue as resources permit. We intend to examine 
expenditures through the Environmental Trust Fund. We found one 
example where the Fund advanced money to the Regional Development 
Corporation’s Special Operating Agency; the legislation requires the Fund 
to “reimburse” money rather than make an advance payment.

9.85 We must re-emphasize that the Province spends in excess of 
$4 billion each year. The instances referred to in this chapter of our Report 
represent a tiny fraction of these expenditures. No large organization can 
operate perfectly, all the time. Errors can occur, and mistakes can be 
made. By far the overwhelming majority of transactions processed by the 
Province are accurate, authentic and in compliance with established 
policies and legislation. Our role is to ensure that this continues to be the 
case, and to encourage departments and agencies in their task.
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Background 10.1 Why is the Office of the Auditor General interested in corporate 
governance at New Brunswick Crown corporations? As you know from 
reading our mission statement or reviewing our past Reports, we feel that 
promoting accountability is the most important part of our mandate. 
Crown corporation boards, properly employed, are the accountability link 
between management of the individual Crown corporations and the 
government. To fulfil our mandate of promoting accountability for Crown 
corporations, we need to assure ourselves that Crown corporation boards 
are effectively fulfilling the governance role that has been assigned to 
them by the government of the Province of New Brunswick.

10.2 But what is corporate governance? Corporate governance for 
Crown corporations can be defined as the process and structure used to 
direct and manage the business and affairs of a Crown corporation with the 
objective of achieving the corporate mandate, which includes ensuring the 
financial viability of the business. The process and structure define the 
division of power and establish mechanisms for achieving accountability 
between the government, the board of directors and management. The 
direction and management of the business should take into account the 
impact on other stakeholders such as employees, customers, suppliers and 
communities. (See The Toronto Stock Exchange Committee on Corporate 
Governance in Canada, “Where Were The Directors? Guidelines for 
Improved Corporate Governance in Canada,” December 1994.)

10.3 CCAF/FCVI Inc. (formerly the Canadian Comprehensive 
Auditing Foundation) has developed a list of the characteristics of 
effective boards. If a board truly exemplifies these characteristics, it will 
be providing effective governance and accountability. According to 
CCAF/FCVI Inc., effective boards

• are comprised of people with the necessary knowledge, ability and 
commitment to fulfil their responsibilities;

• understand their purposes and whose interests they represent;
• understand their objectives and strategies of the organization they 

govern;
• know and obtain the information they require to exercise their 

responsibilities;
• once informed, are prepared to act to ensure that the organization’s 

objectives are met and that performance is satisfactory; and
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• fulfil their accountability obligations to those whose interests they 
represent by reporting on their organization’s performance.

10.4 Why is corporate governance important to Crown corporations? 
Unlike private corporations, Crown corporations often have service-
related mandates. Even where their main objective is to create profits for 
public use, they are often assigned conflicting public policy goals that 
restrict their ability to meet their primary goal. Measurement of the degree 
of success in achieving their missions, then, is much more difficult than 
for profit-driven private corporations. Crown corporation boards that are 
serious about accurately assessing and communicating the degree of 
success of their organizations in achieving their missions must ensure that 
effective governance structures, processes, and accountability reporting 
arrangements exist to allow them to do this. 

10.5 What difference does it really make to the Legislative Assembly 
and the public? Where Crown corporations are effectively governed, they 
will be providing the Legislative Assembly with the information it needs 
to determine the degree to which they have achieved their mission, an 
important legislative control. On the other hand, when governance and 
accountability structures are weak, the Legislative Assembly must 
question the validity of assertions made concerning the results achieved 
by a Crown corporation.

Scope 10.6 We have two goals for our work on Crown corporation 
governance. The first is to evaluate and recommend improvements related 
to specific Crown corporation boards. Our second, a more long-range 
goal, is to develop a suggested governance model which may be applied to 
New Brunswick Crown corporations. The work required to accomplish 
our goals will be conducted over the next few years. 

10.7 We had two goals for our work on this project during this past 
year. First, we wanted to do a general review of the state of governance for 
Crown corporations in the Province of New Brunswick. Second, we 
wanted to develop criteria to be used in assessing the effectiveness of 
governance structures and the level of accountability within specific 
Crown corporations. Therefore, our review this year was purposely broad 
and arranged to allow us to evaluate the validity and utility of the criteria 
developed for this project. A list of those criteria follows. 

• Boards of Crown corporations should be comprised of people with the 
necessary knowledge, ability, commitment, and level of independence 
to fulfil their responsibilities.

• Boards of Crown corporations should have a clear understanding of 
their roles, responsibilities and duties, and the accountability structure 
within which they operate.

• Boards of Crown corporations should develop and maintain sufficient 
expertise relative to the Crown corporation which they govern 
including a working knowledge of the environment in which the 
corporation operates and the needs of its customers.
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• Boards of Crown corporations should provide strategic direction to 
their corporation, along with a policy framework within which 
management may operate.

• Boards of Crown corporations should monitor the performance of the 
Crown corporation by obtaining appropriate governance information 
from management. This information should allow the board to assure 
itself that board policies have been complied with and to enable it to 
assess the degree to which the corporation has achieved its mission 
and strategic goals.

• Boards of Crown corporations should ensure that sufficient, relevant 
information is reported, through the Minister responsible, to allow the 
government and the Legislative Assembly to determine the degree to 
which the corporation has achieved its mission. 

10.8 We selected a number of New Brunswick Crown corporations for 
preliminary review. These included the New Brunswick Geographic 
Information Corporation, the New Brunswick Liquor Corporation, the 
New Brunswick Power Corporation, the New Brunswick Research and 
Productivity Council, the Workplace Health, Safety, and Compensation 
Commission, Provincial Holdings Ltd., and the Regional Development 
Corporation. 

10.9 We conducted interviews with the Chief Executive Officer(CEO) 
of each of these entities. During those interviews we asked a series of 
questions related to governance and accountability structures and 
processes within the organization. We reviewed recent board minutes and 
other pertinent documentation for each of the entities. In addition, we sent 
governance surveys to three directors from each of the first five entities 
listed above in order to obtain their input.

Results in brief 10.10 The criteria as developed and listed above appear to be 
sufficient to allow for the effective evaluation of governance structures 
and processes within New Brunswick Crown corporations. They will 
be used in evaluating individual Crown corporations. 

10.11 Our general review of the state of Crown corporation 
governance and accountability in the Province of New Brunswick 
indicated a great deal of variance in governance structures, processes, 
and accountability reporting arrangements in the Crown 
corporations under review. Additionally, directors have indicated 
through their survey responses that there are some changes that could 
be made to improve Crown corporation governance and 
accountability.

Findings

Classification of Crown 
corporations

10.12 Through a review of pertinent Canadian and international 
literature on governance, we have determined that Crown corporation 
boards may be classified into three basic groups. These classifications are 
based on the degree to which the board has the power to direct and set 
policy for its Crown corporation. Determining the identity of the 
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“directing mind” of the corporation is necessary in order to properly 
classify a board. Very simply, the “directing mind” of a Crown corporation 
is the individual or group who has the power to set key policies for the 
Crown corporation. The three classifications of Crown corporation boards 
follow.

• “Governing boards” are boards that have total authority and total 
accountability for all corporate activity, within the organizational 
framework. Such boards are the true “directing minds” of their Crown 
corporations. Crown corporation boards classified as governing 
boards are the equivalent of private sector boards of directors.

• “Administrative management boards” are boards whose function is to 
oversee the efficiency of delivery of decided services. Although they 
may make binding resolutions in certain areas, they are also 
responsible for implementing policy decisions made by the “directing 
mind” of the corporation. Also, in some cases they may be required to 
consult with the “directing mind” of the Crown corporation when 
making decisions on certain key matters. The “directing mind” for 
administrative management boards is usually the responsible 
government Minister.

• “Advisory boards” are boards whose function is to give counsel, not to 
govern. These can be distinguished from administrative management 
boards in that they are not normally able to make binding resolutions. 
They simply make recommendations to decision-makers.

10.13 As mentioned above, we chose seven Crown corporations for an 
initial review. Review procedures included an interview with the 
president/CEO and a review of documentation for each organization. At 
that point, we chose to classify selected boards before surveying directors. 
Our classifications could not be exact based upon our limited review. We 
found that five of the seven boards fit somewhere in the continuum 
between “administrative management boards” and “governing boards”. 
While each of those five boards do have some degree of autonomy, we 
also noted that they are all, in some measure, under the direction of a 
responsible government Minister. The other two boards appeared to be 
advisory in nature. They are discussed below.

10.14 Provincial Holdings Ltd. (PHL), upon review, appears to be 
simply a satellite of the Department of Economic Development and 
Tourism. All decisions made by the PHL board must be ratified by Board 
of Management prior to action being taken, and the staff of PHL is simply 
staff of the Department of Economic Development and Tourism acting on 
behalf of the PHL board. Therefore, we feel the PHL board is properly 
classified as an advisory board.

10.15 The board of the Regional Development Corporation(RDC) is 
composed entirely of departmental deputy ministers who are acting on
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behalf of their departments, mainly in an interdepartmental coordination 
role. In addition, there is a minister accountable to the Legislative 
Assembly for the activities of RDC. It would therefore appear that the 
RDC board is also an advisory board.

10.16 Since this project is concerned with governance issues, we have 
limited the discussion of our findings to the five boards we consider to 
have at least some governance responsibilities. Provincial Holdings Ltd. 
and the Regional Development Corporation have been excluded from the 
information that follows. Our final review procedure for this year was to 
send a board governance survey to a sample of three directors from each 
of the five boards. The eleven anonymous replies that we received have 
been incorporated into our findings. All survey responses were destroyed 
after tabulation was completed.

Presentation of findings 10.17 We have arranged the discussion of our preliminary findings by 
criteria. In attempting to evaluate the utility of these criteria in carrying 
out a governance assessment we have included sub-headings under each 
criteria as appropriate. We have not attempted to interpret the information 
presented. That will be done for selected individual Crown corporations as 
part of the second phase of this project. 

10.18 At the time of our interviews with the CEOs, we became aware of 
some ongoing governance initiatives in certain of the Crown corporations 
under review. Our findings reflect only information presented to us by 
May, 1996.

Criteria #1 10.19 Boards of Crown corporations should be comprised of people 
with the necessary knowledge, ability, commitment, and level of 
independence to fulfil their responsibilities.

Characteristics of directors 10.20 All eleven directors responding to our survey indicated that they 
had had previous experience serving on a board of directors in either the 
public or private sector. 

10.21 When asked to evaluate the current composition of their boards, 
respondents gave the following feedback.
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Exhibit 10.1

 Characteristics of directors 
(Source: directors’ survey)

Independence of directors 10.22 Unrelated directors can be defined as directors who are not 
members of management of the corporation or employees of the Province 
of New Brunswick. Among the directors of the five Crown corporations 
we surveyed, forty-six of forty-eight board members were unrelated. This 
excludes the five CEOs who are ex-officio members of their respective 
boards. All committees were also composed of a majority of unrelated 
directors.

Directors’ involvement in the 
appointment process for new 
board members

10.23 In some of the corporations reviewed, we were informed that the 
chair of the board was involved in the appointment process. However, 
eight of the nine directors who responded to the statement, “Our board has 
an adequate role in the selection of new board members,” either disagreed 
with it or were not sure if it was the case. One director stated, “Given that 
the board will be held accountable for its actions, I believe we should 
have significant input. If we do not have absolute authority we should be 
asked for recommendations with supporting rationale.” Other respondents 
supported the view that directors should have at least some input into who 
is appointed to their boards.

10.24 Directors also indicated some concern regarding their involvement 
in the selection of board chairs. In the survey, directors were asked to 
evaluate the statement, “Our board has an adequate role in the selection of 
the board chair.” Five of the nine directors who responded indicated that 
they felt they should have a greater role in the selection of their chair. 
Suggestions ranged from, “We should definitely be selecting the 
chairperson” to “...If the board does not have some input on selection, 
then once appointed the board should provide feedback annually so as to 
have the ability to get rid of {the chair}.”

Development of potential 
board member profiles by 
current directors

10.25 Because the five boards reviewed have not traditionally had much 
input into the appointment process for new members, such model profiles 
have never been developed. However, responses to our survey indicate that 
directors have strong opinions as to what personal attributes good board 

On our board there is a good 
mix of:

Agree Disagree or not 
sure

Experience and knowledge ten one

Length of service ten one

Skills and abilities nine two

Demographic representation 
(age, gender, ethnicity)

six five

Special-interest group 
representation

three eight

Geographic representation ten one
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members should possess. “General business knowledge” was considered 
the most important attribute, followed by “prior board experience” and 
“related industry experience.” “Known political affiliation” was rated “not 
important” by all eleven directors. Respondents also mentioned “good 
judgment” and “a sincere interest in the business of the Crown 
corporation” as important. The comment was made that “although {many 
of the personal attributes} are more or less important it is essential that 
there is a proper mix of expertise.”

Board vacancies 10.26 Board vacancies did not seem to be a problem for the boards we 
reviewed.

Board size 10.27 The boards of the five corporations with governing boards ranged 
in size from seven to fifteen members including the CEO. All eleven 
directors indicated that the size of their board was about right. 

Director conflict of interest 10.28 Conflict-of-interest guidelines vary between the five corporations 
from explicit coverage in the enabling Act, to coverage in a code of ethics, 
to an informal understanding among board members as to what is 
acceptable.

Board self-assessments of 
performance

10.29 Ten of the eleven directors felt that “Evaluating the performance 
of the board” was either somewhat important or very important. However, 
from our interviews it seems that the boards’ self-evaluation is currently 
limited to general discussions at the board table. No formal, documented 
self-evaluations have taken place.

Criteria #2 10.30 Boards of Crown corporations should have a clear 
understanding of their roles, responsibilities and duties, and the 
accountability structure within which they operate.

Orientation sessions for new 
directors

10.31 Seven of the eleven directors indicated that they had received 
some form of orientation when they were appointed to their board. Four 
indicated they had not. Topics covered during those orientation sessions 
are detailed in the table below.
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Exhibit 10.2

Orientation session topics covered 
(Source:  directors’ survey)

Knowledge of general 
governance issues

10.32 When asked to identify governance-related literature with which 
they were familiar, the respondents noted the following documents.

Exhibit 10.3

Known governance documents 
(Source: directors’ survey)

10.33 Some directors also noted that they have attended presentations 
related to corporate governance.

                                                                              
Topic area presented

Number of times 
mentioned

Government policies and practices affecting 
Crown corporations

five

The relationship of the Crown corporation to 
government

six

Your conduct as a director (e.g. fiduciary 
duties, duty of care, conflict of interest)

five

Your role and responsibilities as a director six

The business operations of the corporation seven

Background on the industry the Crown 
corporation operates in

seven

How the board is structured and how it 
operates

five

Other (e.g. information on governance, major 
development issues, etc.)

four

                                                              
Governance document

Number of times 
mentioned

CCAF/FCVI Inc. - Six Principles of 
Effective Governance

one

Toronto Stock Exchange - Guidelines for 
Improved Corporate Governance in Canada

three

Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants 
- Guidance for Directors: Governance 
Processes For Control

three

John Carver’s governance model as 
documented in “Boards that Make a 
Difference”

four

Other documents two
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Enabling legislation 10.34 We reviewed enabling legislation for each of the five Crown 
corporations. Generally, legislation is very broad and does not clearly 
define roles and responsibilities in any detail. In some cases, boards have 
taken steps to try to clarify their roles and responsibilities through by-laws 
or policies. In other cases, board roles and responsibilities have not been 
documented. We did not note anything in the enabling legislation we 
reviewed that would unduly restrict the board in fulfilling its key roles as 
defined in the previous section.

By-laws 10.35 All five corporations either have adequate by-laws and/or policies 
covering administrative aspects of their board’s operations or are in the 
process of drafting them.

Job descriptions for the board 
and individual directors

10.36 Job descriptions have been prepared in certain of the corporations 
we reviewed and we noted at least one additional case where job 
descriptions were being prepared at the time of our review. Other 
corporations had no documented job descriptions for board members.

Terms of reference for board 
committees

10.37 The five corporations we reviewed had a total of sixteen board 
committees between them. Of those, fifteen had documented terms of 
reference and the one that did not had been assigned a very simple 
mandate by its board. The majority of directors responding to our survey 
indicated that, in their opinion, each committee understands what is 
expected of it.

Directors’ understanding of 
their roles, responsibilities and 
accountabilities

10.38 Directors provided the following feedback with regard to their 
understanding of the roles, responsibilities and accountabilities of their 
board through their survey responses. Of the eleven directors, nine agreed 
with the statement “I have sufficient information as to my duties and 
personal responsibilities as a director.”

10.39 A majority of the directors responding felt that the following 
items are very important to the role of their board in overseeing the 
direction of the corporation.

• Setting strategic direction and goals
• Selecting the CEO
• Evaluating the performance of the CEO
• Setting significant policies by which the corporation operates
• Ensuring that the corporation has adequate resources
• Monitoring the achievement of goals and objectives
• Ensuring effective management information systems are in place
• Bringing an external viewpoint to the corporation’s attention
• Evaluating the performance of the board
• Ensuring accountability obligations are discharged

10.40 Directors responding to the survey felt the top three interests they 
must represent as board members were those of the corporation,
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 those of the customers of their corporation, and those of the public at 
large.

10.41 Regarding accountability relationships, directors most often 
mentioned stakeholder groups, the Minister responsible, Cabinet, the 
public, and the Legislative Assembly as being individuals or organizations 
to whom they are accountable. Many indicated that they have multiple 
accountabilities.

10.42 Eight of the eleven respondents felt the following statement 
applied to their board. “Compared to private and non-profit boards, boards 
of Crown corporations typically face a unique environment, characterized 
by having to share authority, responsibility and direction-setting with 
various government bodies, and having to work within the ambiguities 
arising out of this complex mix.” One director stated “Sometimes 
government interference causes a credibility problem for the board with 
its stakeholders. Also some boards think they do not have to be 
accountable to government. There must be more of a partnership 
approach.” Another commented “Maybe it is naive of me but I was 
surprised to find out that the government would make a decision affecting 
{my corporation} without notifying the board first.”

Criteria #3 10.43 Boards of Crown corporations should develop and maintain 
sufficient expertise relative to the Crown corporation which they 
govern including a working knowledge of the environment in which 
the corporation operates and the needs of its customers.

Developmental opportunities 
for directors

10.44 Nine of the eleven directors surveyed indicated that they had been 
provided with some form of developmental opportunities, for example 
workshops or information sessions, within the past two years. Much of the 
information provided related to industry-specific topics, and in certain 
cases was a regularly-scheduled part of board meetings. One respondent 
referred to having received information on the “role of boards and board 
members, accountability.” 

Circulation of board meeting 
materials

10.45 From our interviews with the CEOs, it appears that the 
corporations we reviewed send out board meeting materials to directors 
from seven to ten days in advance of board meetings.

Criteria #4 10.46 Boards of Crown corporations should provide strategic 
direction to their corporation, along with a policy framework within 
which management may operate.

Boards’ understanding of the 
Province’s wishes regarding 
the strategic direction of their 
corporations

10.47 Among the eleven directors who responded to the survey, five 
agreed that the government’s expectations as to the strategic direction of 
the corporation had been provided to the board and the corporate strategic 
plan had been approved by the government. Three disagreed, and three 
were not sure. 
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Board policy-making 10.48 Boards reviewed varied widely in terms of the type and level of 
policies they make. Certain boards are heavily involved in setting policy 
for all aspects of their organization; other boards restrict themselves to 
setting only very high-level policies or do not set policy at all, preferring 
to govern through corporate by-laws. 

Mission statements and other 
strategic documents

10.49 Nine of the eleven respondents agreed that the purpose of their 
corporation had been translated into a clear mission statement. From our 
review we noted that all five corporations had either a mission statement 
or organizational statement of principles. Certain of the Crown 
corporations had also developed statements of values, lists of high-level 
corporate objectives, and multi-year business plans.

Board decision-making 10.50 Respondents were divided as to the importance of their board 
making all critical business decisions in overseeing the direction of the 
corporation. Five felt it was very important for them to do this. Five more 
felt it was somewhat important, and one did not think it was an important 
role for the board.

Criteria #5 10.51 Boards of Crown corporations should monitor the 
performance of the Crown corporation by obtaining appropriate 
governance information from management. This information should 
allow the board to assure itself that board policies have been complied 
with and to enable it to assess the degree to which the corporation has 
achieved its mission and strategic goals.

Information provided to the 
board by management

10.52 From our review, it appears that a significant amount of financial 
and operating information is provided to the directors of all five Crown 
corporations. However, we will need to do further assessments to 
determine if the information presented is sufficient to allow directors to 
evaluate management’s success in achieving corporate objectives, while 
staying within board policy guidelines.

CEO performance evaluation 
by the board

10.53 With one exception, CEOs are not subject to regular, formal 
evaluations of their performance by boards or their representatives.

Criteria #6 10.54 Boards of Crown corporations should ensure that sufficient, 
relevant information is reported, through the Minister responsible, to 
allow the government and the Legislative Assembly to determine the 
degree to which the corporation has achieved its mission.

Accountability information 
provided by boards

10.55 Directors were divided on whether their boards had developed 
guidelines on the information to be provided to each group to whom they 
are accountable. Five directors agreed that this had been done, four 
disagreed, and two were not sure. However eight of the eleven directors 
felt that the accountability information provided is sufficient to allow an 
evaluation of how well the corporation has performed. The other three 
directors were not sure if the information was sufficient.
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10.56 From a review of the annual reports of the five Crown 
corporations, we noted only one is currently presenting effectiveness 
information as required in the annual report policy for departments and 
Crown agencies of the Province of New Brunswick.

10.57 Our Office continues to monitor the degree of compliance with the 
annual report policy for departments and Crown agencies of the Province 
of New Brunswick. It was reported on in detail in the Report of the 
Auditor General for the year ended 31 March 1994.

Conclusion 10.58 The criteria as developed appear to be sufficient to evaluate the 
effectiveness of individual Crown corporations’ governance structures and 
processes and the degree of accountability provided. We are now able to 
proceed with our evaluation of specific Crown corporations.

Further work 10.59 In the coming year, we will be selecting certain of the New 
Brunswick Crown corporations for detailed governance reviews. Our 
findings will be presented in next year’s Report.
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• Stakeholder Analysis
• Current Employee Status
• Commercial and Financial Evaluation
• Economic Development Impact
• Social Policy, Environmental Impact
• Policy Review Standards and Practices
• Contractual and Legal Review
• Conclusions/Recommended Course of Action, and
• Communications Strategy.

11.15 Part B of the detailed plan deals with evaluation of proposals. The 
required documentation is similar to Part A with two additional 
requirements, as follows:

• Recommended Approach to Implementation, and
• Monitoring and Evaluation.

11.16 An important aspect of any initiative is a post evaluation of it to 
see if planned results have in fact been achieved and what lessons can be 
learned from its successes or failures. The monitoring and evaluation 
required under Part B of the detailed plan addresses this area. We want to 
ensure success measures have been established for the initiative, if the 
initiative has been objectively evaluated against these measures and 
whether the results of this evaluation is adequately communicated to 
decision makers.

11.17 Medicare Administration and the Data Centre privatization 
initiative appear to be good candidates for review in the coming years.
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Exhibit 11.1

Privatization and Public-Private Partnership Projects
Summarization of Status Reports

Completed Project Description

Advanced Education and Labour 

    - Projects completed 3

    - Projects in process 6
    - Projects deemed unsuitable 5

Community Academic Services 
Program-CASPs

Language Training Services

Private Sector Training

Literacy training through Literacy 
New Brunswick, Inc

Privatization of language training for 
government employees. Contract has 
been signed with Memramcook 
Institute effective July 1, 1995.

A corporation was set up in order to 
promote and market N.B. training 
outside the Province. Effective July, 
1994.

Agriculture and Rural Development

    - Projects completed 1

    - Projects in process   2
    - Projects deemed unsuitable 3

Engineering Services A proposal was approved by the 
BOM on Nov. 25/93 whereby 
common user fees for Engineering 
Services in the Maritime provinces 
will be established effective April 1, 
1994. 

Communications New Brunswick

    - Projects completed   0
    - Projects in process 0                     
    - Projects deemed unsuitable   1

Economic Development and Tourism

    - Projects completed 1           

    - Projects in process       2
    - Projects deemed unsuitable  0

Tourism Toll Free Line Toll free tourism information call 
centre began April, 96. 


